

LUND UNIVERSITY

Common risk factors associated with acute myocardial infarction: Population-based studies with a focus on gender differences

Larsson, Charlotte A

2011

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Larsson, C. A. (2011). Common risk factors associated with acute myocardial infarction: Population-based studies with a focus on gender differences. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Faculty of Medicine]. Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

COMMON RISK FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH ACUTE MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION

Population-based studies with a focus on gender differences

Charlotte Larsson



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

Community Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö

Akademisk Avhandling

som med vederbörligt tillstånd av Medicinska fakulteten vid Lunds Universitet, för avläggande av doktorsexamen i medicinsk vetenskap, kommer att offentligen försvaras i CRC:s Aula, Ingång 72, Skånes Universitetssjukhus i Malmö fredagen den 9 december 2011, kl. 13.00.

> Fakultetsopponent: Professor Mai-Lis Hellénius Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm

Organization	Document name	
LOND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION	
Faculty of Medicine	Date of issue December 9, 2011	
Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö	Sponsoring organization	
Author(s)		
Charlotte A Larsson		
Title and subtitle		
Common risk factors associated with acute myocardial in	nfarction: Population-based studies with	a focus on gender differences
Abstract		
The overall aim of this thesis was to explore how the risk :	for AMI, and the associations betwe	en several of its risk factors.
differs by gender. Information was collected from four Sw	redish cohorts: one patient cohort from (1002, 1004, met 100). Manual (2003)	om Skara (1992-1993,
(2003-2005, $n=1005$). Participants were examined and fill	ed out questionnaires regarding lifes	tyle and health. An
interaction between gender and type 2 diabetes was found type 2 diabetes on AMI is greater in women than in men	with regard to the risk of fatal AMI, Gender differences were also found	showing that the impact of
and in the associations between these risk factors:		in several river fisk factors
• Basal salivary cortisol was generally higher in women than in men (and in older subjects in general as compared to younger).		
• Low morning salivary cortisol and low diurnal variation of cortisol was associated with high waist-hip ratio solely in women.		
• Leisure time physical activity was negatively associated with insulin resistance and obesity in both men and women. However, the association with regard to insulin resistance and leisure time physical activity was stronger in women than in men.		
• Occupational physical activity was positively associated with insulin resistance and general and abdominal obesity in women only.		
• Factor analysis of AMI risk factors yielded three identical clusters in both genders: a "metabolic factor", a "vitality factor", and an "addiction factor". However, these factors partly differed in their association with left ventricular hypertrophy, with significant associations with regard to the metabolic factor in both genders, and to the addiction factor in men.		
These findings show that gender differences with regard to AMI are present both in the risk of developing the disease and in how different risk factors for the disease interrelate. Thus, this thesis highlights the need for considering and addressing potential gender differences at all stages of preventive and interventional work aiming to reduce the burden of AMI.		
Key words: AMI, gender differences, population-based, type 2 diabetes, hypertension, abdominal obesity, insulin resistance, cortisol, physical activity, left ventricular hypertrophy		
Classification system and/or index termes (if any):		
Supplementary bibliographical information:		Language
		English
ISSN and key title:		ISBN
1652-8220 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral	Dissertation Series 2011:103	978-91-86871-53-6
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 178	Price
	Security classification	

Distribution by (name and address)

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

November 7, 2011

COMMON RISK FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH ACUTE MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION

Population-based studies with a focus on gender differences



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

Charlotte Larsson

ISSN 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-86871-53-6 Copyright © Charlotte Larsson Community Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö Faculty of Medicine Lund University 2011

Abstract

The overall aim of this thesis was to explore how the risk for AMI, and the associations between several of its risk factors, differs by gender. Information was collected from four Swedish cohorts: one patient cohort from Skara (1992-1993, n=1149) and three population-based cohorts, i.e. from Skara (1993-1994, n=1109), Vara (2001-2004, n=1811), and Skövde (2003-2005, n=1005). Participants were examined and filled out questionnaires regarding lifestyle and health. An interaction between gender and type 2 diabetes was found with regard to the risk of fatal AMI, showing that the impact of type 2 diabetes on AMI is greater in women than in men. Gender differences were also found in several AMI risk factors and in the associations between these risk factors:

- Basal salivary cortisol was generally higher in women than in men (and in older subjects in general as compared to younger).
- Low morning salivary cortisol and low diurnal variation of cortisol was associated with high waist-hip ratio solely in women.
- Leisure time physical activity was negatively associated with insulin resistance and obesity in both men and women. However, the association with regard to insulin resistance and leisure time physical activity was stronger in women than in men.
- Occupational physical activity was positively associated with insulin resistance and general and abdominal obesity in women only.
- Factor analysis of AMI risk factors yielded three identical clusters in both genders: a "metabolic factor", a "vitality factor", and an "addiction factor". However, these factors partly differed in their association with left ventricular hypertrophy, with significant associations with regard to the metabolic factor in both genders, and to the addiction factor in men.

These findings show that gender differences with regard to AMI are present both in the risk of developing the disease and in how different risk factors for the disease interrelate. Thus, this thesis highlights the need for considering and addressing potential gender differences at all stages of preventive and interventional work aiming to reduce the burden of AMI.

To Jack

Innehållsförteckning

Abstract	3
Innehållsförteckning	6
Abbreviations	10
List of publications	11
Introduction	12
АМІ	12
The gender aspect	13
Risk factors	14
Type 2 diabetes and Insulin resistance	14
Hypertension	16
General and abdominal obesity	18
Dyslipidemia	20
The Metabolic Syndrome	21
Smoking	22
Alcohol consumption	23
Physical activity	23
Psychosocial factors	25
Socioeconomic status	25
Self-rated health	25
Stress	26
The stress system	27

The HPA-axis	27
The autonomic nervous system	28
Potential biological mechanisms	28
Left ventricular hypertrophy	29
Aims	31
General Aim	31
Specific Aims	31
Methods	32
The Skaraborg Project	32
The Skaraborg Hypertension Project	32
The Skaraborg Hypertension and Diabetes Project	32
The Vara-Skövde Cohort	33
Study Populations	34
Paper I	34
Paper II	34
Paper III	34
Paper IV	35
General Methods	35
General procedures	35
Skara (Paper I)	35
Vara-Skövde (Paper II-IV)	35
Medical History	36
Skara and Vara-Skövde (Paper I-IV)	36
Physical Examination	36
Skara (Paper I)	36
Vara-Skövde (Paper II-IV)	37

Laboratory Examinations	37
Skara and Vara-Skövde (Paper I-IV)	37
Questionnaires	37
Skara (Paper I)	37
Vara-Skövde (Paper II-IV)	38
Diagnostic procedures	39
Skara (Paper I)	39
Vara-Skövde (Paper II-IV)	39
Paper I	40
Paper II	40
Paper III	40
Paper IV	40
Statistical analyses	41
Paper I-IV	41
Paper I	41
Paper II	41
Paper III	42
Paper IV	43
Results and discussion	44
Paper I	44
Results	44
Discussion	48
Paper II	50
Results	50
Discussion	53

Paper III	55
Results	55
Discussion	56
Paper IV	60
Results	60
Discussion	63
General discussion	65
Methodological considerations	69
Representativeness and generalizability	69
Validity	70
Endpoints	70
Risk factors	72
Implications for public health strategies	73
Future research	74
Conclusions	76
General conclusion	76
Specific conclusions	76
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	77
Acknowledgements	79
References	81
Appendix	104

Abbreviations

AMI	Acute myocardial infarction
CHD	Coronary heart disease
HOMA-ir	Homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance
HPA-axis	Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis
HDL-cholesterol	High-density lipoprotein cholesterol
IDL-cholesterol	Intermediate-density lipoprotein cholesterol
LDL-cholesterol	Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
VLDL-cholesterol	Very low-density lipoprotein cholesterol

List of publications

This thesis is based on the following publications, which will be referred to by their Roman numerals:

- I. Larsson CA, Gullberg B, Merlo J, Råstam L, Lindblad U. Female advantage in AMI mortality is reversed in patients with type 2 diabetes in the Skaraborg Project. Diabetes Care 2005;28(9):2246-8.
- II Larsson CA, Gullberg B, Råstam L, Lindblad U. Salivary cortisol differs with age and sex and shows inverse associations with WHR in Swedish women: a cross-sectional study. BMC Endocrine Disorders 2009;9:16.
- III Larsson CA, Krøll L, Bennet L, Gullberg B, Råstam L, Lindblad U. Leisure time and occupational physical activity in relation to obesity and insulin resistance: A population-based study from the Skaraborg Project in Sweden. Metabolism – Clinical and Experimental. Accepted for publication
- IV Larsson CA, Daka B, Gullberg B, Råstam L, Lindblad U. Clusters of AMI risk factors and their association with left ventricular hypertrophy: A population-based study within the Skaraborg Project, Sweden. Manuscript

Introduction

Acute myocardial infarction (AMI) originates from an interaction between lifestyle, genetics, and psychosocial factors. In spite of a significant decrease in the incidence of AMI events in the past 20 years it is still the most common cause of death world-wide, including Sweden. Whereas men have a higher over-all risk for AMI than women, primarily due to the earlier manifestation in men, AMI is also the most common cause of death in women. Furthermore, men and women differ in their risk factor profiles related to AMI, and some of the risk factors have a higher impact on AMI risk in women than in men. Thus, more knowledge is needed with regard to gender-specific mechanisms to help improve primary as well as secondary prevention, and ultimately the prognosis for both men and women. The aim of this thesis was to explore gender differences with regard to the risk of AMI and with regard to the association between some of its most acknowledged risk factors.

AMI

The most common cause of death in the world is coronary heart disease (CHD) [1]. In Europe alone, CHD accounts for 1.92 million deaths each year [2]. CHD refers to different conditions of failing circulation of the heart and includes acute myocardial infarction (AMI), which is the one CHD that causes most deaths. AMI is defined by the ischeamia and succeeding necrosis of the heart muscles that follows from a dramatic reduction of the blood flow in the heart. This blood flow reduction is caused by a thrombosis formation that can be initiated from an erosion or from a disruption of an atherosclerotic plaque in the coronary artery [3]. Atherosclerosis relates to the accumulation of lipids and lipoproteins in the endothelium and is characterized by a chronic inflammation [4] that is also involved in the plague rupture and thrombosis [5]. In 2008, 37 156 persons suffered an AMI in Sweden and 10 509 died as a result of AMI [6, 7].

The risk of AMI is strongly age- and sex-dependent. For men and women together, the incidence in Sweden in 2008 was three times as high in subjects aged 70-74, as compared to those aged 50-54 [6]. Furthermore, the age-standardized incidence rate was 689 per 100 000 men and 365 per 100 000 women in those aged 20 years and above [6]. The corresponding mortality rates was 197 per 100 000 men and

103 per 100 000 women [6]. The higher risk of AMI in men is mainly due to the earlier manifestation of the disease in men, which usually takes place about a decade sooner than in women.

Even though AMI is still the most common cause of death in Sweden, both the incidence and mortality of AMI have decreased considerably in Sweden and in the last two decades [6, 8]. This decrease is attributable to both improved medical treatment [9] and to reductions in major risk factors [10].

The gender aspect

Men in general suffer their first AMI event about a decade earlier than women and as a consequence they have a higher total risk of AMI. Since the risk in women starts to rise after they reach menopause, a protective effect from sexual hormones has been postulated as the reason for women's later manifestation of AMI. This theory was strengthened in the 1990's when observational studies showed preventive effects of hormone replacement therapy on CHD risk. However, this was not confirmed in later randomised clinical trials, which on the contrary even showed increased risk of CHD in some cases [11, 12]. Still, there are new data indicating that the risk of CHD may vary according to initiation time of therapy in relation to menopause, with increased risk in women starting hormone replacement therapy distant from menopause and no apparent risk in women starting soon after menopause [13]. Findings with regard to endothelial dysfunction has also generated a theory explaining the increased risk in women with age as a detrimental age-dependant change in the effect of estrogen on nitric oxide synthase [14]. Thus, the most plausible reason for the later manifestation of AMI in women can probably still be attributable to some type of reproductive hormonal effect. Interestingly, increased levels of male reproductive hormones in women, and decreased levels in men, are both associated with increased risk of CHD in both genders respectively [15-17]. Furthermore, a recent review [18] highlights the potential importance of also considering the explanatory value of other risk factors that pertain solely to women, such as history of preeclampsia, and possibly polycystic ovarian syndrome.

Even though men have a higher total risk of AMI, women seem to be disadvantaged in other ways. For example, the decrease of AMI that has taken place in the last two decades seems to be somewhat lower in women than in men [6, 8]. For example, between 2001 and 2008, the age-standardized incidence of AMI in Sweden decreased with 20% in men compared to 15% in women. However, the difference between genders in the decrease of first event of AMI in 2008 was smaller, with an 18% decrease in men and 16% decrease in women.

Other differences between men and women regarding outcome, treatment, clinical presentation, and baseline characteristics have been extensively discussed; however, it is not always easy to distinguish whether women or men are at the greater disadvantage. Nevertheless, further elaboration regarding gender differences in outcome and baseline characteristics can be found below in the descriptions of common risk factors for AMI.

Risk factors

AMI is a multifactorial disease and there are thus several risk factors apart from age and gender. Most of these risk factors are lifestyle related and many vary according to gender.

Type 2 diabetes and Insulin resistance

Diabetes mellitus is a disorder leading to chronic hyperglycaemia. The disorder involves disturbed metabolism of carbohydrates, fat, and protein, and is caused by defects in insulin secretion or insulin action, or both [19]. In type 1 diabetes there is a destruction of the insulin producing beta cells, and frequently this is attributable to an autoimmune process [19]. In type 2 diabetes, the failing insulin secretion is instead usually preceded by a process of increasing loss of insulin sensitivity in several tissues, such as skeletal muscle, adipose tissue, liver, and endothelium [20]. This insulin resistance initially leads to increased insulin secretion to keep glucose homeostasis in balance; however, in many subjects the "cost" of this hyperinsulinemia is ultimately a failing insulin resistance with increasing hyperinsulinemia often goes on for years before overt type 2 diabetes develops. In a smaller proportion of subjects, the development of type 2 diabetes is a result of a primary defect in insulin secretion and thus not associated with insulin resistance [20].

The specific causes for insulin resistance are not firmly established but seem to involve lifestyle and environmental factors such as caloric and sodium intake, physical inactivity, and exposure to stress in interaction with genetic factors that control glucose metabolism, oxygen uptake, and the development of fat and muscle tissue [22]. Consequently, the risk of type 2 diabetes increases with genetic susceptibility [23], obesity (especially visceral), physical inactivity, age, smoking, and alcohol intake less than 10 grams per day [20]. Type 2 diabetes is also more frequently occurring in individuals with dyslipidemia and hypertension [24], and in women with a history of gestational diabetes [19]. Furthermore, suboptimal pre-

natal growth has been associated with various biological abnormalities in adult life, including insulin resistance [25] and type 2 diabetes [26].

According to the WHO guidelines from 1998 [19], diabetes mellitus is ascertained by the criteria shown in Table 1. For epidemiological and population screening purposes, a single measure of the fasting plasma value or the 2-h plasma glucose value after a standard 75 g glucose load in a glucose tolerance test may be used alone. For clinical purposes, however, the diagnosis of diabetes should always be confirmed by a repeated test on another day unless there is unequivocal hyperglycaemia with acute metabolic decompensation or obvious symptoms [19].

	Glucose Concentration (mmol/l)		
	Whole blood		Plasma
	Venous	Capillary	Venous
Diabetes mellitus			
Fasting	≥6.1	≥6.1	≥ 7.0
and/or			
2 h post glucose load	≥10.0	≥11.1	≥11.1
Impaired glucose tolerance			
(IGT)			
Fasting	<6.1	<6.1	<7.0
and			
2 h post glucose load	≥ 6.7 and < 10.0	\geq 7.8 and <11.1	\geq 7.8 and <11.1
Impaired fasting glycaemia			
(IFG)			
Fasting	\geq 5.6 and <6.1	\geq 5.6 and <6.1	≥ 6.1 and < 7.0
2-h (if measured)	<6.7	<7.8	<7.8

Table 1. Diagnostic criteria for diabetes mellitus and other categories of hyperglycaemia as recommended by WHO in 1998 [19].

Table 1 also shows the diagnostic criteria for impaired glucose tolerance and impaired fasting glycaemia. Impaired glucose tolerance is defined as a stage of impaired glucose regulation intermediate between normal glucose homeostasis and diabetes. Impaired fasting glycaemia is a related condition with fasting blood glucose levels above normal but below the levels that define diabetes [19]. Both these conditions are recognised as risk factors for definite type 2 diabetes in similarity to insulin resistance, which precedes impaired glucose tolerance and type 2 diabetes [19].

Both insulin resistance in itself (i.e. without fully developed diabetes) and type 2 diabetes are associated with an increased risk of CHD. The risk of CHD in subjects with diabetes is about doubled when looking at men and women together [27]. This seems to be an effect of several interacting metabolic changes in the pre-diabetic state, such as development of atherogenic dyslipidemia, impaired endothelial function, increased levels of free fatty acids, subclinical inflammation, changes in adipokines, and changes in thrombosis and fibrinolysis [28].

In women with diabetes the relative risk of CHD is larger than in corresponding men and the advantage generally seen in women seems to be more or less absent [27, 29]. The underlying reason for this phenomenon has been under debate, and frequently this has been suggested to be a result of lack of adjustments for differences in other classic CHD risk factors [29, 30], even though this argument does not seem to explain all of the difference [27]. In addition to this explanation, three other possible reasons for the high CHD risk in women with type 2 diabetes have been postulated [31]:

- "A major impact of some cardiovascular risk factors and/or diabetes per se on cardiovascular disease in women with diabetes."
- "Differences in the structure and function of heart and vessels."
- "Disparities in medical treatment as well as gender differences in treatment response."

Interestingly, a Danish study has shown that hormone replacement therapy is associated with increased risk of CHD in women with diabetes, while neither an increased risk nor a decreased risk was seen in non-diabetic women [32]. Still, hormone replacement therapy does not seem to explain all of the risk increase in CHD in women with diabetes [33].

In Sweden, around 300 000 people have type 2 diabetes and it is somewhat more common in men than in women [34]. Whereas the prevalence has been increasing in the last decades as an effect of increasing survival rates, the incidence seems to be fairly stable despite increasing levels of obesity in the population. However, since type 2 diabetes takes many years to develop, it is highly possible that an increase in its incidence is yet to come [34].

Hypertension

According to WHO's international guidelines [35], hypertension is defined as a systolic blood pressure of 140 mmHg or greater and/or a diastolic blood pressure of 90 mmHg or greater in subjects who are not taking antihypertensive medication.

In Table 2 below, blood pressure categories in adults over the age of 18, as suggested by WHO, are described [35].

Category	Systolic	Diastolic
Optimal	< 120	< 80
Normal	< 130	< 85
High-Normal	130-139	85-89
Grade 1 hypertension (mild)	140-159	90-99
Subgroup: borderline	140-149	90-94
Grade 2 hypertension (moderate)	160-179	90-109
Grade 3 hypertension (severe)	≥ 180	≥ 110
Isolated systolic hypertension	≥ 140	< 90
Subgroup: borderline	140-149	< 90

Table 2. Definitions and classifications of blood pressure levels (mmHg)

When a patient's systolic and diastolic blood pressure fall into different categories, the higher category should apply.

In some subjects with hypertension, the increased blood pressure can be traced to an underlying disease that affects the regulatory mechanisms of the blood pressure (often renal or renovascular) [36]. This type of hypertension is referred to as secondary hypertension, and is generally rare. Instead, the vast majority of hypertensive subjects suffer from essential or primary hypertension [36]. Whereas the specific mechanisms are yet to be revealed, the origin of elevated blood pressure and hypertension are associated with vasomotor tone and sodium and fluid balance, as they are the main regulators of blood pressure [37]. These are in turn affected by genetic factors and various lifestyle factors, such as obesity, physical inactivity, and poor diet, including high intake of alcohol and salt [36]. Blood pressure is also known to vary by age, sex, and ethnicity [36]. Many of the lifestyle factors have a negative influences in themselves on the level of blood pressure, but many of them also act as risk factors because of their potentially weight-increasing effect. Excess body weight contributes to blood pressure levels from infancy and is the most important factor causing a predisposition to hypertension. In addition, overweight and obesity increase the risk of insulin resistance [38], another risk factor for hypertension [39]. Furthermore, the importance of psychological factors and chronic stress in the development of hypertension is becoming increasingly acknowledged [40]. This is not only because of an association with the adoption of less healthier lifestyle habits associated with hypertension, but also because of other more direct effects on long-term blood pressure levels, involving both the sympathetic nervous system and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal-axis (HPA-axis) [40].

According to large observational studies, high blood pressure is related to CHD in both men and women, and the risk rises progressively with increasing blood pressure [41-44]. This risk-increase with increasing blood pressure does not only refer to subjects with hypertension but also to normotensive subjects [41-43, 45]. In the INTERHEART study [44], history of hypertension was associated with an almost doubled risk of AMI. Interestingly the association was stronger in women. Whereas tendencies towards similar gender differences have been seen before with regard to the risk of CHD [46] and cardiovascular disease [45], the confidence intervals overlapped in these studies. Furthermore, in Selmer et al's study [46], as well as in the INTERHEART study [44], confounding might apply. However, in a recent Swedish study women were found to have a more gradual risk increase of cardiovascular mortality with regard to increasing blood pressure, in contrast to men where only very high levels showed a significant risk increase [47].

The effect of blood pressure on the risk of CHD is mostly an effect of different mechanisms leading to vascular remodelling [37]. Furthermore, the same regular dysfunction that causes high blood pressure might also in itself have other negative effects on the cardiovascular system, i.e. irrespective of high blood pressure [36]. Nor-adrenaline and adrenalin, for example, do not only increase arterial resistance, but may also in a direct way have detrimental effects on the heart muscle cells [36]. The risk of myocardial injury from a relative decrease in oxygen supply might also be a consequence of blood pressure damage to the heart that reduces the ability to respond to increased demands [36].

In a SBU-rapport from 2004, the prevalence of hypertension in Sweden was estimated at approximately 27% for both men and women aged \geq 20 years [48]. In a population-based study from the Skaraborg project from 2001-2005, where repeated measures of blood pressure were used, the age-standardized prevalence of hypertension was 20% in both genders between 30 and 75 years of age [49]. The mean blood pressure in the same cohort was 124/72 in men and 119/69 in women.

General and abdominal obesity

The association between obesity and CHD is well established [50] and considering the epidemic proportions of obesity in the western society today the negative implications for public health are evident. Overweight and obesity are often estimated by body mass index, which is calculated as the body weight in kilograms divided by the square of the height in meters (kg/m^2) . An adult person is considered overweight if the body mass index is between 25.0 and 29.9 kg/m², and obese if the body mass index is $\geq 30.0 \text{ kg/m}^2$ [51]. Obesity not only increases the risk for CHD but also the risk for other CHD risk factors such as type 2 diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia, endothelial dysfunction, systemic inflammation, prothrombotic state, abnormal left ventricular geometry, and insulin resistance and the metabolic syndrome [52].

The importance of abdominal obesity as a risk factor for CHD has also been increasingly acknowledged and is now more or less considered the driving force behind the detrimental effects of obesity. Different measures have been used to estimate the amount adiposity, for example waist circumference and waist-hip ratio, and there is increasing evidence that these measures to a greater extent than body mass index predict CHD/AMI. A report from the INTERHEART study [53] indeed concluded that waist-hip ratio is a better predictor of AMI than body mass index and that waist circumference is intermediate between those two measures. Similar findings to those from INTERHEART have also been seen in prospective studies [54, 55]. While no apparent gender differences were seen in INTERHEART [53] or in the meta-analysis by de Koning et al [55], other studies suggest that the strength of the association between abdominal obesity and CHD might be stronger in women than in men [54].

The greater CHD risk for abdominal obesity as compared to general obesity is proposed to be a result of intra-abdominal fat accumulation. This type of fat has been shown to be more metabolically active with more lipolytic activity [56] and higher sensitivity to glucocorticoids [57]. Adipose tissue also acts as an endocrine organ as it produces different adipokines, which contribute to the association seen with insulin resistance, proinflammation, hypertension, and thrombotic state [Depres 2008]. Furthermore, in contrast to subcutaneous fat that is drained by the systemic circulation, the intra-abdominal fat is cleared by the portal circulation and thereby exposes the liver to high concentrations of free fatty acids. This in turn has been associated with various metabolic disturbances such as hyperinsulinemia, glucose intolerance, and hypertriglyceridemia [58].

According to self-report information gathered by The Swedish National Institute of Public Health [59], the prevalence of obesity in Sweden in 2010 was generally equal between men and women (13%), while overweight was more common in men (41%) than in women (29%). In a population-based study from Vara within the Skaraborg Project [60], the prevalences of obesity and overweight as measured by the study nurses in 2001-2005 were 20% and 52% in men, and 25% and 34% in women. When looking at the trend over the last three decades, both overweight and obesity has increased [34). However, over the past years the prevalence of

overweight has been fairly similar, while the prevalence of obesity has kept increasing in both men and women [34, 59].

Dyslipidemia

Dyslipidemia refers to several different abnormalities of the lipid levels in the blood. Lipids are considered to play a key role in the development of atherosclerosis and ultimately CHD because of its ability to build up on artery walls and form atherosclerotic plaque. As lipids are not soluble in blood, they are carried by certain proteins (apolipoproteins) for transport in the blood stream, and such packages of proteins and lipids are called lipoproteins [61]. The lipids that long have been considered the most relevant in the area of coronary heart disease are low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-cholesterol), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-cholesterol), and triglycerides. There are, however, other lipids that are considered atherogenic too, like very low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (VLDL-cholesterol) and intermediate lipoprotein cholesterol (IDL-cholesterol). Whereas high levels of LDL-cholesterol, VLDL-cholesterol, IDL-cholesterol, and triglycerides are considered harmful, high levels of HDL in the blood are beneficial, mainly due to the ability of HDL to transport cholesterol out of the artery walls and back to the liver (reversed cholesterol transport) [61, 62]. However, other potential beneficial mechanisms also exist with regard to HDL, such as inhibiting effects on of thrombosis, oxidation and inflammation [61]. Different ratios between the aforementioned lipoproteins are often used to estimate the balance between the atherogenic and the antiatherogenic lipoproteins. However, in the last decades increasing interest has been directed towards measuring apolipoproteins instead of lipoproteins. Two examples are apolipoprotein A1 and apolipoprotein B. Apolipoprotein A1 is the principle apolipoprotein in HDL, whereas apolipoprotein B is present in several different lipoproteins, such as LDL, VLDL, and IDL. Measuring apolipoprotein B will thus give information about all the atherogenic lipoproteins in contrast to a measure of just LDL-cholesterol for example. Consequently, the ratio between apolipoprotein B and apolipoprotein A1 (apolipoprotein B/apolipoprotein A1 ratio) is becoming increasingly used to estimate lipid balance instead of the traditional ratios [63, 44].

High levels of LDL-cholesterol have been associated with increased risk of CHD in both men and women in several studies [62, 64]. Increased risk of CHD in both men and women has also been seen with regard to low levels of HDL-cholesterol; however, the risk increase appears to be higher in women than in men [65, 62]. Whereas the ratio between LDL and HDL cholesterol is associated with increased CHD risk, the apolipoprotein B/apolipoprotein A1 ratio has been found to be an even better predictor than LDL/HDL ratio and other of the conventional ratios

between different lipoproteins [63]. Regarding triglycerides, numerous studies have linked also this type of lipid to an increased risk of CHD [66-68]. Although doubts have been raised concerning whether this association is independent of other risk factors [61, 69], triglycerides seem to be an independent risk factor for CHD under certain circumstances [61, 70], such as in populations without preexisting CHD [70] and perhaps especially in women [61, 66, 68, 71]. Furthermore, there is evidence of an inverse association between triglycerides and HDL-cholesterol [70], as often seen in subjects with the metabolic syndrome (see below).

The Metabolic Syndrome

The metabolic syndrome refers to a diagnostic entity of a set of cardiovascular risk factors that are known to cluster in the same individuals more often than can be explained by chance [72]. It was first identified around the 1980's and it has also been referred to as the "insulin resistance syndrome" [73] and "the Syndrome X" [74]. Different criteria for identifying subjects with the syndrome have been developed throughout the years [19, 73, 75], and even though the specific criteria are still not universally agreed upon, the risk factors usually considered to be key components are obesity/abdominal obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and insulin resistance (with or without glucose intolerance or diabetes. In addition, the NCEP [75] also considers proinflamatory (clinically measured by C-reactive protein) and prothrombotic state (clinically measured by plasma plasminogen activator-1 and fibringen) to be part of the syndrome. When clusters of these risk factors have been evaluated for principal components, abdominal [Lempiäinen P, 1999]/general obesity [76, 77] and insulin resistance [76, 77] have emerged as major factors and are often believed to be the underlying driving force of the syndrome.

Despite the fact that the specific causal chain behind the development of the metabolic syndrome has yet to be defined, there are some general features that are usually considered vital. This involves the release of excess free fatty acids, angiotensin II, and adipokines from abdominal adipose tissue. Excess free fatty acids have an inhibiting effect on glucose uptake by muscles, and thus contribute to insulin resistance [78]. Since the adipose tissue is drained by the portal vein, the free fatty acids also act more directly on the hepatic metabolism, thus increasing the secretion of glucose, prothrombotic proteins, and triglycerides [72]. The higher levels of triglycerides in turn make lipoptotein carry less HDL-cholesterol in favour of triglycerides [78]. Furthermore, increased inulin levels in response to insulin resistance, together with the high levels of free fatty acids and angiotensin II, have damaging effect on the beta-cells in the pancreas, whereas angiotensin II

also has blood pressure increasing effects. Different cytokines induce inflammation, which may diminish the efficacy of insulin and also increase blood pressure.

The metabolic syndrome has been associated with an increased risk of CHD and cardiovascular disease in several studies [79, 80]. The risk seems to be higher in women than in men [80, 81], which is in accordance with the greater impact on CHD and cardiovascular disease in women that has been seen or indicated with regard to several of the individual components, such as type 2 diabetes [27, 29], abdominal obesity [54], hypertension [44-46], and dyslipidemia [61, 62, 65, 66, 68, 71]. However, it has lately been questioned whether the syndrome really imposes a greater risk increase than the individual components do, and therefore the utility of the term has been challenged [82, 83].

The prevalence of the metabolic syndrome has been found to be approximately 20% in subjects aged 48-68 years from Malmö [84], in 60-year-old subjects from Stockholm [85], and in a study of 70-year-olds in Gothenburg [86]. Men seem to be affected to a somewhat higher extent than women [85, 86], which is in agreement with findings from other parts of Europe [87].

Smoking

The risk-increasing effect of tobacco smoking on CHD is well established [88-91]. and there is a clear dose-response relationship with CHD [91]. The INTERHEART study [44] identified smoking as the second most important risk factor for AMI world-wide (OR: 2.87, adjusted for all other included risk factors) and this was consistent with regards to sex, ethnicity, and geographical region. The detrimental effects of smoking on the cardiovascular system seem to act through promotion of vasomotor dysfunction, atherogenesis (e.g. inflammation and dyslipidemia), and thrombosis in multiple vascular beds [92]. Whereas the specific mechanisms behind these effects are yet to be fully understood, free radicalmediated oxidative stress seems to be a central feature [92]. The negative effects of smoking on the cardiovascular system are known to be more severe in women than in men. A recent meta-analysis and review [93] estimated than women had a 25% higher risk of CHD than men after adjustment for other classic cardiovascular risk factors. The reasons for this gender difference are not clear, but one hypothesis is that a greater amount of toxic agents are extracted in women than in men from the same quantity of cigarettes smoked [93].

In 2010, the over-all prevalence of every-day-smoking in Sweden was 14.7% in women and 12.5% in men according to the ULF-study [94], and 13% and 12%, respectively, according to data from the Swedish National Institute of Health [59].

These differences were not statistically significant; however, in women (24.2%) and men (13.8%) aged 45-54 years in the ULF-study [94] the gender-difference was significant. Furthermore, there is a clear socio-economic gradient in both genders, with more daily smokers in workers, in those with lower educational level, and in those with low income [59].

Alcohol Consumption

A moderate intake of alcohol has been increasingly recognized as a protective factor for CHD; however, the exact nature of the association has been under some debate. A recent review and meta-analysis [95] concluded that the association for both CHD incidence and CHD mortality is L-shaped, in that a moderate intake (≤ 1 drink/day or 2.5-14.9 g alcohol) was equally protective (25-35% risk reduction) as a high intake when compared to non-drinkers. Interestingly, this effect was at least as strong in women as in men. It is important to note that while moderate drinking is also protective of stroke and all-cause mortality, heavier drinking (>60 g alcohol/day) increases the risk of these conditions [95].

The potential causal link between the protective effect of alcohol use and CHD seems to be mediated by several mechanisms. Another recent review and metaanalysis on interventional studies of the effects of alcohol intake on biological markers for CHD in healthy adults [96] revealed higher levels of HDL-cholesterol (and apolipoprotein A1) and adiponectin, and lower levels of fibrinogen in subjects with a moderate alcohol intake.

According to the data from the Swedish National Institute of Health in 2010 [59], the prevalence of "risky drinking" (based on how often a person drinks alcohol, how much a person drinks on a typical drinking occasion, and how often a person drinks a greater quantity) among Swedish adults were significantly higher in men (16%) than in women in 2010 (10%). Furthermore it was more common among women (17%) to be abstainers compared to men (12%). However, according to data from the Swedish Monitor project, the prevalence of abstainers in 2008 was as high as 26.9% in women and 17.5% in men [97]. Nevertheless, these data are based on random telephone interviews with a high refusal rate. According to the data from the Swedish National Institute of Health, the consumption of alcohol also differed by level of age, education, and region [59].

Physical inactivity

Physical inactivity is a significant risk factor for CHD and AMI and it has been widely studied since the 1950's. Physical inactivity can be defined as "a level of

activity less than needed to maintain good health" [98]. There are different ways of assessing physical inactivity and different terms are thus used in association with this concept, e.g. physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness. Physical activity can be defined as; "bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that requires energy expenditure"; exercise as "a type of physical activity defined as planned, structured, and repetitive bodily movement done to improve or maintain one or more components of physical fitness"; and physical fitness as "a set of attributes that people have or achieve that relates to the ability to perform physical activity" [98]. Further distinctions of physical inactivity that are often made are that between leisure time physical activity and occupational (work) physical activity.

Physical activity has several beneficial effects on the cardiovascular system and the most important ones are associated with increased myocardial oxygen supply and decreased myocardial work and oxygen demand [36]. Consequently, physical inactivity can be assumed to increase the risk of opposite (i.e. negative) effects on the heart. Furthermore, physical inactivity also has indirect effects on CHD risk by affecting other risk factors for the disease, like obesity [99, 100], hypertension [101], fibrinolytic activity [102], markers of inflammation [103], dyslipidemia [64, 104], and insulin resistance/type 2 diabetes [99, 100, 105]. In addition, physically active subjects seem to be less likely to smoke [106, 107] and eat unhealthily [107, 108]; however, whether these associations are causal or not are under debate.

Several studies have found physical activity to decrease the risk of AMI/CHD [109-112]. INTERHEART, the large case-control study from 2004 [44], reported a significantly reduced risk of AMI in association with regular physical activity and 12.2% of the events of AMI in the populations studied were attributable to physical inactivity. The risk decrease from physical activity could be seen for both men and women; however, the decrease seemed stronger in women than in men. A tendency towards a more protective effect of physical activity on the risk of CHD and cardiovascular disease in women than in men was also seen in the review by Shiroma et al [109]. Whether these differences represent a real difference, or are an effect of methodological shortcomings, or lower physical activity in the female reference group than in the male reference group are, however, not clear.

Some studies have also seen protective effects on AMI/CHD when specifically investigating occupational physical activity [110, 111, 113, 114]. However, others have found no such association [115] or even tendencies towards the opposite (i.e. positive associations between occupational physical activity and AMI/CHD) [116-118]. Similar discrepancies in results have also been seen in studies on the association between occupational physical activity and different coronary risk

factors (e.g. obesity and insulin resistance) [99, 100, 119-122] and some of these results also differ according to gender [100, 123, 124].

According to the annual report from The Swedish National Institute of Public Health [59], the proportion of adult individuals with sedentary leisure time was similar for men (15%) and women (13%) in 2010. Similarly, there was no gender-difference seen when looking at the proportions of men (66%) and women (65%) that were engaged in at least 30 min of physical activity each day. Generally, no major changes have been observed in these patterns since 2004.

Psychosocial factors

In the past decades there has been an increasing interest in the importance of psychosocial factors in association with CHD and AMI. There are several factors of interest, such as socioeconomic status and different aspects of stress. Self-rated health is another factor often used as an over-all measure of people's perception of their general health, including psychological well-being.

Socioeconomic status

Income, occupational grade, and level of education are factors often used to define socioeconomic status [125]. These factors have been inversely associated with CHD mortality in both men and women in several studies [125]. For example, a large longitudinal study from 10 western European populations have found a significantly increased mortality risk from ischaemic heart disease in both men and women with low educational levels compared to those with higher levels [126]. Low socioeconomic status is associated with several modifiable and behavioural risk factors for CHD, and it is still under debate whether this explains all of the association between socioeconomic status and CHD or if there is some additional CHD-increasing risk from low socioeconomic status [127].

According to Statistics Sweden [128], the prevalence in 2010 of having solely primary school education was 22% in both men and women \geq 25 years of age. Furthermore, the prevalence of having some form of higher education was 35% in women and 31% in men in the same age group. The gender-difference was most apparent in those between 25 and 34 years of age, where the prevalence of a higher education was 52% in women and 38% in men.

Self-rated health

Self-rated health (SRH), or self-assessed health, is often measured by the single question "In general, how would you rate your health?" with the five response options of "excellent, very good, good, fair, or poor". This, and similar questions,

were significantly associated with all-cause mortality in a meta-analysis of 22 cohort studies [129], and the association was similar for men and women. Furthermore, a large study from the U.S. [130] found self-rated health to be significantly associated with all-cause mortality as well as with death from circulatory disease (cardiovascular disease or diabetes) even after adjustments for age, gender, race, marital status, household size, region of residence, major activity limitations, bed days, restricted activity (in the past 14 days), and BMI. Interestingly, this study also found the association to be stronger in subjects with higher socioeconomic status compared to those with lower status. This has been seen previously [131] but is not in accordance with a Swedish study where the effect of self-rated health on survival was not dependent on education and income [132]. As discussed in the meta-analysis by DeSalvo et al [129], the specific mechanisms behind the capacity of self-rated health to predict mortality are unknown; however, several potential links has been proposed. For example, selfrated health might serve as a proxy for known covariates that predict health and resource needs [129]. Self-rated health might also reflect an individual's own perception about current health status as well as past current or future health risks [133] that might ultimately affect an individual's health clinically. Either way, given the fact that associations between self-rated health and mortality are persistent even after extensive multivariate adjustments, self-rated health clearly captures some aspect of health that is difficult to objectively measure [129].

Self-rated health has also been associated with different aspects of stress in both men and women, such as work stress [134], perceived level of stress [135], and long-lasting difficulties [136]. According to the yearly information gathered by the Swedish National Institute of Public Health [59], poor self-rated health is significantly more common in women (7%) than in men (5%). Women (70%) also report good self-rated health to a significantly lower degree than men (74%). According to these data, poor self-rated health differs significantly in both men and women according to age, education, income, employment rate, and country of birth. Poor self-rated health is thus being reported to a higher degree in subjects >44 years of age compared to 16-29 year-olds, in those with lower educational levels compared to higher levels, in those working, and in those born outside of Europe compared to Swedish-born.

Stress

Strictly speaking stress refers to any physical, mental, or emotional adjustments after the homeostatic balance of the body has been altered. A stress response can thus be described as the bodily responses to maintain homeostasis [137], and a "stressor" can consequently be described as any factor that can lead to such bodily

stress responses. However, it should be noted that the word "stress" is often a bit carelessly used in reference to both stress response and stressors.

There have been numerous studies on the association between CHD/AMI and different aspects of stress. In INTERHEART [138], permanent stress defined as "feeling irritable, filled with anxiety, or as having sleeping difficulties as a result of conditions at work or at home" was significantly associated with AMI, as were financial stress, stressful life events, and depression, albeit, more modestly than with permanent stress. Other studies have also found CHD/AMI to be associated with anxiety, depression, low social support, different aspects of stress at work and in family life, as well as with different personality traits such as hostility and anger [139, 125]. However, whether all of these factors are independently associated with CHD/AMI remains to be ascertained.

The stress system

The stress responses in the body are subordinated under "the stress system", which can be defined as "an elaborate neuroendocrine, cellular, and molecular infrastructure" [140]. This system is located in the central nervous system as well as in the periphery [140] and its crucial functions are mediated by the HPA-axis and the autonomic nervous system [140]. It is thus through activation of these two "sub-systems" that the different stressors affect CHD risk.

The HPA-axis

Activation of the HPA-axis starts a release of corticoid releasing hormone and arginine vasopressin at the hypothalamic-pituitary unit. These hormones act as regulators of the adrenocorticotrophic hormone, which is released from the anterior pituitary gland. The secretion of adrenocorticotrophic hormone in turn results in release of cortisol from the adrenal gland [141]. The duration of the activation of the HPA-axis depends both on aspects of the stressor and on the ability of an individual to cope with the specific stressor [142]. The termination of the activated HPA-axis is mediated by negative feedback from cortisol at the hypothalamic level, at the pituitary level, and at the level of higher brain centres [143].

The "end-product" of the HPA-axis is thus cortisol. Cortisol is normally secreted in a specific diurnal pattern with a normal curve presenting a sharp peak in the early morning before awakening, to then gradually decreasing over the day and ending up very low in the evening and at night. Except for the increased secretion in stressful situations, there are also smaller peaks during the day when the body is exposed to exercise, food, and tobacco [144]. In the acute phase, cortisol has potential effects on the whole body metabolism since the body aims to utilize all energy resources to be able to meet the increased demands that a stressor enforces [140]. For example, proteolysis and insulin resistance in the muscles are promoted and lipolysis in fat depots [145]. Cortisol also has blood pressure increasing effects and suppresses inflammation [146]. This "catabolic shift" of the metabolism is usually reversed when the stressor is removed, however, chronic stress with prolonged activation of the HPA-axis and sustained cortisol secretion is expected to decrease muscle and bone mass and increase visceral obesity and insulin resistance [140].

The autonomic nervous system

The other main sub-system that controls the body's stress responses, the autonomic nervous system, works via the sympathetic or the parasympathetic system. Often the sympathetic and the parasympathetic system are involved simultaneously, with an increased parasympathetic activity working antagonizing on the sympathetic functions. The parasympathetic system can also by withdrawing, enhance the functions of the sympathetic system [147]. The autonomic nervous system, with the sympathetic and the parasympathetic system, affects many functions in the body, such as cardiovascular, respiratory, gastrointestinal, renal, and endocrine functions [140]. Activation of the autonomic nervous system in response to stress thus plays an important part in understanding the link between different aspects of stress and CHD/AMI. For example, acute increases of sympathetic activity in combination with chronic stress and metabolic risk may increase vasoconstriction, hypertension, and hypercoagulation and thereby increase the risk for cardiovascular events [140].

Potential biological mechanisms

While the acute stress responses are vital to maintain homeostasis in the body, a situation of prolonged stress activation is associated with numerous detrimental effects in the body. Considering the diverse biological and psychological effects of a stress reaction in the body, whether initiated by the HPA-axis or the autonomic nervous system, there are several potential causal links between different stressors and CHD, such as hypertension, insulin resistance, abdominal and general obesity, lipids, decreased heart rate variability, endothelial and vascular functions, and inflammatory and coagulatory processes [139, 125]. Thus, these factors are all potential effects of different stressors and they have also been associated with CHD and AMI. In addition, perceived stress has been linked to unhealthy behaviours (such as physical inactivity, smoking and unhealthy diet) [125, 139] and decreased adherence to behavioural change and cardiac medications [125], which indirectly increases the detrimental effects of stress. Recent epidemiological

studies have presented significantly increased risk of all-cause mortality, especially from cardiovascular causes, in association with elevated 24-h urinary cortisol [148] and flatter diurnal cortisol slope [149]. Furthermore, heightened cortisol reactivity in repsonse to mental stress has been associated with coronary artery calcification in healthy older men and women [150]. Thus, an inadequate activation of the HPA-axis seems to have negative effects on especially the cardiovascular system and these findings further add to the evidence of a causal link between different stressors and CHD.

Women are known to suffer from more stress-related conditions, such as anxiety disorders and mood disorders, than men [151]. However, women in the follicular phase or on oral contraceptives generally seem to have a lower HPA-axis and autonomic response to psychological and psychosocial stress than do men [152, 153]. In data collected by the Swedish National Institute of Public Health [59], the prevalence of subjects reporting to be very stressed was 5% among women and 3% among men in 2010. Women in the same study also reported reduced mental well-being (women: 21%; men: 14%), severe anxiety (women: 6%; men: 4%), and severe fatigue (women: 9%; men: 5%) to a higher degree than men.

Left ventricular hypertrophy

Left ventricular hypertrophy refers to the increase of left ventricular mass that takes place as an adaptive response to a long-term exposure of increased workload on the heart [154]. At the cellular levels, this increased haemodynamic stress on the ventricular wall leads to a compensatory expansion of cardiomyocytes with little or no increase in the number of cells [154]. In pathological types of hypertrophy this expansion also includes the development of fibrosis [155] and a compromised cardiac function [156], while this is not seen in eccentric types of hypertrophy, such as hypertrophy in response to growth and intensive physical activity (athlete's heart) [154].

Myocardial strain is increased with increasing blood pressure, and hypertension is consequently often considered the single most important risk factor for increase in left ventricular mass and for left ventricular hypertrophy. However, other factors are also of importance, such as age and obesity [157] (especially abdominal obesity in women) [158]. Obesity actually seems to explain part of the association between left ventricular mass/left ventricular hypertrophy and other risk factors, such as blood glucose [157, 158, 159] and cholesterol [157, 158], and even blood pressure to some extent [157]. In studies where gender-stratified analyses were performed, blood pressure and general or abdominal obesity have been found independently associated with left ventricular mass and left ventricular

hypertrophy in both men and women [160, 161], while blood glucose was solely an independent risk factor in men [160, 161].

Lifestyle factors such as smoking [162-166] and alcohol intake [167] have also been associated with left ventricular mass or left ventricular hypertrophy. However, null-findings also exist [168, 169] and there are indications that the risk with regard to alcohol intake is only present in men [170]. While intensive physical activity is known to lead to a benign increase of left ventricular mass [171-175], moderate physical activity seems to be associated with a decreased mass [176], especially in hypertensive subjects [177-182].

Left ventricular hypertrophy is a strong risk factor for cardiovascular disease in both men and women [183, 184] and has even been found to be a stronger risk factor than other classic cardiovascular risk factors, apart from age [184]. In a Framingham off-spring study in adult subjects [184], the prevalence of left ventricular hypertrophy was 15.5% in men and 21.0% in women when assessed by echocardiography.

Aims

General Aim

The aim of this thesis was to examine gender differences in the risk for AMI and to explore potential gender-related aspects of the associations between various risk factors related to the development of AMI.

Specific Aims

- To explore any potential interactions between gender, type 2 diabetes, and hypertension, with regard to the risk of fatal AMI in patients treated within primary care.
- To study the diurnal salivary cortisol pattern under basal conditions, stratified by age and gender, and to explore the relationship between cortisol levels and abdominal obesity in a large, randomly selected population of Swedish adults.
- To study occupational and leisure time physical activity in association with obesity and insulin resistance in in a large, randomly selected population of Swedish adults.
- To investigate how a number of widely acknowledged risk factors for AMI cluster in a large, randomly selected population of Swedish adults, and to study whether any of these clusters are related to LVH, used as a subclinical measure of CHD.

Methods

The Skaraborg Project

The Skaraborg Hypertension Project

The Skaraborg Hypertension Project was launched in 1977 in the county of Skaraborg to improve blood pressure control in the population, and to reduce the risk of AMI and acute stroke. The project entailed guidelines for detection, work-up, treatment, and follow-up of men and women with hypertension. In all primary health care settings in the program area, special out-patient clinics for hypertension were established.

Skara was one of the small towns included in the project. About half of the population lives in the countryside and the other half in an urban area and a high percentage are Swedish-born. At the end of 2003, Skara had 18 736 residents, of which 9 182 were men and 9 554 were women. Forty-eight percent of the population was 40 years or older.

At the Health Care Centre in Skara, a similar program as described above was organized for diabetic patients in the mid 1970's. In 1986 the care organized for patients with hypertension and diabetes, respectively, were joined together. All the patients with diabetes or hypertension were seen for annual standardized controls, comprising medical history, risk factor control, a standard set of laboratory tests and re-evaluations of medical treatment. This Health Care Centre was the only primary health care service available in the area at the time.

Skaraborg Hypertension and Diabetes Project

Between June 1992 and September 1993 all 1149 patients with hypertension and/or diabetes who completed an annual check-up at the hypertension and diabetes outpatient clinic were consecutively surveyed. Specially educated and trained nurses conducted the study visit following the base-line procedure in the Skaraborg Hypertension Project. Medical history was registered in accordance with predefined criteria, and all current medication for hypertension and diabetes was recorded. Physical examinations were also performed (see more details below.) Standard laboratory tests were analyzed at the local hospital (Kärnsjukhuset, Skövde) and four extra samples of blood were drawn and stored at -80° C for later analyses. A previously tested questionnaire inquiring about smoking habits, leisure time, physical activity, and alcohol consumption was also completed.

In 1993-1994 a population study was conducted as an age-stratified random sample drawn from the population census register. Subjects aged 40 or over were invited to the Health Care Centre for a health control. Among those aged 80 or more, 100 male and 100 female subjects were randomly selected and invited, as were 150 male and 150 female subjects from each ten-year age category between 40 and 79 years. Of these subjects, 1109 (80%) completed the study visit. The same protocol was used as for the extended annual check-up in the patient survey 1992-1993, and the same trained nurses at the hypertension and diabetes outpatient clinic performed the survey.

The Vara-Skövde Cohort

Between 2001 and 2005 two new and phenotypically better characterized population-based cohorts were established in the municipalities of Vara and Skövde. Vara is a small municipality with approximately 16 000 inhabitants. Ninety-five per cent of the residents are Swedish born and many are farmers. Skövde is the largest town in Skaraborg with approximately 50 000 residents, of which 90 per cent are Swedish born. Skövde is more urbanized than Vara and has a more developed infrastructure, with a hospital and a University.

From the population census register, computer-generated random samples, stratified by gender and five-year age groups, were generated from the total number of all individuals between 30 and 74 years residing in each municipality. There were no exclusion criteria and subjects between 30 and 50 years of age were intentionally over-sampled (three-fold), as compared to subjects over 50 years. There were 1811 subjects who fulfilled all requirements for participation from the Vara population (81% participation rate) and 1005 subjects from the Skövde population (70% participation rate). Those requirements included visiting the study nurse, completing the questionnaires, and having venous blood samples drawn. Compared to the Skara studies, several measurements were added to the protocol. In all participants without known history of diabetes, an oral glucose tolerance test was carried out measuring plasma levels of both insulin and glucose. Morning and evening saliva cortisol were also measured. Furthermore, in 1063 subjects from the Vara sub-cohort an echocardiography was performed (91% participation-rate) [185]. A more detailed questionnaire was added to the protocol
including questions about civil- and socioeconomic status, lifestyle behaviours, and psychosocial health. The field team who collected the data for the Vara-Skövde cohort included members of the team from the Skara studies, and they were all trained and calibrated in methodological procedures before the studies began.

Study Populations

Paper I

This study was based on the 1149 patients from the patient study in 1992-1993 and the 1109 subjects from the population survey in 1993-1994. After excluding 33 patients and 3 subjects with type 1 diabetes from the patient study and the populations survey, respectively, 1149 patients and 1106 population controls initially remained. All cases over 85 years of age at baseline were then excluded, leaving 1085 subjects in the patient sample and 804 in the population sample.

Paper II

Paper II was based on the initial 1811 subjects from the population survey in Vara 2002-2004. After excluding a total of 140 subjects because of pregnancies (n=5), use of cortisone medication (n=10), missing waist circumference measurements (n=1), or missing morning and/or evening salivary cortisol measurements (n=124), 1671 subjects remained.

Paper III

This study was based on the the Vara-Skövde cohort, which included the initial 1811 subjects from the population survey in Vara (2002-2004) and the initial 1005 subjects from the population survey in Skövde (2004-2005). Pregnant women (n=9) were excluded, as well as participants who had worked less than 20 h/week or less than 10 months during the past year (n=994) and those without full information on leisure time physical activity, occupational physical activity, body weight, and waist circumference (n=68). This left a total of 1745 subjects for further analyses.

Paper IV

The last study was also based on the Vara-Skövde cohort. From the initial total sample of 2816 subjects, pregnant women (n=9) were excluded, as were 323 subjects with known hypertension and/or diabetes. Another 156 subjects were excluded because they lacked information on the variables under study (leisure time physical activity (n=73), smoking (n=8), apolipoprotein B/apolipoprotein A1 (n=6), alcohol consumption (n=35), HOMA-ir (n=13), and general self-rated health (n=21)), leaving 2328 subjects for the initial factor analysis. For the analysis regarding left ventricular hypertrophy in association with the factors obtained from the factor analysis, those 852 subjects (all from the Vara subcohort) who also had information on left ventricular mass from the echocardiography were included.

General Methods

General procedures

Skara (Paper I)

After an overnight fast (10h), specially educated and trained nurses saw participants the following morning. Participants gave verbal informed consent and were then weighed on a calibrated scale and had their body height measured in light clothes and without shoes. The blood pressure was taken in a supine position and venous blood samples were drawn. The study nurses collected information regarding medical history and ongoing medication with a special focus on treatment for hypertension and diabetes. All participants also answered a questionnaire regarding smoking habits, alcohol consumption, and physical activity [186].

Vara-Skövde (Paper II-IV)

As in the Skara studies, participants were seen in the morning after an overnight fast (10h). Participants signed an informed consent form and venous blood samples were drawn. After collection of the fasting plasma samples, an oral glucose tolerance test was performed with an intake of a 75 g standard glucose load [19]. During the two-hour wait for the final blood drawing, participants filled out the same lifestyle questionnaire that was used in the Skara studies. Participants also filled out questionnaires regarding psychosocial health, stress, quality of life, and civil- and socioeconomic status. Participants were also provided with a

Salivette sampling device (cotton) along with both verbal and written instructions for usage. The instructions stated that participants were to: Collect saliva themselves at 0800 h and 2200 h (with a maximum of 30 minutes time shift) on one normal weekday within two weeks from the first study visit, abstain from food, drinks, snuff, smoking, tooth brushing, and exertion in the hour before saliva collection, rinse their mouths with water 15 minutes before the sampling, and rest for at least 15 minutes before sampling. Levels of saliva cortisol were analysed using a radioimmunoassay from Orion Diagnostica (SpectriaTM Cortisol RIA) [187]. Approximately two weeks after the first visit the participants came for a second visit to the nurses. Particicipants were weighed on a calibrated scale and had their body height measured in light clothes and without shoes. They also had their blood pressure taken and provided detailed information on medical history and ongoing medication.

Medical History

Skara and Vara-Skövde (Paper I-IV)

The information collected regarding medical history was established according to predefined criteria. The variables included were acute myocardial infarction, angina pectoris, heart failure, acute stroke, intermittent claudication, diabetes mellitus, and smoking habits.

Physical Examination

Skara (Paper I)

Systolic and diastolic (phase V) right brachial arterial pressure was measured in a supine position after 5 minutes rest, as well as in a standing position after 1 minutes rest, and recorded to the nearest 2 mmHg. TricuffTM for automatic adjustment of cuff size to arm circumference [188] was used and heart rate was registered simultaneously with blood pressure. The arm was supported by a pillow to be in level with the heart. Participants were weighed on a calibrated scale to the nearest 0.1 kg, and their body height was measured in light clothes and without shoes to the nearest cm for height as well as for waist and hip circumference.

Vara-Skövde (Paper II-IV)

The physical examination was performed according to the same procedure as in the Skara surveys, with waist circumference being measured between the lowest rib margin and iliac crest and hip circumference at the largest circumference between waist and thighs. From the Vara sub-cohort, 1063 consecutively invited subjects (91% participation rate) had an echocardiography performed for measurement of left ventricular mass (LVM = $0.8 \times (1.04 \, [(\text{diastolic dimension} + \text{posterior wall thickness} + \text{septal thickness})3 - (\text{diastolic dimension})3] + 0.6g)$ [189]. The echocardiography was performed at a separate visit to a cardiologist using a General Electrics VingMed S5 System, operating with a 3.5 MHz-probe. The same cardiologist performed all echocardiographic measurements and data was stored in the EchoPac System.

Laboratory Examinations

Skara and Vara-Skövde (Paper I-IV)

Blood specimens at baseline were drawn in the morning after an overnight fast (10 hours minimum). Standard laboratory tests were used for serum cholesterol, fasting triglycerides, fasting blood glucose, and also HbA1c for subjects with diabetes. Micral® test was used to test for microalbuminuria in urine [190]. Tests for blood glucose and serum triglycerides were performed in a non-fasting state in insulin-treated patients with diabetes, as fasting blood glucose were performed using a modified glucose dehydrogenase method from Hemocue (Hemocue AB, Ängelholm). Both glucose and HbA1c were analysed by the laboratory at the local hospital (Kärnsjukhuset, Skövde). Serum samples for further tests were frozen immediately at -82°C and analysed later for lipids at the Department of Clinical Chemistry, Skåne University Hospital, Lund. Serum insulin was also analysed later at the Wallenberg Laboratory (Malmö University Hospital), using an enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) with <0.3% cross-reactivity for proinsulin using a kit from DAKO Diagnostics Ltd [191].

Questionnaires

Skara (Paper I)

Leisure time physical activity was measured based on four answer alternatives to the question "How physically active are you during your leisure time?". The question referred to the past year and the answer alternatives were: 1) Sedentary leisure time: reading, watching television, stamp collecting or other sedentary activity; 2) Light leisure time physical activity: walking, cycling, or other physical activity under at least four hours per week; 3) Moderate leisure time physical activity: running, Swimming, tennis, aerobic, heavier gardening, or similar physical activity during at least 2 hours a week; 4) Heavy training or competitive sport: heavy training or competitions in running, skiing, swimming, football, etc, which is performed regularly and several times a week.

Alcohol consumption was assessed by questions concerning the number of days during the past 30 days during which the subjects had consumed beer, wine, and strong liquor, respectively. Each of these questions was followed by questions concerning how many cans, glasses, and/or bottles that were normally consumed on such days. The total number of grams of alcohol consumed per week was then calculated by multiplying the number of days of alcohol consumption by the number of grams of alcohol consumed alcoholic beverage.

Cigarette smoking was measured by the question "Do you smoke?". The answer alternatives were: 1) No, I have never smoked; 2) No, I have smoked but have given it up; 3) Yes, I smoke.

Vara-Skövde (Paper II-IV)

Leisure time physical activity, alcohol consumption, and smoking were measured by the same questionnaire as that utilized in the Skara studies.

Occupational physical activity was measured by the question "Is your daily work physically light or heavy?". There were five alternative answers: 1) Very light – sitting work (e.g. driving a vehicle, reading, office work, teaching); 2) Light – Standing with little muscle activity (e.g. feeding, handing out medicine in medical care, washing up, precision mechanical work); 3) Moderate intensity – muscular activity with moderate intensity (e.g. walking around, lifting/carrying less than 5 kg, washing, making beds, tidying, carpeting, child care); 4) Heavy – Muscular work with quite high intensity and increased breathing (e.g. maintenance, heavier service work, handling patients within medical care, sweeping streets, heavier gardening, freighting/unloading goods); 5) Very heavy - muscular activity with high intensity and highly increased breathing (e.g. casting concrete, timbering, shoveling soil/sand, lifting/carrying more than 25 kg).

Educational level was assessed by a question with 10 alternatives reaching from primary school to PhD-exams. General self-rated health was defined based on five answer alternatives (from "very good" to "very poor") to the question "How would you rate your current health status in general?".

Diagnostic procedures

Skara (Paper I)

Subjects without an already existing diagnosis of hypertension were followed up with two further blood pressure measurements (1-2 weeks between each measurement) if the initial diastolic blood pressure was \geq 90 mmHg [192]. In accordance with national and international guidelines at the time, all three DBP had to be at least 90 mmHg, for a diagnosis of hypertension to be confirmed [192, 193].

In subjects without a diagnosis of diabetes, further examinations of blood glucose were performed (1-2 weeks between measurement) if the initial fasting glucose value was >5.5 mmol L⁻¹ [194]. Diagnosis of diabetes was confirmed after two fasting blood glucose values of \geq 6.7 mmol L⁻¹. If the second fasting blood glucose test showed a value between 5.6 and 6.6 mmol L⁻¹, an oral glucose tolerance test was performed [194]. If the 2-h glucose value was \geq 11.1 mmol L⁻¹, a diagnosis of diabetes was confirmed [194]. Differentiation between type 1 and type 2 diabetes was based on clinical criteria: i.e., age at onset, body weight, symptoms at initial stage, tendency of ketosis, requiring early insulin treatment, and in some cases C-peptide.

End-points included fatal or non-fatal first events of AMI (morbidity), all fatal AMI events (mortality), and all-cause mortality. According to a valid method [195, 196], information on end-points, from baseline through 2002, was ascertained by record linkage with the Swedish national mortality and in-patient registers.

Vara-Skövde (Paper II-IV)

In accordance with international standards [197, 35] subjects without a diagnosis of hypertension were followed up with two further blood pressure measurements (1-2 weeks between each measurement) if the initial diastolic blood pressure was \geq 90 mmHg or the initial systolic blood pressure was \geq 140. For a diagnosis of hypertension to be confirmed, all three consecutive measurements the diastolic blood pressure had to be \geq 90 mmHg and/or the systolic blood pressures had to be \geq 140 mmHg.

Diagnosis of diabetes was confirmed after two fasting plasma glucose values of \geq 7.0 mmol L⁻¹ (1-2 weeks between measurements), or after one 2-h plasma glucose value of \geq 11.1 mmol L⁻¹ in an oral glucose tolerance test [19]. Differentiation between type 1 and type 2 diabetes was based on clinical criteria: i.e. age at onset, weight, symptoms at initial stage, tendency of ketosis, treatment, and in some cases C-peptide.

Paper I

End-points included fatal events of AMI and all-cause mortality. Information on end-points, from baseline through 2002, was ascertained by record linkage with the Swedish national mortality and in-patient registers [195, 196].

Paper II

Measures of morning and evening values of salivary cortisol were used together with diurnal cortisol level (Δ -cortisol). Δ -cortisol was defined as the difference between logarithmic morning and evening cortisol, which corresponds to the difference in per cent between morning and evening values.

Waist-hip ratio was defined as the ratio of waist to hip circumference. Both waisthip ratio and waist circumference were used to estimate abdominal obesity.

Paper III

Body mass index was calculated by the body weight in kilograms divided by the square of the height in meters (kg/m²), and obesity was defined as body mass index \geq 30 kg/m² [198]. Waist circumference >88 cm in women and >102 cm in men was defined as abdominal obesity [75].

Insulin resistance was estimated based on the Homeostasis Model Assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-ir): fasting insulin \times fasting blood glucose / 22.5 [191, 199].

All four categories of leisure time physical activity were used, while category four and five with regard to occupational physical activity were merged together because of low numbers in the last category.

Paper IV

WHR was defined as the ratio of waist to hip circumference. The apolipoprotein B/apolipoprotein A1 ratio was defined as the ratio between apolipoprotein B and apolipoprotein A1. Insulin resistance was estimated based on the Homeostasis Model Assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-ir): fasting insulin × fasting blood glucose / 22.5 [191, 199]. Measures of systolic blood pressure were used.

Smoking was characterized as "never smokers", "current smokers", and "previous smokers". Alcohol consumption was measured as grams of alcohol per week. All

four categories of leisure time physical activity were used for data analyses, as were all five categories of general self-rated health.

LVM was indexed for height^{2.7} [200] and left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) was defined as LVM index >47.3 g/m^{2.7} [201].

Statistical analyses

Paper I-IV

With regard to baseline characteristics, differences between men and women were examined by GLM (general linear model) in continuous variables and by logistic regression analyses in categorical variables. All statistical tests in this thesis were two-sided and statistical significance was assumed at p < 0.05.

Paper I

SPSS Base System for Macintosh 11.0 was used for data analyses. Baseline characteristics expressed as proportions were age-standardized in ten-year intervals using the total Skara population \geq 40 years as standard. After controlling for proportionality, hazard ratios were examined by Cox proportional hazard model. Subjects who reached 85 years of age during the follow-up period were censored for further follow-up on their 85th birthday. Confounding by age, smoking, total cholesterol, BMI, and leisure time physical activity was controlled for in multiple Cox regression models and by stratification.

Paper II

SPSS Base System for Macintosh 11.0 was used for data analyses and all analyses were gender-specific. Baseline characteristics expressed as proportions were agestandardized in five-year intervals using the total Vara population 30-75 years as standard. Differences between groups in continuous variables were examined by general linear model and associations between continuous variables were analysed by linear regression. Associations between categorical variables were analysed by logistic regression and expressed as odds ratios with 95 per cent confidence intervals. For the logistic regression analyses of the associations between waist-hip ratio and morning cortisol/ Δ -cortisol, waist-hip ratio above and below the mean was used as the dependent variable, and quartiles of morning and Δ -cortisol, respectively, as independent variables. Pearson's correlation coefficient was used for testing the correlation between morning and evening cortisol. Confounding by differences in age, alcohol consumption, daily smoking (yes/no), leisure time physical activity, and use of oral contraceptives or estrogen replacements was controlled for in multivariate analyses and by stratification. As an oral glucose tolerance test was not performed in subjects with known diabetes (n=65); the analysis of 2 h blood glucose contains fewer subjects than the analyses of the other variables. Log transformation (10th logarithm) was used to induce normality in morning and evening cortisol measurements.

Paper III

SPSS Base System for Macintosh 17.0 was used for data analyses and all analyses were gender-specific. Differences in continuous variables across groups of leisure time physical activity and occupational physical activity were examined by general linear model, and tests for trends between categories were performed. Associations were also analysed by logistic regression analyses with body mass index and waist circumference, respectively, as dependent variables and occupational physical activity and leisure time physical activity, respectively, as independent variables. For these analyses, body mass index was dichotomized as $<30/\geq30$, and waist circumference as <88/>88 cm in women and <102/>102 cm in men. Due to low numbers, the fifth and highest category of occupational physical activity was merged with the fourth category, leaving four groups (sedentary, low, moderate, high). The first of the four categories of occupational physical activity and leisure time physical activity (sedentary) was used as the reference category in all analyses, apart from the logistic regression analyses of leisure time physical activity. For these analyses the fourth category was merged with the third category, due to low numbers, and this last category was then used as the reference. Logistic regression analyses for the association between occupational physical activity and body mass index and waist circumference, respectively, were also performed stratified by high (category 3-4) and low (category 1-2) leisure time physical activity. Gender differences regarding occupational physical activity were examined by two-way interaction terms with body mass index, waist circumference, and HOMA-ir, respectively, as dependent variables. For these analyses, body mass index and waist circumference were dichotomized as described above for the logistic regression analyses, while HOMA-ir was dichotomized at the 90th percentile. In the analyses between HOMA-ir and occupational physical activity/leisure time physical activity, all subjects with diabetes were excluded (n=50). In all analyses with fasting insulin and HOMA-ir, log transformation (natural logarithm) was used to induce normality and coefficient of variation (cv) was used to describe dispersion. Confounding by age

(Model 1); age, alcohol consumption, smoking, education, study area (Vara or Skövde), and leisure time physical activity/occupational physical activity (Model 2); and age, alcohol consumption, smoking, education, area, leisure time physical activity/occupational physical activity, and body mass index (Model 3), was controlled for by multivariate analyses and stratification.

Paper IV

SPSS Base System for Macintosh 18.0 was used for data analyses and all analyses were gender-specific. For the analyses with regard to baseline characteristics smoking was dichotomized as daily smoking or not, education was dichotomized as primary school only or above, leisure time physical activity as sedentary/low or moderate/high, and self-rated health as "good" ("good" + "very good") or "reasonable/poor" ("reasonable", "poor", and "very poor"). Factor analysis was used to explore the clustering of the following factors: systolic blood pressure, smoking (all three categories used), apolipoprotein B/apolipoprotein A1, HOMAir, waist-hip ratio, leisure time physical activity (all four categories used), alcohol consumption, and general self-rated health (all five categories used). Principal components with eigenvalues >1 were retained and variables were rotated using varimax rotation. Correlations were considered significant for variable loadings ≥ 0.40 . The association between left ventricular hypertrophy and the factor scores obtained from the factor analysis was analyzed by logistic regression analyses with left ventricular hypertrophy as dependent variable and the respective factor scores as independent variables. Logistic regression analyses were also performed between left ventricular hypertrophy and the independent risk factors. In these analyses the categorical risk factors were dichotomized as described above, while one standard deviation was used as the unit for calculating odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals with regard to the continuous variables. Confounding by age and educational level was controlled for by multivariate analyses and by stratification in ten-year age groups and in three levels of education (primary school only, secondary school only, higher education), respectively.

Results and discussion

Paper I:

Female advantage in AMI mortality is reversed in patients with type 2 diabetes in the Skaraborg Project

Results

At baseline all patient samples generally had a more atherogenic risk factor profile than subjects in the reference population (Table 3). During a mean follow-up time of 7.8 years there were 52 events of fatal AMI in men and 29 events in women. Mortality rates were considerably lower in women (2/10 000 person years) than in men (39/10 000 person years) in non-diabetic subjects, while higher in women (116/10 000 person years) than in men (95/10 000) in patients with T2DM. Hazard ratios for AMI mortality for patients with type 2 diabetes compared to the population were 5.0 (2.4-10.8) in women and 1.9 (1.1-3.2) in men, adjusted for age and hypertension. The only significant interaction that was revealed was between gender and type 2 diabetes, showing a female disadvantage represented as a tripled risk of fatal AMI (Table 4), with a synergy index of 4.0. All results remained statistically significant after adjustment for smoking, total cholesterol, body mass index, and leisure time physical activity.

Characteristics	HT o	only	HT+	Г2DM	T2D	M	only	Р	opul	ation
Men	n=27	7	n=11	9	n=9	4		n	=401	
	mear	ıs (sd)	mean	s (sd)	mea	ns	(sd)	m	eans	s (sd)
Age, years	63.5	12.0^{\dagger}	70.1	9.5*	6	8.8	9.2*		60.8	13.1
Waist, cm	97.4	9.5*	99.4	9.7*	9	6.2	9.5		94.4	9.6
BMI, kg m ⁻²	27.6	3.59*	28.7	3.65*	2	7.2	3.61^{\dagger}		26.0	3.63
SBP, mm Hg	152	16.7 ³	162	17.0^{3}	1	44	16.9 ³		134	16.9
DBP, mm Hg	87	8.6*	89	8.8*	8	2	8.7^{*}	,	76	8.8
FB-glu, mmol L ⁻¹	5.5	1.17*	7.9	1.19*	8	.8	1.17*	4	4.8	1.18
Hba1c, % units	-	-	6.2	1.42^{\dagger}	6	.8	1.41		-	-
LDL, mmol L ⁻¹	4.1	0.96	3.9	0.98^{\dagger}	4	.0	0.97 [‡]	4	4.3	0.98
HDL, mmol L ⁻¹	1.00	0.23^{\dagger}	0.97	0.23 [†]	1	.01	0.23		1.05	0.22
Triglycerides mmol L ^{-1a}	1.48	0.94*	1.65	0.95*	1	.42	0.94 [‡]		1.21	0.94
Tot chol, mmol L ⁻¹	5.9	1.04	5.7	1.06 [‡]	5	.7	1.05	:	5.9	1.06
	n	(%)	n	(%)	n		(%)	1	n	(%)
BP <160/90 mm Hg	111	42 [*]	22	18*	6	2	68^{\dagger}		343	86
FB-glu <6.7 mmol L ⁻¹	252	96 [†]	28	24*	1	0	22*		399	100
Hba1c <6.5%	-	-	66	70^{\dagger}	3	8	52		-	-
Previous CVD	53	16.4 [‡]	31	19.0 [‡]	1	3	10.6	4	46	10.7
Daily smokers	43	16.7 [‡]	14	8.9	2	3	33.2		97	24.7
Low LTPA	16	7.5 [‡]	25	23.2 [‡]	1	0	13.3		39	10.2
Microalbuminuria	64	21.9 [†]	42	33.4*	2	5	25.4^{\dagger}	:	59	14.4

Table 3. Characteristics in patient categories and reference population from Skara, the Skaraborg Project 1992-1994.

Women	n=4	18	n=121		n=87		n=42.	3
	mea	ns (sd)	means	s (sd)	mean	s (sd)	mean	s (sd)
Age, years	66.0	12.2*	70.5	9.6*	71	1 11.0	0* 59.7	12.5
Waist, cm	87.2	11.0*	92.6	11.2*	89.	2 11.	1 [*] 83.1	11.4
BMI, kg m ⁻²	28.0	4.81*	29.6	4.85*	27.	.7 4.8	3 [†] 26.0	4.92
SBP, mm Hg	154	17.2*	160	17.3*	14	9 17.	.3* 136	17.6
DBP, mm Hg	82	9.5 [*]	86	9.7*	79	9.6 [°]	* 74	9.8
FB-glu, mmol L ⁻¹	5.3	1.20*	8.1	1.22*	9.0	1.2	1 [*] 4.8	1.23
Hba1c, % units	-	-	6.5	1.59	6.8	1.6	- 0	-
LDL, mmol L ⁻¹	4.4	1.07	4.2	1.08	4.1	1.0	7 [‡] 4.3	1.09
HDL, mmol L ⁻¹	1.17	0.24^{*}	1.05	0.25*	1.0	0.2	5* 1.24	0.25
Triglycerides mmol L ^{-1a}	1.32	0.67^{*}	1.68	0.67^{*}	1.4	4 0.6	8* 1.14	0.68
Tot chol, mmol L ⁻¹	6.3	1.15	6.1	1.17	5.9	1.1	6 6.1	1.19
	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%) n	(%)
BP <160/90 mm Hg	190	48*	25	25*	46	59 [*]	364	83
FB-glu<6.7 mmol L ⁻¹	389	97 [‡]	34	42*	13	25^{*}	421	99
Hba1c <6.5%	-	-	51	58	43	52	-	-
Previous CVD	78	15.1*	28	15.6*	13	12.	0 19	6.1
Daily smokers	43	13.5 [‡]	15	25.5	10	19.4	4 89	19.6
Low LTPA	62	13.0 [‡]	21	13.4	18	15.	9 26	8.4
Microalbuminuria	64	21.9^{\dagger}	42	33.4*	25	25.4	4 [†] 59	14.4

Table 3 continued

Data are based on all 1940 subjects from the Skara studies. Means are adjusted for age and proportions are age-standardised in ten-year intervals using the

whole Skara population \geq 40 years as standard. Subjects treated with insulin were excluded in analyses of fasting blood glucose and serum triglycerides. Differences between patient categories and the population (reference) were examined by analyses of covariance (Ancova) in continuous variables and by logistic regression in categorical variables. Age was used as covariate and tests were expressed as [‡]=p<0.050; [†]=p<0.010, ^{*}=p<0.001

HT, hypertension; T2DM, type 2 diabetes; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; F-glu, fasting blood glucose; Tot chol, total cholesterol; Low LTPA, low leisure time physical activity (exercise, walking and gardening included, less than 4 hours per week). ^aGeometric means.

	,	-				
	Gender*	HT	T2DM	$\rm HT \times gender^*$	$T2DM \times gender^*$	$HT \times T2DM$
Outcomes	HR (CI) p-value	HR (CI) p-value	HR (CI) p-value	HR (CI) p-value	HR (CI) p-value	HR (CI) p-value
Adjusted for age						
AMI mortality	0.1(0.04-0.4) 0.001	1.5 (0.5-2.3) 0.297	2.3 (1.1-5.1) 0.035	2.3 (0.8-6.8) 0.137	3.1 (1.2-8.2) 0.021	0.7 (0.2-1.7) 0.401
All-cause mortality	0.5 (0.3-0.7) 0.001	1.2 (0.9-1.7) 0.248	1.6 (1.1-2.4) 0.018	1.01(0.7-1.7)0.760	1.3 (0.8-2.0) 0.258	1.1 (0.7-1.7) 0.816
Adjusted for age, smoking,	, and total cholesterol					
AMI mortality	0.1 (0.03-0.4)<0.001	1.8 (0.8-3.7) 0.137	2.6 (1.1-6.1) 0.029	2.5 (0.8-8.1) 0.124	3.3 (1.2-9.1) 0.018	0.6 (0.2-1.6) 0.295
All-cause mortality	0.4 (0.3-0.7) <0.001	1.2 (0.9-1.8) 0.252	1.5 (0.9-2.2) 0.094	1.0 (0.6-1.7) 0.892	1.5(1.0-2.5) 0.071	1.1 (0.7-1.8) 0.676

Table 4. Outcomes showing the Cross product interaction between gender, hypertension, and type 2 diabetes.

* Women compared to men. includes all patients with hypertension, with or without type 2 diabetes (T2DM). The T2DM group includes all patient with T2DM, with or without hypertension. Hazard ratios (HR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) were analysed with Cox regression, using the population sample as reference. The hypertensive group (HT)

Discussion

Whereas the overall incidence of AMI is lower in women, the female advantage is known to disappear in subjects with type 2 diabetes, and the risk is sometimes even considered to be higher in women than in men [202]. This has, however, been argued to depend mainly on lack of adjustments for other risk factors such as age, smoking, and total cholesterol [29, 30]. Since those were adjusted for in the present study, they could not explain the higher female risk found here. Still, the possibility of residual confounding should be considered. Another study largely explains the higher relative risk of CHD mortality in women with type 2 diabetes with the more favourable survival rate in women than men without type 2 diabetes [33]. Although this phenomenon can be seen in the current study too, the female disadvantage was seen with both absolute and relative measures, and a clearly significant interaction between sex and type 2 diabetes was found. Since the interaction is also supported by a Finnish study with regard to CHD risk [203]. other mechanisms are probably also at play. For example, hormone replacement therapy has been found to increase the risk of AMI in women with diabetes, whereas no such effect was seen in non-diabetic women [32]. This might be due to an effect of endothelial dysfunction in response to estrogen, which has been hypothesized to take place as women age and in women with diabetes [14]. Unfortunately, none of this was accounted for in the present study. However, while it seems unlikely that hormone replacement therapy would explain all of the detrimental effect of type 2 diabetes seen in women with regard to AMI prognosis, the effect of hormone replacement therapy and post-menopausal hormonal changes in women with type 2 diabetes warrant further investigation. Moreover, although women with type 2 diabetes seem to consume more health care than men, there are indications that preventative and interventional measures are not applied to women to the same extent as men, which may have contributed to our results [204-206]. Still, this is not supported by a recent study from Sweden where the prognosis after an AMI event in women and men with diabetes was investigated [207]. Even though an under-use in certain treatment after an AMI was seen in women <65 years as compared to men in the corresponding age-group, this did not explain the poorer outcome that was also seen in women <65 years.

Hypertension is often present in subjects with type 2 diabetes [186, 208] and is considered a principal factor in the development of cardiovascular disease in subjects with type 2 diabetes [208]. Tight blood pressure control in subjects with type 2 diabetes in fact seems to improve the prognosis of CHD to a greater extent than tight control of blood glucose [209]. There are also some studies that indicate that hypertension in itself might have a greater impact in women than in men [44-46]. A potential interactional effect between hypertension and gender, and

hypertension and type 2 diabetes was thus also explored in the present study, but none was found. Furthermore, the patients with only type 2 diabetes were analysed separately from those with both type 2 diabetes and hypertension. Although power was insufficient to conclusively distinguish any effect of hypertension on the interaction between sex and type 2 diabetes, the association was stronger in patients with both conditions.

The interaction between gender and type 2 diabetes shows that the effect of type 2 diabetes on fatal AMI was significantly stronger in women than in men independent of other major cardiovascular risk factors. To improve the prognosis of female patients with type 2 diabetes, more research on sex-specific mechanisms is warranted, and special reference should be made to the effect of estrogen and hypertension.

Paper II:

Salivary cortisol differs with age and sex and shows inverse associations with waist-hip ratio in Swedish women: a cross-sectional study

Results

In both men and women evening cortisol was significantly higher in older subjects compared to younger, while the same pattern for morning cortisol was seen in men only (Table 5). In women Δ -cortisol (morning - evening cortisol) was significantly lower in older subjects than in younger (Table 5). Test for trends over increasing age groups revealed highly significant trends (p \leq 0.001) in all cortisol variables but morning cortisol in women (p=0.215) and Δ -cortisol in men (p=0.088).

Women in general were found to have significantly higher levels of morning cortisol than men (Table 5), and women <50 years were found to have higher levels of both morning and Δ -cortisol than men <50 years. The correlations (r) between morning and evening cortisol values were 0.297 (p<0.001) for women and 0.240 (p<0.001) for men.

In women, waist-hip ratio was significantly associated with morning cortisol (Table 6). These associations remained when also adjusting for multiple confounders (Table 6), and were also seen in both a linear (p=0.006) and a logistic regression analysis (OR 1.5, 1.0-2.2, p=0.058). Waist-hip ratio was also significantly and independently associated with Δ -cortisol and this association was seen in women both above and below 50 years of age. Moreover, a significant association between Δ -cortisol and waist-hip ratio was seen in a linear regression analysis (p=0.003) and in a logistic regression analysis (OR 1.9, 1.3-2.8), and both results remained statistically significant when adjusting for multiple variables. Body mass index did not affect any of the results above. In men, morning cortisol (Table 6) and Δ -cortisol were not associated with either waist-hip ratio or waist circumference. No associations were seen in either men or women with regard to evening cortisol.

	Mo	ornin	g cortisol		Eve	ning	cortisol		∆ -c c	ortiso	1	
Age- groups	n	m	(q1-q3)	р	n	m	(q1-q3)	р	n	m	(q1-q3)	р
Women												
30-39	242	12.4	(9.0-17.0)	ref.	242	1.7	(1.0-3.0)	ref.	242	5.8	(3.7-10.0)	ref.
40-49	291	12.4	(8.0-19.0)	0.892	291	2.2	(2.0-3.0)	0.834	291	5.7	(3.7-9.0)	0.768
50-59	146	11.6	(8.7-15.2)	0.260	146	2.5	(2.0-3.0)	0.030	146	4.7	(3.0-8.0)	0.005
60-69	107	12.7	(10.0-18.0)	0.732	107	2.7	(2.0-4.0)	0.004	107	4.7	(3.3-7.5)	0.015
≥ 70	52	15.1	(9.2-19.8)	0.029	52	3.6	(2.0-6.0)	< 0.001	52	4.2	(2.3-9.0)	0.004
<50	533	12.4	(9.0-18.0)	ref.	533	2.2	(1.4-3.0)	ref.	533	5.8	(3.7-9.5)	ref.
≥50	305	12.5	(9.0-18.0)	0.773	305	2.7	(2.0-3.0)	< 0.001	305	4.6	(3.0-8.0)	< 0.001
Men												
30-39	254	10.4	(7.0-15.0)	ref.	254	2.0	(1.0-3.0)	ref.	254	5.3	(3.5-9.0)	ref.
40-49	276	10.6	(8.0-15.0)	0.634	276	2.2	(2.0-3.0)	0.101	276	4.9	(3.0-8.0)	0.288
50-59	141	11.8	(8.0-18.0)	0.030	141	2.4	(2.0-3.0)	0.007	141	5.0	(3.0-8.0)	0.460
60-69	106	12.5	(8.0-17.3)	0.006	106	2.5	(2.0-3.0)	0.001	106	4.9	(3.3-7.6)	0.459
≥ 70	56	12.3	(9.0-16.8)	0.049	56	2.9	(2.0-4.0)	< 0.001	56	4.2	(3.0-6.5)	0.040
<50	530	10.5	(7.0-15.0)	ref.	530	2.1	(1.0-3.0)	ref.	530	5.1	(3.3-8.5)	ref.
≥50	303	12.1	(8.0-18.0)	0.001	303	2.5	(2.0-3.0)	< 0.001	303	4.8	(3.0-7.7)	0.305

Table 5. Male and female salivary cortisol levels in different age-groups in the Vara cohort, the Skaraborg Project 2001-2004, Sweden.

 Δ -cortisol = logarithmic morning salivary cortisol - logarithmic evening salivary cortisol. Differences between age-groups were examined by GLM (general linear model), using group 30-39 and group <50, respectively, as reference. Means and quartiles 1-3 (q1-q3) are geometric (anti-log).

	WH	R			Wai	st circum	ference	
Women	n	mean	sd	p-value	n	mean	sd	p-value
Adjusted for age								
Qrtl 1 morning cortisol	188	0.843	0.069	ref.	188	86.63	13.52	ref.
Qrtl 2 morning cortisol	230	0.838	0.076	0.492	230	85.90	13.53	0.585
Qrtl 3 morning cortisol	203	0.826	0.071	0.025	203	83.99	13.52	0.055
Qrtl 4 morning cortisol	217	0.827	0.074	0.036	217	84.74	13.54	0.163
Test for linearity:								
between quartiles				0.013				0.079
continuously				0.006				0.024
Adjusted for age, leisure a contraceptives, and estrog	time ph gen rep	ysical act	tivity, smol s	king, educatio	on, alko	hol consu	mption, or	ral
Qrtl 1 morning cortisol	176	0.842	0.080	ref.	188	86.08	13.82	ref.
Qrtl 2 morning cortisol	224	0.836	0.075	0.398	230	85.67	13.53	0.763
Qrtl 3 morning cortisol	198	0.826	0.070	0.041	203	84.05	13.55	0.146
Qrtl 4 morning cortisol	210	0.827	0.072	0.041	217	84.50	13.60	0.250
Test for linearity:								
between quartiles				0.021				0.128
continuously				0.013				0.072
Men								
Adjusted for age								
Qrtl 1 morning cortisol	193	0.945	0.056	ref.	193	94.61	10.03	ref.
Qrtl 2 morning cortisol	240	0.939	0.062	0.275	240	93.96	9.99	0.498
Qrtl 3 morning cortisol	210	0.945	0.058	0.979	210	94.55	10.00	0.950
Qrtl 4 morning cortisol	190	0.945	0.055	0.913	190	94.92	9.99	0.763
Test for linearity:								
between quartiles				0.784				0.613
continuously				0.980				0.556

Table 6. Comparisons of body composition between quartiles of morning salivary cortisol in women and men in the Vara cohort, the Skaraborg Project 2001-2004, Sweden.

Differences between quartiles (qrtl) of morning cortisol were examined by GLM (general linear model), using quartile 1 as reference.

Discussion

The age-related increase in cortisol levels found in the present study is supported by findings from several other studies, especially regarding nocturnal levels [210-215]. While the basal secretion of cortisol are known to remain fairly stable with age, the negative feedback regulation of the HPA-axis seems to become impaired in older subjects [216, 217]. This would lead to prolonged periods of increased cortisol secretion in response to for example stress and consequently increased general cortisol levels.

The general pattern of higher cortisol levels in women than men has been seen in some previous studies [218-220], but the opposite has also been reported [210, 211, 213]. These incongruities might be due to differences in measurements of cortisol, differences in timing of measurements, and differences in type and size of study sample.

The significant inverse association seen in women between morning cortisol and waist-hip ratio is in concordance with other studies [221-224], including a recent study from Whitehall II [225). These findings might be explained by an enhanced local clearance rate of cortisol, which has been hypothesized to impair the negative feedback control of the HPA-axis and lead to an increased cortisol secretion [226. 227]. This theory is supported by findings of increased total 24 h urinary cortisol out-put concurrent with decreased morning serum cortisol levels in abdominally obese subjects [221], and would explain the findings here and elsewhere of abdominal fat accumulation in spite of low morning levels. Furthermore, higher cortisol response to both physical and mental stress has been found in women with high waist-hip ratio compared to those with normal waist-hip ratio [221, 228]. Taken together, the findings indicate an abnormal activation of the HPA-axis in abdominally obese women, even though there are contradictory findings as well. An abnormal habituation to stress and ultimately hypocortisolism through dysregulation at some level of the HPA-axis [229, 230] could be an alternative hypothesis that needs testing in longitudinal studies where stress is also accounted for. Increasing interest is also being directed towards the tissue-specific actions of 11B-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 [231-232]. In adipose tissues, for example, this enzyme usually converts inactive cortisone to active cortisol [231-232], a process that has been found to be increased in obese individuals [233, 234]. However, these mechanisms are difficult to measure in a reliable and valid manner in humans and their relevance on a population level is yet to be determined.

With regard to the null-findings in men, differences in the metabolic clearance rate of cortisol could possibly hold some of the explanation, which is supported by some studies [235, 236] but not other [216, 237]. Furthermore, there are studies

that also in men have found inverse associations between morning cortisol and waist-hip ratio [238-241]. While the reasons for the null-findings in men in previous studies are not known, it might in the present study be explained by our men's lower prevalence and variation of abdominal obesity compared to our women, and consequently a decreased ability to identify an association with morning and Δ -cortisol.

Large population-based studies in both men and women within this research area are scarce or even lacking. Thus, our results offer important knowledge about the descriptive characteristics of cortisol in relation to age and gender. Moreover, it shows that the associations previously seen between cortisol and abdominal obesity in smaller, selected samples, can also be seen on a population level. Future studies should account for reproductive hormones and stress exposure, as well as 24-h urinary cortisol and metabolites. The need for prospective studies is also evident.

Paper III:

Leisure time and occupational physical activity in relation to obesity and insulin resistance: A population-based study from the Skaraborg Project in Sweden

Results

As shown in Figure 1, an age-adjusted (Model 1) inverse association in both men and women was seen between leisure time physical activity and body mass index. Similar significant associations were also seen between leisure time physical activity and waist circumference and HOMA-ir, respectively. All associations remained statistically significant when adjusting for multiple confounders (Model 2), including body mass index (Model 3) in the analyses of waist circumference and HOMA-ir. Furthermore, cross-product interaction analyses between leisure time physical activity and gender in association with HOMA-ir revealed protective effects of being physically active in women in all models (Model 3: p=0.030). Leisure time physical activity was also significantly associated with low resting heart rate in both men and women and this association remained statistically significant in both Model 2 and Model 3.

Occupational physical activity in women was positively associated with general obesity when adjusting for Model 1 (Figure 2) and Model 2. The pattern was generally robust when stratifying for high and low leisure time physical activity. The corresponding analyses for waist circumference and HOMA-ir showed similar associations as for body mas index, albeit somewhat weaker in general and non-significant in Model 3.

In contrast to women, no associations between occupational physical activity and obesity (whether general or abdominal) were observed in men, while the association with insulin resistance was in an opposite and dose-dependent direction and statistically significant in Model 2 but not in Model 3. Gender differences were confirmed by statistically significant age-adjusted interaction terms between gender and occupational physical activity in association with all aforementioned effect variables (body mass index: p=0.018; waist circumference: p=0.041; HOMA-ir: p=0.006). Resting heart rate was also significantly increased with increasing levels of occupational physical activity, however, only in men. All

aforementioned associations remained in both men and women when also adjusting for self-reported sleep disturbances and daily life stress.

In a sub-analysis, leisure time physical activity and occupational physical activity were combined to form four categories of total physical activity. In general linear models, a consistent pattern of inverse associations was found in both men and women between the highest and the lowest category of total physical activity with regard to body mass index, waist circumference, and HOMA-ir, respectively. There was no statistically significant association between total physical activity and resting heart rate in either men or women.

Discussion

The inverse results in both men and women with regard to leisure time physical activity in association with general obesity, abdominal obesity, and insulin resistance, confirm findings from previous studies [99, 100, 242-248]. Also in agreement with previous studies [100, 244-248], the associations for insulin resistance and waist circumferences were independent of body mass index. However, in contradiction with two previous studies [246, 249] where associations between physical activity and fasting insulin were found only in men, a significant interaction between female gender and high leisure time physical activity was found here in association with HOMA-ir, which to our knowledge is a novel finding. Women are known to have more insulin sensitive muscle tissues than equally fit men [250-251], which was further indicated here when comparing means of HOMA-ir for men and women adjusting for age, BMI, and leisure time physical activity. Also, in a previous study [247], women similarly showed higher insulin sensitivity irrespective of energy expenditure from physical activity and percentage of body fat. However, those findings would still not explain the higher protective effect of physical activity on insulin resistance found here in women compared to men, and neither would the level of leisure time physical activity, since women in the present study reported less leisure time physical activity than men. In both men and women high levels of leisure time physical activity were found to be associated with low resting heart rate, which is a well-known indicator for physical fitness. These findings indicate a high internal validity of the leisure time physical activity questionnaire and also point to a good external validity of the results.

Occupational physical activity was positively associated with both general and abdominal obesity in women in this study, which is in general agreement with some previous studies [100, 122, 123, 124] but not others [99, 119-121, 252-256]. A positive association between occupational physical activity and insulin resistance was also found in women. None of the positive associations in women

with regard to occupational physical activity were replicated in men. The differences between men and women were confirmed in cross-product interaction analyses, which to our knowledge have not been seen before. Confounding by lifestyle factors seems like the most plausible explanation for the associations, and consequently, differences in these confounding factors between men and women might explain why the positive association was seen solely in women. For example, women in occupations with high occupational physical activity might differ from men in corresponding occupations with regard to some aspect not fully accounted for here, which could counteract the presumed biological benefits of their physically active work. Moreover, the question used here to assess occupational physical activity did not differentiate between types of physical activity, such as aerobic versus anaerobic types, which might have differing effects on metabolism and cardiovascular function [257]. Still, it seems unlikely that low frequency of "beneficial" types of occupational physical activity among women would do more than attenuate an expected inverse association with obesity/insulin resistance.

The analyses of total physical activity showed significant inverse associations with general and abdominal obesity in both genders, and also with insulin resistance in men, thus, completely masking the opposite associations of leisure time physical activity and occupational physical activity from the separate analyses. Taken together, these findings highlight the risk of introducing bias when using a measure of total physical activity.

The present study found conflicting results with regard to the beneficial aspects of leisure time physical activity and occupational physical activity in men and women, with gender differences apparent especially in the findings concerning occupational physical activity. While further exploration of the metabolic effects of occupational physical activity appears warranted, more thorough measurement of potential confounders is also vital in order to understand contextual effects. Our results also indicate that the work setting may be an important context to consider in cardiovascular prevention, especially in women. The stronger association between leisure time physical activity and insulin resistance in women than in men also calls for further investigation.



Categories of leisure time physical activity

Figure 1. Age-adjusted odds ratios and confidence intervals of obesity (BMI \geq 30 kg m⁻² versus BMI <30 kg m⁻²) in association with leisure time physical activity in the Vara-Skövde cohort, The Skaraborg Project 2001-2005, Sweden.

.



Categories of occupational physical activity

Figure 2. Age-adjusted odds ratios and confidence intervals of obesity (BMI \geq 30 kg m⁻² versus BMI <30 kg m⁻²) in association with occupational physical activity in the Vara-Skövde cohort, The Skaraborg Project 2001-2005, Sweden.

Paper IV:

Clusters of AMI risk factors and the association with left ventricular hypertrophy: A populationbased study within the Skaraborg Project in Sweden

Results

Men in general had a significantly more atherogenic risk factor profile than women, and they consumed more alcohol and had lower educational levels. However, women were significantly more often daily smokers and sedentary in their leisure time as compared to men. Women also had significantly higher 2-hour plasma glucose levels than men.

The factor analysis identified three factors that contained identical variables in men and women (Table 7). Waist-hip ratio, HOMA-ir, systolic blood pressure, and apolipoprotein B/apolipoprotein A1 loaded significantly on Factor 1 (the metabolic factor), with the strongest loading factor seen in waist-hip ratio in both men and women. Leisure time physical activity and self-rated health loaded significantly on Factor 2 (the vitality factor), and smoking and alcohol intake loaded significantly on Factor 3 (the addiction factor) (Table 7). When the factor analysis was performed stratified by the two sub-cohorts (i.e. Vara and Skövde, respectively), the results were generally the same.

The age-adjusted logistic regression analyses found the metabolic factor to be significantly associated with left ventricular hypertrophy in both men and women and the addiction factor to be significantly associated with left ventricular hypertrophy, however, in men only (Table 8). These associations were unchanged or even stronger in multivariate models where all factors and educational level were included (Table 8). Cross-product interaction terms also revealed a statistically significant interaction between the addiction factor and gender (age-adjusted p=0.023). When using the factors applying only to the Vara sub-cohort (retained from the stratified factor analysis), similar significant associations with left ventricular hypertrophy were seen as when using the factors from the whole cohort.

When the risk factors were studied separately in association with left ventricular hypertrophy, age, waist-hip ratio, HOMA-ir, systolic blood pressure, and leisure time physical activity were significantly associated with left ventricular hypertrophy in the age-adjusted analyses in both genders. However, when all risk factors where entered in the same model, age, waist-hip ratio, alcohol consumption, and systolic blood pressure in men were independently associated with left ventricular hypertrophy, while in women, only systolic blood pressure remained statistically significant.

	Women			Men		
	Factor 1	Factor 2	Factor 3	Factor 1	Factor 2	Factor 3
	n=838			n=833		
WHR	0.748	0.066	0.075	0.776	0.121	0.166
HOMA-ir (logarithmic)	0.675	0.246	-0.217	0.699	0.212	-0.047
Systolic blood pressure	0.653	-0.067	0.081	0.583	-0.351	0.264
ApoB/ApoA	0.609	0.153	0.022	0.550	0.150	-0.169
Physical inactivity	0.049	0.793	0.000	0.233	0.720	0.015
General self-rated health	0.162	0.744	0.006	0.041	0.748	0.121
Smoking	0.067	0.241	0.764	0.149	0.165	0.627
Alcohol consumption	-0.022	-0.204	0.717	-0.129	-0.040	0.773
Variance explained, %	26.4	14.5	13.8	25.4	14.2	13.7
Cumulative variance, %	26.4	40.9	54.7	25.4	39.7	53.4
Initial eigenvalues	2.113	1.161	1.105	2.034	1.139	1.097

Table 7. Factor analysis in women and men in the Vara-Skövde Cohort, The Skaraborg Project 2001-2005.

Principal components with eigenvalues >1 were retained and variables were rotated using varimax rotation. Correlations were considered significant for variable loadings ≥ 0.40 .

OR ^a 95% C <i>n=415</i>)I ^a p-value
n=415	
1.9 1.4-2.7	< 0.001
0.8 0.6-1.1	0.197
1.3 1.0-1.6	0.039
	< 0.001
2.1 1.5-3.0	0.307
2.1 1.5-3.0 0.8 0.6-1.2	0.001
2.1 1.5-3.0 0.8 0.6-1.2 1.4 1.1-1.7	
2.1 1.5-3.0 0.8 0.6-1.2 1.4 1.1-1.7	<0.001
2.1 1.5-3.0 0.8 0.6-1.2 1.4 1.1-1.7 2.2 1.5-3.1	0.350
2.1 1.5-3.0 0.8 0.6-1.2 1.4 1.1-1.7 2.2 1.5-3.1 0.8 0.6-1.2	0.002
1.9 1.4-2.7 0.8 0.6-1.1 1.3 1.0-1 6	

Discussion

The identified factors in the present study were identical for men and women. The factor with the highest eigenvalue comprised waist-hip ratio, HOMA-ir, apolipoprotein B/apolipoprotein A, and systolic blood pressure, thus, corresponding well with the typical cluster of risk factors associated with the metabolic syndrome [258]. The vitality factor and the addiction factor were more directly lifestyle-related, with no biological variable loading on them. The findings here were broadly in line with five comparable studies [259-262], where components of the metabolic syndrome generally loaded on one major metabolic factor, and the more directly lifestyle related variables loaded on other factors in various combinations.

Individuals who engage in one health-risk behaviour are more likely to also engage in another one, which is in agreement with alcohol consumption and smoking loading together on the addiction factor. Still, smoking has previously also been associated with physical inactivity, which in the present study loaded together with self-rated health. It is thus interesting to note that leisure time physical activity in the present sample was more strongly associated with selfrated health than with smoking. While the link between smoking and alcohol consumption probably has behavioural components, the link between self-rated health and physical activity might be biological, since physical activity is known to improve mood [263] and mood most likely will affect an individual's rating of his/her general health. Still, negative mood might also reduce the motivation to be physically active [264]. Since physical activity smoking, alcohol consumption, and self-rated health (used here as a proxy for e.g. stress) have previously been associated with several metabolic risk factors, it is interesting to note that none of these lifestyle variables loaded significantly with any of the metabolic risk factors in the present study.

To our knowledge, no other study has investigated how factor scores of cardiovascular risk factors, also including lifestyle variables, predict left ventricular hypertrophy; however, a few studies have studied the prediction of CHD, and some of these have also included lifestyle variables [76, 259, 260, 265, 266]. Similarly to the present study, the "metabolic" factor identified in these studies predicted CHD to various degrees [76, 259, 260, 265]. However, comparable results in both men and women from such studies seem to be scarce, even though other types of studies support an association between metabolic variables and left ventricular mass/left ventricular hypertrophy [160, 161, 168, 267-269]. Interestingly, when traditional multivariate analysis was performed in the present study, only blood pressure was independently associated with left ventricular hypertrophy in women, while also waist-hip ratio, age, and alcohol intake was associated with left ventricular hypertrophy in men.

The addiction factor was significantly associated with left ventricular hypertrophy in men only. While Lempiäinen et al [76] also found alcohol and smoking to load on their fourth factor together with total cholesterol, it was only seen in women and the factor did not predict CHD after 7 years of follow-up. The significant association found solely in men in the separate analysis between alcohol consumption and left ventricular hypertrophy, as previously seen [167, 170], and the lack of association with regard to smoking, indicates that the association between left ventricular hypertrophy and the addiction factor in men to a large extent could be an effect of their alcohol consumption. This gender difference is supported by findings from some studies [270, 271], but not from others [95]. Furthermore, effects from other variables not measured here that might cluster together with smoking and alcohol intake in men could also be at play.

Factor analysis is a useful tool to identify cluster of risk factors representing common underlying pathways and it offers a deeper understanding of the dynamics of complex conditions like cardiovascular disease, as compared to traditional multivariate analyses of independent risk factors. In women, multivariate analyses identified systolic blood pressure as a single independent risk factor for left ventricular hypertrophy, while the factor scores in association with left ventricular hypertrophy captured the full impact of the metabolic syndrome also in women. This illustrates the additional value of looking for clusters of factors that operate in the same pathway. However, factor analysis is sensitive to the set of variables included in the model, and differences in design and included study measures thus make it difficult to compare results between studies.

The identical principal factors identified in men and women suggest common underlying mechanisms in both genders for the most acknowledged AMI risk factors. In contrast, different pathways in the development of left ventricular hypertrophy between men and women are indicated by the findings of both biological mechanisms and lifestyle affecting the association with left ventricular hypertrophy in men, while only biological mechanisms seemed to matter in women. It remains to be studied whether these observations might explain some of the gender differences seen in the development of AMI. Finally, since left ventricular hypertrophy often precedes AMI, a deeper understanding of risk factors for left ventricular hypertrophy, including consideration of the supposed gender differences, can also be useful to explore for prevention strategies with regard to AMI.

General discussion

In these population-based studies, gender differences for some of the most common risk factors for AMI were explored. In Paper I, a significant interaction was found between type 2 diabetes and gender with regard to the risk of AMI. whereby type 2 diabetes were shown to have a higher impact on AMI mortality in women than in men. In Paper II, basal salivary cortisol was found to be higher in women and in older subjects more generally, while a significant inverse association between waist-hip ratio and morning cortisol levels was found solely in women. In Paper III, leisure time physical activity was significantly associated with less obesity and insulin resistance in both genders. In contrast, occupational physical activity was associated with higher levels of obesity and insulin resistance, albeit solely in women. In Paper IV, clusters of AMI risk factors were explored and the three principal factors that emerged were identical for men and women. However, while left ventricular hypertrophy, used as a sub-clinical measure of CHD, was significantly associated with the main metabolic factor in both genders, left ventricular hypertrophy was associated with the addiction factor solely in men. These population-based results show that not only does the risk of AMI differ by gender, but also that the associations between different risk factors show gender differences. Gender differences were also observed with regard to both lifestyle [Paper III, Paper IV] and biological measures [Paper I, Paper II, Paper IV].

Despite the established knowledge that high and long-term increased cortisol levels lead to abdominal obesity (as seen in Cushing's disease), inverse associations between cortisol levels and abdominal obesity were found in women [Paper II). This is also in accordance with findings from some previous studies [221-225], and has been hypothesized to be a result of enhanced local clearance rate of cortisol that in turn might impair the negative feedback control of the HPA-axis and lead to an increased cortisol secretion [226, 227]. Thus, even though previous studies show that women with abdominal obesity appear to have lower levels of circulating morning cortisol [221-225], there are indications that they still have an increased cortisol secretion [221], which would also explain the findings in paper II of higher abdominal obesity in spite of low morning cortisol levels. Still, the reason for the gender differences found here are not clear. However, a study from Whitehall II [272] found a bidirectional effect of job strain on body

mass index in men, while there were indications of solely a positive association in women. Thus, in men in the highest body mass index quintile (>27) at baseline, job strain and low job control were associated with increased body mass index at follow-up, while the association in men in the lowest quintile of body mass index (<22kg/m²) at baseline was reversed at follow-up. Even though it is speculative, given the fact that stress was not accounted for here, these findings may hold some of the explanation for the null-findings between cortisol and abdominal obesity in men [Paper II].

Furthermore, women with high levels of occupational physical activity were significantly more abdominally (as well as generally) obese and insulin resistant [Paper III]. Although educational level was adjusted for, residual confounding might still be present and women in professions involving high occupational physical activity might be more vulnerable to e.g. stress related to low socioeconomic status. It is therefore tempting to also ponder whether increased cortisol output in response to stress could be a potential part of the explanation for the higher occurrence of abdominal obesity and insulin resistance in these women. However, stress was not accounted for in Paper II, and when self-perceived stress was included in Paper III as a covariate, the relationship between occupational physical activity and obesity/insulin resistance remained. Thus, whether the findings from Paper II and Paper III are in fact interlinked remains uncertain, especially since the findings here and elsewhere with regard to cortisol are not fully understood. More thorough investigations with regard to stress, cortisol, and abdominal obesity are therefore needed to further elucidate if and how the current associations are interlinked and what the impact is on a population-level. Nevertheless, the potential importance of the dysregulation of the HPA-axis in relation to obesity, as well as to CHD, is further emphasised by recent findings from Whitehall II [149, 150, 225], as well as from another population-based study [148], where different measures of cortisol have been found to be significantly associated with obesity [225], coronary artery calcification [150], and cardiovascular mortality [148, 149].

When eight of the most acknowledged AMI risk factors were included in a factor analysis to identify clusters of risk factors [Paper IV], the three principal factors produced were identical for men and women. The first and main factor contained WHR, HOMA-ir, systolic blood pressure, and apolipoprotein B/apolipoprotein A1, thus perfectly matching the general perception of how cardiovascular risk factors cluster in the metabolic syndrome [73-75]. While leisure time physical activity has been found to be inversely associated with metabolic risk factors both here (Paper III) and elsewhere [273], the findings that it failed to load on the metabolic factor here and instead loaded together with self-rated health, suggests that it is involved in other important mechanisms too. Furthermore, the fact that all of the risk factors more directly related to lifestyle loaded on secondary factors seems to indicate that the clustering of metabolic risk factors is stronger than any effect that lifestyle may have on the individual metabolic components.

Whereas the findings from the factor analysis [Paper IV] were identical in men and women, some interesting gender differences emerged when the factors' associations with left ventricular hypertrophy were examined. The metabolic factor was significantly associated with left ventricular hypertrophy in both genders; however, the addiction factor (containing alcohol and smoking) was significantly associated with left ventricular hypertrophy in men only. Still, since the separate analysis for smoking revealed no association with left ventricular hypertrophy in either gender, and since alcohol consumption alone was associated with left ventricular hypertrophy solely in men, it is tempting to draw the conclusion that alcohol consumption is the main driving force behind the finding with regard to the addiction factor. However, since women in this cohort consumed considerably less alcohol than men, it is difficult to elucidate whether the different results are thus an effect of differing causal mechanisms or whether it is merely a question of less exposure in women and thus less power to detect an association. Even so, it is also important to consider the possibility that the addiction factor comprise other factors that were not measured here and are thus yet to be revealed. Furthermore, it remains to be seen if prospective studies using left ventricular hypertrophy or AMI as an outcome can confirm these crosssectional associations with regard to different clusters of risk factors.

Paper I is the only longitudinal study in this thesis and it also revealed some considerable gender differences regarding the impact of type 2 diabetes on the risk of AMI mortality. While the findings of women with type 2 diabetes losing their general advantage vs. men with regard to CHD risk is in accordance with previous studies, most previous studies have found gender differences in risk factor levels to be the explanation. In contrast, the interaction-term between type 2 diabetes and gender with regard to AMI mortality in Paper I remained statistically significant when adjusting for other well-known cardiovascular risk factors. This might also indicate that any potential gender differences in diabetes treatment, which have been seen before [205] and suggested as one of several possible explanations for the higher CHD risk in women with diabetes [31], would not explain the female disadvantage found in Paper I. Still, residual confounding might be at play, in so far as other risk factors than those accounted for could be of importance. For example, women with type 2 diabetes have been found to be in a higher prothrombotic state than men with type 2 diabetes [274], which might predispose them to plaque rupture and thrombosis [31], and thus increase their risk of AMI. Cardiovascular risk factors might not just be more common in women with type 2 diabetes, but could possibly have a higher impact in women than in men [31]. This has, for example, been seen with regard to dyslipidemia [203, 275-276] and hypertension [203, 277]. Gender differences in medical treatment after a CHD

event have also been suggested to explain the higher CHD mortality for women with diabetes than in men [31]. However, this is not supported by findings from a recent study concerning all patients admitted to Swedish coronary care units between 1995 and 2002 [207]. In that study gender differences in treatment after an AMI event did not explain the poorer outcome in women with diabetes that was found in those <65 years of age compared to men of corresponding age.

Lastly, structural or functional differences of the heart and blood vessels between men and women with diabetes have also been proposed as a possible explanation for the greater increase of CHD risk in women with type 2 diabetes [31]. One example is endothelial dysfunction, which seems to be more severe in women with type 2 diabetes than in men with type 2 diabetes [31]. In addition, genetic predisposition for endothelial dysfunction seems to predict AMI morbidity more strongly in women than in men with type 2 diabetes [278]. Furthermore, the influence of reproductive hormones and hormone replacement therapy in women with diabetes might also be of relevance. Early observational studies found hormone replacement therapy to have a beneficial effect on CHD risk, both in women in general [279], and in women with type 2 diabetes [280]. However, later randomised trials found no effect or even an increased risk in some cases [11, 12]. and the protective effect seen in observational studies was then deemed to depend on a healthy user effect [281]. However, more recent studies indicate that time of hormone replacement therapy initiation might be of importance, in that there is a decreased risk in younger women receiving hormone replacement therapy within 10 years of menopause, whereas women starting on hormone replacement therapy later (and thus being older) have an increased risk [13]. White et al [14] recently proposed that estrogen might target nitric oxide synthases within the vascular wall. Normally in younger women, the primary product of estrogen action is nitric oxide, which contributes to vascular health in several ways. However, when women get older there are indications that nitric oxide synthase instead starts producing the detrimental reactive oxygen species, superoxide, in response to estrogen, which would explain the dual findings with regard to age in the risk of CHD induced by hormone replacement therapy. The authors [14] further proposed that diabetes, similarly to increasing age, might reverse the estrogen response with regard to nitric oxide synthase in favour of superoxide. This would thus explain why the general female advantage in CHD risk is lost in women with diabetes [14] and why HRT in some studies has been associated with CHD solely in women with diabetes [32]. HRT was not accounted for in Paper I. However, while any potential use of HRT in our women with type 2 diabetes might have strengthened the association seen between type 2 diabetes and CHD in women, the main risk increase would still most likely be attributable to diabetes itself, according to White et al's theory [14]. Thus, whereas all, or at least most, of the proposed explanations for the gender differences seen in paper I (and elsewhere) might be at play to some extent, there is increasing evidence that type 2 diabetes in itself actually does have a more detrimental effect in women than in men.

In summary, AMI originates from both biological factors and lifestyle and there are considerable gender differences in the risk of developing the disease and also in the distribution of those risk factors generally seen to be associated with AMI. Gender differences are also apparent in how these different types of risk factors are interrelated, which have been further illuminated here. Thus, this thesis highlights the need for considering and addressing potential gender differences at all stages of preventive and interventional work aiming to reduce the burden of AMI.

Methodological considerations

Representativeness and generalizability

The cohorts used for the studies in the present thesis all showed high participation rates. In Paper I, the study data originated from the patient survey and the population survey from Skara. All patients with hypertension and/or type 2 diabetes who had their annual check-up at the out-patient clinic between 1992 and 1993 were included in the patient survey. As the out-patient clinic is the only clinic in the area [186], the included subjects in all likelihood covers the vast majority of subjects with known hypertension and type 2 diabetes in the municipality. However, a few subjects with hypertension and/or type 2 diabetes who were in need of frequent appointments with their family physician did not attend the out-patient clinic in Skara, and neither did some patients living in nursing homes. However, these non-participating subjects would probably be older than 85 years or have considerable co-morbidities and higher mortality rates. Thus, as the study was aimed mainly at primary and secondary prevention, these subjects would not be as relevant to include as younger patients or those with less comorbidity. In the Skara population survey in 1993-1994, a computer-generated random sample was obtained from the population census register from Skara (no exclusion criteria). Of the selected subjects 80% participated. Apart from an intentional three-fold oversampling in those below 50 years of age, subjects from the Vara-Skövde cohort were selected in the same fashion as in Skara and the participation rates were 81% and 70% respectively. This high participation rate together with the random selection, are aspects that enhance the representativeness of the study sample. However, subjects who chose not to participate in surveys have in some studies been found to be less healthy and to have a higher mortality rate than those who do participate [282, 283]. Thus, even though not always
present [282], the risk of selection bias must always be considered when there is non-participation. Still, if any non-response bias applies to our cohort, such bias would most likely only have attenuated any potential associations found. Furthermore, even though the population in Vara and Skövde might differ in some respect compared to more urbanised areas in Sweden, our study samples might still be regarded as representative of the general Swedish population, and the results should thus also be generalizable to other countries that are similar to Sweden as a whole and possibly also to other countries.

Population-based studies differ to a great extent from experimental studies. Whereas the strength of experimental studies is the possibility to thoroughly measure numerous variables under controlled conditions, this is seldom possible in a population-based study, because of the large number of study subjects. Instead, the strength of epidemiological studies, such as those presented in this thesis, is the high number of study participants and that they usually to a higher degree than in experimental studies are representative of the source population, due to the random selection. Thus, any conclusion drawn from an adequate sized population-based study is more likely to be generalizable to the putative background population. Population-based studies can therefore, on a population level, provide a test of the relevance of biological mechanisms found in smaller, selected samples in experimental studies. Thus, in a translational perspective it is important to combine these two methods in order to put biomolecular findings into an epidemiological context.

Validity

Endpoints

Information on the end-points in Paper I, AMI mortality and all-cause mortality, was collected by record linkage with the Swedish national mortality and in-patient registers. Even though this has previously been deemed a valid method [195, 196], several precautions were taken to assure the validity of the data. For example, all death certificates were also obtained and examined, and the certificates showing multiple diagnoses were double-checked to ascertain that the underlying cause of death had been chosen according to general recommendations. Fatal events of AMI were accepted even when another diagnosis was listed as the underlying cause of death in the National Mortality Register, unless it was a diagnosis of a malignant disease. All certificates of patients dying outside of hospital were also especially examined, along with their diagnosis in the mortality register, to be able to establish a correct diagnosis in those cases where the amount of evidence was considered scarce. To further increase validity, two persons (Larsson CA, Jungå

K) created the end point register, working side by side to double-check all steps. The coordinator for the Skaraborg Project (Lindblad U) surveyed the process and took the final decision in spurious cases, blinded as to the exposure status of the study subjects in question. The examination of death certificates for persons dying outside of hospital revealed four cases with uncertain diagnoses. Furthermore, the examination of deaths with multiple diagnoses, which was conducted to correct inaccurate hierarchy of diagnoses, revealed six additional AMI events, whereas one event was excluded. While the validation used in Study I increases the correctness of the end-points, the overall impact on the validity of the data are most likely not substantial.

Risk factors

The field team who collected the data for the Vara-Skövde cohort included members of the team from the Skara studies. All team members were trained and calibrated in methodological procedures prior to the studies of the Skara cohorts and again prior to the studies of the Vara-Skövde cohort. Thus, inter-observer variation was kept at a minimum and standards maintained over time. To limit misclassification, the nurses on site briefly examined the questionnaires when collecting them, to make sure that they were filled out properly. The data was also entered twice, i.e. the same raw data was entered into two separate data base spread sheets, in order to detect errors at input. In addition, all variables have been checked by frequency listing to reveal implausible values.

In contrast to many other epidemiological studies, the diagnoses of hypertension and diabetes used in the present studies were based on repeated measurements when the first measurements at baseline showed values exceeding the diagnostic criteria. This strengthens the validity of the diagnoses, as using measurements from only one occasion might lead to over-diagnosing with regard to values only temporarily increased. However, the diagnostic criteria were, in line with international standards, higher in the beginning of the nineties than today. This is often a problem with longitudinal studies and in this case one that could not be corrected in retrospect because of the repeated measurements, which were only performed when the first measurement showed increased blood pressure or blood glucose. Due to the older, and higher, diagnostic thresholds employed in Paper I, the patient groups here were accordingly containing proportionally more patients at higher risk than they would have, if today's diagnostic criteria had been used. However, the population sample is also containing more subjects at increased risk and had the new criteria been used, the change in hazard ratios, if any, would most likely have been small and the conclusions drawn would probably still be the same. A possible limitation applying only to the surveys in Skara is the lack of routine screening for impaired glucose metabolism with oral glucose tolerance test in patients with hypertension and in the participants of the population survey.

Consequently, some patients might have been incorrectly categorised as having only hypertension when in fact they also had type 2 diabetes. Some subjects in the reference population might also have been deemed healthy when they should have been diagnosed with type 2 diabetes, and thus not included among the controls. Still, the number of subjects affected by such misclassification is most likely to have been small, and if anything, the effect of this would probably only have weakened our results. Since participants from the Vara-Skövde cohort all had an oral glucose tolerance test done, any potential limitation with regard to diagnosis of diabetes and hypertension does not apply to study II-IV.

In Study II, morning and evening cortisol were measured, which might have involved some potential sources of error. Cortisol was measured from saliva and the participants collected the saliva themselves at home. Since cortisol is a potent stress hormone there are obvious advantages associated with allowing the participants to collect the saliva themselves in a familiar environment. However, to ensure an accurate measure, participants were instructed to; 1) abstain from food, drinks, snuff, smoking, tooth brushing, and exertion in the hour before saliva collection; 2) to rinse their mouths with water 15 minutes before the sampling; 3) to rest for at least 15 minutes before sampling. Thus, considering that the procedure of the sampling did involve a fair amount of specific instructions that may have been perceived as inconvenient to follow, it is not unlikely that some participants might have failed to comply with all these instructions. Furthermore, the morning cortisol values are based on a single measurement in our study. Since cortisol levels rise very sharply in the morning there is a risk of misclassification due to lack of adjustment for time of awakening and actual time of sampling. However, there is no reason to believe that these potential sources of misclassification would be systematic, and if anything they would only have weakened our findings.

Other clinical risk factors investigated in Paper II-IV were all measured according to previously validated methods [188-191]. However, information about several of the lifestyle related risk factors were collected from questionnaires and thus based on self-report. Self-reported information from surveys has a disadvantage due to the risk of self-reporting inaccuracy. Unhealthy subjects might be more likely to underestimate risk behaviour and healthy people might be more prone to underestimate healthy behaviour. In large observational studies it is not always practically or economically possible to more objectively measure lifestyle variables such as physical activity, alcohol consumption, and smoking. However, it is becoming increasingly popular to do so, especially with regard to physical activity, for example by using pedometers. Still, these measures do not ensure valid data either, as e.g. a pedometer does not detect all kinds of movement, and also, participants who know that they are under observation might alter their behaviours. Nevertheless, the question about leisure time physical activity used in the current studies has been extensively used previously and is considered valid [284, 285]. The statistically significant association between high leisure time physical activity and low heart rate (Paper III) also supports the internal validity of the question used. Furthermore, if misclassification were to apply with regard to leisure time physical activity, it would probably only have attenuated our associations. Still, the validity of the other questions related to lifestyle is less known and thus a potential methodological weakness.

Implications for public health strategies

The high prevalence of overweight and obesity seen in all the Skaraborg cohorts [Paper I-IV] and elsewhere [286, 287], and its association with several other AMI risk factors [Paper II-IV], call for interventions to combat these conditions. Since leisure time physical activity has been found to be associated with lower prevalence of both abdominal and general obesity here [Paper III] and elsewhere [10, 11, 242, 243], activating subjects physically should be the main focus. The focus on physical activity might be especially important as it not only targets obesity but also several other CHD risk factors, such as insulin resistance [Paper III], blood pressure, and lipid levels. In addition, physical activity is known to improve mood and relieve stress, which might have beneficial effects on cortisol levels as well. Even though increasing physical activity might be considered the most important intervention together with smoking cessation/prevention, other lifestyle modifications should also be considered, such as improved diet and drinking habits. The finding of an increased association between the addiction factor (comprising alcohol consumption and smoking) and left ventricular hypertrophy in men [Paper IV] suggests that this combination of risk factors should be especially considered.

The apparent gender differences, both with regard to the risk of AMI and in the association between different AMI risk factors, also call for more gender specific interventions. Whereas paper I did not confirm previous findings of higher risk factor levels in women with type 2 diabetes being the reason for their increased risk of AMI, women with type 2 diabetes should still be especially targeted with regard to reduction of all AMI risk factors levels, since residual confounding might be at play. The findings in paper III also stress the importance of considering the work setting for public health strategies, and perhaps especially with regard to women.

In general, the findings of this thesis emphasize the need for gender-specific interventions aiming at reducing AMI and its risk factors. Gender differences need to be addressed with regard to both biological and psychosocial aspects.

Future research

Even though type 2 diabetes has severe implications for men as well, further research is needed to understand the specific mechanisms behind the more pronounced risk increase of AMI in women than men once they develop type 2 diabetes. The influence of estrogen on nitric oxide synthases and its consequences in women with type 2 diabetes, might be of special interest.

Data on basal cortisol levels in both men and women and in different age-groups are needed from different population-based studies to confirm the findings in Paper II of generally higher basal cortisol levels in women than in men. More studies are also needed with regard abdominal obesity in association with cortisol levels. In Paper II morning salivary cortisol was inversely associated with abdominal obesity. Since this has been seen in previous studies concurrently with a positive association between total 24-h urinary cortisol secretion and abdominal obesity [221], future studies should include both of these cortisol measures as well as at least an evening measure too to explain these spurious dual associations. The relevance of peripheral cortisol metabolism also needs to be further investigated, especially on a population level. Since cortisol is a stress hormone, measures of stress should be taken into account and the bidirectional association previously found solely in men with regard to change in body mass index and work stress [272] highlights the need for longitudinal studies. Furthermore, previous studies have indicated that reproductive hormones have an effect on the regulation of the HPA-axis, and inclusion of reproductive hormones in future studies does thus seem prudent.

The different findings with regard to occupational physical activity and leisure time physical activity in association with obesity and insulin resistance warrant further investigation. To help identify targets for intervention, more thorough measurement of potential confounders is needed to assess whether confounding is in fact the reason for the positive finding in women, as suggested. Questions that differentiate between aerobic and anaerobic types of both occupational and leisure time physical activity would help to ascertain if different types of physical activity have different effects on the metabolism and if the occurrence or impact in that case differs between men and women. More studies are needed to further explore the interaction between female gender and high leisure time physical activity in association with insulin resistance.

The addiction factor was only associated with left ventricular hypertrophy in men [Paper IV]. Future studies are needed to investigate if some factor inherent in one or the other of the separate variables (alcohol consumption and smoking) that loaded on the addiction factor is particularly responsible for the findings, or if there is some other variable/s of importance that has not yet been identified but that also clusters together with smoking and alcohol consumption, and perhaps especially so in men. The possibility of the male heart being particularly vulnerable to the cluster of variables, or to any of the single variables, also needs to be considered and further explored. As for all of the cross-sectional findings in this thesis, the associations with regard to left ventricular hypertrophy need to be confirmed in longitudinal studies to establish causality.

AMI is a serious condition in both genders. However, as further highlighted in the present thesis, potential gender differences need to be taken into consideration in all kinds of future research within this area in order to improve the prognosis in both men and women. As genetic predisposition applies to most kinds of medical conditions, future studies should also explore the relevance of genetic mechanisms with regard to the finding of this thesis.

Conclusions

General conclusion

In these population-based studies, considerable gender differences emerged both in the risk of AMI and in the way in which different risk factors for AMI interrelate.

Specific conclusions

- Type 2 diabetes has a higher impact on AMI mortality in women than in men, independent of several major AMI risk factors.
- Salivary cortisol is generally higher in women than in men, and in older than younger individuals. Low morning cortisol and low diurnal variation in cortisol levels were associated with high levels of abdominal obesity; however, solely in women.
- Leisure time and occupational physical activity show different associations with regard to obesity and insulin resistance. While the associations with regard to leisure time physical activity were inverse in both men and women, the associations with regard to occupational physical activity were positive, albeit only in women.
- Common risk factors for AMI cluster in the same way in men and women. However, while the principal "metabolic" factor was significantly associated with LVH in both genders, the "addiction" factor (comprising alcohol and smoking) was associated with LVH solely in men, and the vitality factor (leisure time physical activity and SRH) neither in men nor in women.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

År 2008 insjuknade 37 156 personer i akut hjärtinfarkt i Sverige och av dessa dog 10 509 personer. Akut hjärtinfarkt är därmed den vanligaste dödsorsaken i Sverige, men även i resten av världen. Generellt sett insjuknar män ungefär 10 år tidigare än kvinnor i hjärtinfarkt och män har därför en högre total risk att insjukna, även om hjärtinfarkt är den vanligaste dödsorsaken även hos kvinnor.

Akut hjärtinfarkt definieras av den syrebrist och påföljande celldöd i hjärtmuskeln som uppkommer då blodflödet i hjärtat dramatisk minskar. Denna reduktion av blodflöde uppkommer av att en blodpropp bildats, antingen p g a en kärlskada, eller p g a att plack i kärlväggen lossnat. Bakgrunden till varför en blodpropp och därmed hjärtinfarkt uppkommer är mångfacetterad, men brukar uppfattas som en samverkan mellan livsstil, ärftlighet och socioekonomiska faktorer (är "psykosociala faktorer" bättre?).

I denna avhandling har deltagare från Skaraborgsprojektet i Västra Götaland studerats. Mellan 1992 och 1993 genomfördes en studie i Skara av 1149 patienter med högt blodtryck och/eller diabetes. En likadan undersökning genomfördes 1993-1994 på ett slumpmässigt urval av 1109 personer från befolkningsen i Skara. Mellan 2001 och 2005 genomfördes även två befolkningsstudier på ett slumpmässigt urval från invånarna i Vara (1811 personer) respektive Skövde (1005 personer).

Skillnader mellan män och kvinnor avseende dödligheten i akut hjärtinfarkt undersöktes i delarbete I hos personer med typ 2 diabetes och hypertoni (högt blodtryck) med en frisk population som jämförelsegrupp. Typ 2 diabetes hos kvinnor visade sig ha en mycket större negativ inverkan på risken att drabbas av en dödlig hjärtinfarkt än hos män. Detta fynd kunde inte förklaras av eventuella skillnader i ålder eller i förekomst av andra riskfaktorer, såsom blodtryck, blodfetter, fetma, och fysisk aktivitet.

I delarbete II studerades stresshormonet kortisol i relation till kön, ålder samt graden av bukfetma. Kvinnor hade generellt högre kortisolnivåer än män, medan äldre personer hade högre nivåer än yngre individer. Låga nivåer av kortisol på morgonen och låg dygnsvariation av kortisol var associerat till bukfetma, men endast hos kvinnor.

Kopplingen mellan fysisk aktivitet på fritid respektive på arbetet undersöktes i delarbete III i relation till fetma och insulinresistens. Högre grad av fysisk aktivitet på fritiden var som förväntat relaterat till lägre grad av generell fetma, bukfetma och insulinresistens hos både män och kvinnor, vilket var förväntat. För fysisk aktivitet i samband med arbetet var dock sambandet det omvända hos kvinnor, d v s högre grad av fysisk aktivitet på arbetet var relaterat till högre grad av fetma och insulin resistens. Detta sistnämnda samband kunde inte förklaras av uppmätta skillnader i ålder, utbildning, fysisk aktivitet på fritiden, eller alkohol konsumtion. Skillnader i andra faktorer som ej mättes i studien, t ex kosthållning, är förmodligen den troligaste förklaringen till de omvända fynden beträffande fysisk aktivitet på arbetet samt till skillnaderna mellan könen. Eventuella skillnader i hur ämnesomsättningen reagerar på olika typer av fysisk aktivitet bör dock också beaktas, liksom inverkan av framför allt utdragen belastning i form av stress.

I delarbete IV undersöktes hur några av de mest erkända och betydande riskfaktorerna för hjärtinfarkt samvarierar. Detta gjordes genom en så kallad faktoranalys där man studerar hur de olika variablerna faller ut i grupper som förmodas representera gemensamma underliggande mekanismer. Intressant nog framkom ett mönster med tre dominerande faktorer som var identiska för båda könen. Riskfaktorer relaterade till det så kallade "Metabola syndromet", såsom bukfetma, insulinresistens, högt blodtryck och lipidrubbningar visade sig vara den starkaste faktorn hos både män och kvinnor (den metabola faktorn). Hos båda könen visade sig även fysisk inaktivitet på fritiden och låg självskattad hälsa höra (vitalitetsfaktorn). samman samt alkohol konsumtion och rökning (beroendefaktorn). Dessa tre faktorer undersöktes sedan i relation till vänsterkammarhypertrofi som anses vara en mycket stark riskfaktor för hjärtinfarkt och en icke-symtomgivande manifestation av kranskärlssjukdom. Medan den metabola faktorn var associerad med vänsterkammarhypertrofi hos båda könen, så var beroendefaktorn kopplad till vänsterkammarhypertrofi endast hos män, och vitalitetsfaktorn varken hos män eller kvinnor.

Denna avhandling visar att könsskillnader är påtagliga både beträffande risken att insjukna i hjärtinfarkt och hur olika riskfaktorer för hjärtinfarkt relaterar till varandra. Dessa fynd understryker vikten av att hänsyn till kön tas i alla stadier av förebyggande och behandlande arbete som syftar till att reducera bördan av hjärtinfarkt i befolkningen.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all of those who in different ways have contributed to bringing this thesis to completion:

Ulf Lindblad, my main supervisor, for your endless patience, and for your friendly and pedagogical way of leading me into the world of science. You have always believed in me, supported me, and looked out for me, and I feel truly privileged to have had the opportunity to learn from someone with such great knowledge and experience of scientific research. I can only hope that some of your expertise has rubbed off on me!

Lennart Råstam, my co-supervisor, for your critical thinking and valuable comments about my work. I would also like to thank you for believing in me to begin with and for offering me the opportunity of a PhD position. You have provided me with a very good working environment throughout the years and you have always supported and looked out for me.

Juan Merlo, my co-supervisor, for your friendly support and valuable in-put in methodological aspects of my thesis.

Bo Gullberg, "my" biostatistician and co-author, for so generously sharing your impressive knowledge and supporting me whenever I have needed it.

Louise Bennet, my dear colleague and co-author, for your valuable contribution to paper III and for your friendly support.

Bledar Daka, my colleague and co-author, for sharing your knowledge in such a friendly and supportive way with regard to paper IV.

Lotte Krøll, for your valuable contribution to Paper III.

Elizabeth Cantor-Graee, for your great help with linguistic revisions and for always letting me "pick your brain" about research in general and about my own work in particular. I am truly grateful that you have shared your sharp thinking and scientific knowledge and experience so generously. You have been like a mentor for me in the last year, but most of all you have been a true friend.

To Anette Agardh and P-O Östergren, for welcoming me to your research group and for providing me with good working conditions for the past couple of years.

To the field team of the Skaraborg project, for all your great work with the data collection.

To Kerstin Troein, for your excellent administrative help and for patiently putting up with my chaos.

To Eva Dutch, for great administrative help and for technical assistance in making some of the figures in the articles.

To Cecilia Holm, for technical assistance in making some of the figures in the articles.

To Sara Lindeberg, for your friendship and support, and for all the interesting discussions about research and life.

To Maria Nyholm, Caroline Andersson, and Jenny Eckner for collegial support and friendship.

Karin Jungå, for your friendship and support when we worked together, and for "head-hunting" me to the PhD position. This book would never have been written if it had not been for you!

To all my colleagues at Community Medicine and Family medicine for your friendly support over the years.

To all my "new" colleagues at Social Medicine and Global Medicine, for welcoming me to your group and for showing interest in my work. I also want to thank Elena for offering to be of administrative help if I should need it.

To other colleagues and friends at CRC, for offering me friendly support and guidance, especially Martin Lindström and Nick Giordano.

To all of my friend out in "the real world" for supporting and encouraging me, and especially to Anna for your wonderful text message in response to my worries: "You're gonna make it - you always do!". Encouragement cannot come in a nicer package than that!

To all members of my dear family for always believing in me and supporting me. I especially want to thank my mum and dad for all help with child-minding and other practical things in the most stressful times; without your help I would not have been able to manage!

To Jonny, Maria, and Astrid, for your support and for putting up with a stressed partner/bonus-mother. I also want to thank Jonny for seeing my potential many years ago and for the way you encouraged me to start using it.

To my son Jack, for being you and for all the joy you bring into my life!

References

- 1. The World Health Organization. The World Health Report: 2004: changing history. Geneva, The World Health Organization, 2004.
- 2. Allender S, Scarborough P, Peto V, Rayner M, Leal J, Luengo-Fernandez R, et al. European cardiovascular disease statistics. 2008 edition.
- 3. Fuster V, Moreno PR, Fayad ZA, Corti R, Badimon JJ. Atherothrombosis and high-risk plaque. Part I. Evolving concepts. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;46:937-54.
- 4. Ross R. Atherosclerosis is an inflammatory disease. Am Heart J 1999;138:S419-S420.
- 5. Moreno PR, Falk E, Palacios IF, Newell JB, Fuster V, Fallon JT. Macrophage infiltration in acute coronay syndromes. Implications for plague rupture. Circulation 1994;90:775-8.
- 6. Official statistics of Sweden. Statistics Health and Medical Care. Myocardial infarctions in Sweden1987-2007. The National Board of Health and Welfare (Socialstyrelsen). Stockholm 2010. *In Swedish*
- Official statistics of Sweden. Statistics Health and Medical Care. Causes of death 2008. The National Board of Health and Welfare (Socialstyrelsen). Stockholm 2010. *In Swedish*
- Tunstall-Pedoe H, Kuulasmaa K, Mähönen M, Tolonen H, Ruokokoski E, Amouyel P. Contributions of trends in survival and coronary-event rate to changes in coronary heart disease mortality: 10-year results from 37 WHO MONICA Project populations. Lancet 1999;353:1547-57.
- 9. Wilhelmsen L, Rosengren A, Johansson S, Lappas G. Coronary heart disease attack rate, incidence and mortality 1975-1994 in Göteborg, Sweden. Eur Heart J 1997;18:572-81.
- Björck L, Rosengen A, Bennett K, Lappas G, Capewell S. Modelling the decreasing coronary heart disease mortality in Sweden between 1986 and 2002. Eur Heart J 2009;30:1046-156.
- 11. Hulley S, Grady D, Bush T, Furberg C, Herrington D, Riggs B, et al. Randomized trial of estrogen plus progestin for secondary prevention of coronary heart disease in postmenopausal women. JAMA 1998;280:605-13.

- 12. Manson JAE, Hsia J, Johnson KC, JE, Assaf AR, Lasser NL, et al. Estrogen plus progestrin and the risk of coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med 2003;349:523-34.
- 13. Rossouw JE, Prentice RL, Manson JE, Wu L, Barad D, Barnabei VM, et al. Postmenopausal hormone therapy and risk of cardiovascular disease by age and years since menopause. JAMA 2007;297:1465-77.
- 14. White RE, Gerrity R, Barman SA, Han G. Estrogen and oxidative stress: A novel mechanism that may increase the risk for cardiovascular disease in women. Steroids 2010;75:788-93.
- 15. Ohlsson C, Labrie F, Barrett-Connor E, Karlsson MK, Ljunggen O, Vadenput L. Low serum levels of dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate predict all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in elderly Swedish men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010;95:4406-14.
- Laughlin GA, Goodell V, Barrett-Connor E. Extremes of endogenous testosterone are associated with increased risk of incident coronary events in older women. J Endocrinol Metab 2010;95:740-7.
- 17. Patel SM, Ratcliffe SJ, Reilly MP, Weinstein R, Bhasin S, Blackman MR. Higher serum testosterone concentration in older women is associated with insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome, and cardiovascular disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009;94:4776-84.
- 18. TanYY, Gast GC, van der Schouw YT. Gender differences in risk factors for coronary heart disease. Maturitas 2010;65:149-60.
- 19. Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. Diabet Med 1998;15:539-53.
- 20. Laakso M, Kuusisto J. Understanding patients needs. Diabetology for cardiologists. Eur Heart J 2003 Suppl;5:B5-B13.
- 21. Reaven GM. Insulin resistance and compensatory hyperinsulinemia: Role in hypertension, dyslipidemia, and coronary heart disease. Am Heart J 1991;121:1283-8.
- 22. Zethelius B, Nilsson PM. Insulinresistens riskfaktor för hjärt-kärlsjukdom. In: Nilsson PM, Ollson AG, Zethelius, editors. Metabola Syndromet – bakgrund, mekanismer och behandling. Studentlitteratur, Lund, Sweden 2006. *In Swedish*
- 23. Ahlqvist E, Ahluwalla TS, Groop L. Genetics of type 2 diabetes. Clin Chem 2011 57;241-54.
- 24. Singh S, Dhingra S, Ramdath DD, Vadev S, Gill V, Singal PK. Risk factors preceding type 2 diabetes and cardiomyopathy. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 2010;3:580-96.

- 25. Newsome CA, Shiell AW, Fall CHD, Phillips DIW, Shier R, Law CM. Is birth weight related to later glucose and insulin metabolism? a systematic review. Diabet Med 2003;20:339-48.
- 26. Whincup PH, Kaye SJ, Owen CG, Huxley R, Cook DG, Anasawa S, et al. Birth weight and risk of type 2 diabetes. A systematic review. JAMA 2008;300:2886-97.
- 27. The Emerging Risk Factor Collaboration. Diabetes mellitus, fasting blood glucose concentration, and risk of vascular disease: a collaborative meta-analysis of 102 prospective studies. Lancet 2010;375:2215-22.
- 28. Laakso M. Cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes from population to man to mechanisms. The Kelly West award lecture 2008. Diabetes Care 2010;33:442-9.
- 29. Huxley R, Barzi F, Woodward M. Excess risk of fatal coronary heart disease associated with diabetes in men and women: meta-analysis of 37 prospective cohort studies. BMJ 2006;332:73-8.
- Kanaya AM, Grady D, Barrett-Connor E. Explaining the sex difference in coronary heart disease mortality among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Arch Intern Med 2002;162:1737-45.
- 31. Rivellese AA, Riccardi G, Vaccaro O. Cardiovascular risk in women with diabetes. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2010;20:474-80.
- 32. Løkkegaard E, Pedersen AT, Heitmann BL, Jovanovic Z, Keiding N, Hundrup YA, et al. Relation between hormone replacement therapy and ischaemic heart disease in women: prospective observational study. BMJ 2003;326:426-30.
- 33. Barrett-Connor E, Cohn BA, Wingard DL, Edelstein SL. Why is diabetes mellitus a stronger risk factor for fatal ischemic heart disease in women than in men? The Rancho Bernardo Study. JAMA 1991;265:627-31.
- 34. Socialstyrelsen. Folkhälsorapporten 2009. Edita Västra Aros, Västerås, Sverige 2009. *In Swedish*
- Guidelines Subcommittee. 1999 World Health Organization International society of hypertension guidelines for the management of hypertension. J Hypertens 1999;17:151-83.
- 36. Labarthe DR. Epidemiology and prevention of cardiovascular diseases: A global challenge. Aspen Publishers, Inc. Gaithersburg, Maryland, USA 1998.
- 37. Staessen JA, Wang J, Bianchi G, Birkenhäger WH. Essential hypertension. Lancet 2003;361:1629-41.
- 38. Reaven GM. Insulin resistance: the link between obesity and cardiovascular disease. Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am 2008;37:581-601.

- Reaven GM. Relationships among insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes, essential hypertension, and cardiovascular disease: Similarities and differences. J Clin Hypertens 2011;238-43.
- 40. Esler M, Eikelis N, Schlaich M, Lambert G, Alvarenga M, Dawood T. Chronic mental stress is a cause of essential hypertension: presence of biological markers of stress. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 2008;35:498-502.
- 41. Lewington S, Clarke R, Qizilbash N, Peto R, Collins R; Prospective Studies Collaboration. Age-specific relevance of usual blood pressure and vascular mortality: a meta-analysis of individual data for one million adults in 61 prospective studies. Lancet 2002;360:1903-13.
- 42. Lawes CM, Rodgers A, Bennett DA, Parag V, Suh I, Ueshima H, et al. Blood pressure and cardiovascular disease in the Asia Pacific region. J Hypertens 2003;21:707-16.
- 43. MacMahon S, Peto R, Cutler J, Collins R, Sorlie P, Neaton J. Blood pressure, stroke, and coronary heart disease. Part 1. Prolonged differences in blood pressure: prospective observational studies corrected for the regression dilution bias. Lancet 1990;335:765-74.
- 44. Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ôunpuu S, Dans T, Avezum A, Lanas F, et al. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. Lancet 2004;364:937-52.
- 45. Vasan RS, Larson MG, Leip EP, Evans JC, O'Donnell CJ, Kannel WB, et al. Impact of high-normal blood pressure on the risk of cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med 2001;345:1291-7.
- 46. Selmer R. Blood pressure and twenty-year mortality in the city of Bergen, Norway. Am J Epidem 1992;136:428-40.
- Carlsson AC, Theobald H, Hellenius M-L, Wändell PE. Cardiovascular and total mortality in men and women with different blood pressure levels – A 26-year follow-up. Blood Pressure 2009;18:105-10.
- SBU. Måttligt förhöjt blodtryck, volym 1. En systematisk litteraturöverskrift. Stockholm: Statens beredning för medicinsk utvärdering (SBU; 2004. SBUrapport nr 170/1. *In Swedish*
- 49. Lindblad U, Johanna Ek, Eckner J, Larsson CA, Shan G, Råstam L. Prevalence, awareness, treatment and control of hypertension rule of thirds in the Skaraborg Project. *Submitted*
- 50. Poirier P, Giles TD, Bray GA, Hong Y, Stern JS, Pi-Sunyer FX, et al. Obesity and cardiovascular disease: Pathophysiology, evaluation, and effect of weight los: an update of the 1997 American Heart Association Scientific Statement on Obesity and Heart Disease from the Obesity Committee of the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism. Circulation 2006;113:898-918.

- 51. Clinical Guidelines on the identification, evaluation, and treatment of overweight and obesity in adults The Evidence Report. National Institutes of Health. Obes Res 1998;6:51S-209S.
- 52. Lavie CJ, Milani RV, Ventura HO. Obesity and cardiovascular disease: risk factor, paradox, and impact of weight loss. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009;53:1925-32.
- 53. Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ôunpuu S, Bautista L, Franzosi MG, Commerford P, et al. Obesity and the risk of myocardial infarction in 27 000 participants from 52 countries: a case-control study. Lancet 2005;366:1640-9.
- 54. Canoy D, Boekholdt M, Wareham N, Luben R, Welch A, Bingham S. Body fat distribution and risk of coronary heart disease in men and women in the European Prospective Investigation Into Cancer and Nutrition in Norfolk Cohort: A population-based prospective study. Circulation 2007;16:2933-43.
- 55. de Koning L, Merchant AT, Pogue J, Anand SS. Waist circumference and waistto-hip ratio as predictors of cardiovascular events: meta-regression analysis of prospective studies. Eur Heart J 2007;28:850-6.
- 56. Després J-P, Lemieux I, Bergeron J, Pibarot P, Mathieu P, Larose E, et al. Abdominal obesity and the metabolic syndrome: Contribution to global cardiometabolic risk. Arterioscler Thromb Vac Biol 2008;28:1039-49.
- 57. Pedersen SB, Jonler M, Richelsen B. Characterization of regional and gender differences in glucocorticoid receptors and lipoprotein lipase activity in human adipose tissue. J CLin Endocrionl Metab 1994;78:1354-9.
- 58. Després J-P, Lemieux I. Abdominal obesity and metabolic syndrome. Nature 2006;444:881-7.
- 59. The Swedish National Instituet of Public Health. Nationella folkhälsoenkäten 2010 [Internet]. [Cited 2011 October 22] *In Swedish* Available at: http://www.fhi.se/Statistik-uppfoljning/Nationella-folkhalsoenkaten/
- 60. Nyholm M, Gullberg B, Merlo J, Lundqvist-Persson, Råstam L, Lindblad U. The validity of obesity based on self-reported weight and height: Implications for population studies. Obesity 2007;15:197-208.
- 61. Lin Y, Mousa SS, Elshourbagy N, Mousa SA. Current status and future directions in lipid management: emphasizing low-density lipoproteins, high-density lipoproteins, and triglycerides as targets for therapy. Vasc Health Risk Manag 2010;6:73-85.
- 62. Wilson PWF, D'Agostino RB, Levy D, Belanger AM, Silbershatz H, Kannel WB. Prediciton of coronary heart disease using risk factor categories. Circulation 1998;97:1837-47.
- 63. Sniderman AD, Junger I, Holme I, Aastveit A, Walldius G. Errors that result from using the TC/HDL C ratio rather than the apoB/apoA-1 ratio to identify the lipoprotein-related risk of vascular disease. J Intern Med 2006;259:455-61.

- 64. National cholesterol education program (NCEP) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Third report of the national cholesterol education program (NCEP) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report. Circulation 2002;106;3143-421.
- 65. Pilote L, Dasgupta K, Guru V, Humphries KH, McGrath J, Norris C, et al. A comprehensive view of sex-specific issues related to cardiovascular disease. CMAJ 2007;176:S1-S44.
- 66. Langsted A, Freiberg JJ, Tybjærg-Hansen A, Schnohr P, Jensen GB, Nordestgaard BG. Nonfasting cholesterol and triglycerides and association with risk of myocardial infarction and total mortality: the Copenhagen City Heart Study with 31 years of follow-up. J Intern Med 2011;270:65-75.
- 67. Austin MA, Hokanson JE, Edwards KL. Hypertriglyceridemia as a cardiovascular risk factor. Am J Cardiol 1998;81:7B-12B.
- 68. Hokanson JE, Austin MA. Plasma triglyceride level is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease independent of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol level: a meta-analysis of population-based prospective studies. J Cardiovasc Risk 1996;3:213-9.
- 69. Avins AL, Neuhaus JM. Do triglycerides provide meaningful information about heart disease risk? Arch Int Med. 2000;160:1937-44.
- 70. Morrison A, Hokanson JE. The independent relationship between triglycerides and coronary heart disease. Vasc Health Risk Manag 2009;5:89-95.
- 71. Castelli WP, Anderson K, Wilson PW, Levy D. Lipids and risk of coronary heart disease: the Framingham Study. Ann Epidemiol 1992;2:23-8.
- 72. Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ. The metabolic syndrome. Lancet 2005;365:1415-28.
- 73. Balkau B, Charles MA. Comment on the provisional report from the WHO consultation. Diabet Med 1999;16:442-3.
- 74. Reaven GM. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. Diabetes 1988;37:1595-607.
- 75. Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults. Executive summary of the third report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). JAMA 2001;285:2486-97.
- 76. Lempiäinen P, Mykkänen L, Pyörälä K, Laakso M, Kuusisto J. Insulin resistance syndrome predicts coronary heart disease events in elderly nondiabetic men. Circulation 1999;100:123-8.

- 77. Lindblad U, Langer RD, Wingard DL, Thomas RG, Barrett-Connor EL. Metabolic syndrome and ischemic heart disease in elderly men and women. Am J Epidemiol 2001;153:481-9.
- 78. Opie LH. Metabolic syndrome. Circulation 2007;115:e32-e35.
- 79. Ford ES. Risk for all-cause mortality, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes associated with the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Care 2005;28:1769-78.
- 80. Hunt KJ, Resendez RG, Williams K, Haffner SM, Stern MP. National cholesterol education program versus world health organization: Metabolic syndrome in relation to all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in the San Antonio Heart Study. Circulation 2004;110:1251-7.
- 81. Bentley-Lewis R, Koruda K, Seely EW. The metabolic syndrome in women. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab 2007;3:696-704.
- 82. Kahn R, Buse J, Ferrannini E, Stern M. The metabolic syndrome: time for a critical appraisal. Joint statement from the American Diabetes Association and European Association for the Study of Diabetes. Diabetologia 2005;48:1684-99.
- 83. Reaven GM. The metabolic syndrome: time to get off the merry-go-round? J Intern Med 2011;269:127-36.
- 84. Nilsson PM, Engström G, Hedblad B. The metabolic syndrome and incidence of cardiovascular disease in non-diabetic subjects a population-based study comparing three different definitions. Diabet Med 2007;24:464-72.
- 85. Halldin M, Rosell M, d Faire U, Hellenius M-L. The metabolic syndrome: Prevalence and association to leisure-time and work-related physical activity in 60-year-old men and women. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2007;17:349-57.
- 86. Gause-Nilsson I, Gherman S, Kumar Dey D, Kennerfalk A, Steen B. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome in an elderly Swedish population. Acta Diabetol 2006;43:120-6.
- 87. Regitz-Zagrosek V, Lehmkuhl E, Mahmoodzadeh S. Gender aspects of the role of the metabolic syndrome as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease. Gender Med 2007;4:S162-S177.
- 88. Doll R, Hill AB. Mortality in relation to smoking: Ten years' observations of British doctors. BMJ 1964;1:1399-410.
- Mähönen MS, McElduff P, Dobson AJ, Kuulasmaa KA, Evans AE, for the WHO MONICA Project. Current smoking and the risk of non-fatal myocardial infarction in the WHO MONICA Project populations. Tobacco Control 2004;13:344-50.
- 90. Parish S, Collins R, Peto R, Youngman L, Barton J, Jayne K, et al. Cigarett smoking, tar yields, and non-fatal myocardial infarction: 14 000 cases and 32 000 controls in the United Kingdom. BMJ 1995;311:471-7.

- 91. Teo KK, Ounpuu S, Hawken S, Pandey MR, Valentin V, Hunt D, et al. Tobacco use and risk fo myocardial infarction in 52 countries in the INTERHEART study: a case-control study. Lancet 2006;368:647-58.
- 92. Ambrose JA, Barua RS. The pathophysiology of cigarette smoking and cardiovascular disease. An update. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004;43:1731-7.
- 93. Huxley RR, Woodward M. Cigarette smoking as a risk factor for coronary heart disease in women compared with men: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Lancet 2011; E-pub August 11.
- 94. Statistics Sweden. Undersökningar av levnadsförhållanden (ULF). 2010 [Internet]. [Cited 2011 October 23] [In Swedish] Available from: http://www.scb.se/Pages/Product____12199.aspx
- 95. Ronksley PE, Brien SE, Turner BJ, Mukamal K, Ghali WA. Association of alcohol consumption with selected cardiovascular disease outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2011;342:d671.
- 96. Brien SE, Ronksley PE, Turner BJ, Mukamal KJ, Ghali WA. Effect of alcohol consumption on biological markers associated with risk of coronary heart disease: systematic review and meta-analysis of interventional studies. BMJ 2011;342:d636.
- 97. Ramstedt M, Axelsso Sohlberg, Engdahl, Svensson. Tal om alkohol 2008. En statistisk årsrapport från monitor-projektet. Forskningsrapport nr 54. SoRAD, Stockholm 2009.
- 98. The president's Council on Physical Fitness and Sports. Physical Activity and Health: A report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, Ga: National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, US Dept of Health and Human sciences; 1996.
- 99. Sofi F, Capalbo A, Marcucci R, Gori AM, Fedi S, Macchi C, et al. Leisure time physical activity but not occupational physical activity significantly affects cardiovascular risk factors in an adult population. Eur J Clin Invest 2007;37:947-53.
- 100. Berengo NC, Kastarinen M, Lakka T, Nissinen A, Tuomilehto J. Different forms of physical activity and cardiovascular risk factors among 24-64-year-old men and women in Finland. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2006;13:51-9.
- 101. Whelton SP, Chin A, Xin X, He J. Effect of aerobic exercise on blood pressure: A Meta-Analysis of randomized, controlled trials. Ann Intern Med 2002;136:493-503.
- 102. Womack CJ, Nagelkirk PR, Coughlin AM. Exercise-induced changes in coagulation and fibrinolysis in healthy populations and patients with cardiovascular disease. Sports Med 2003;33:795-807.

- 103. Wärnberg J, Cunningham K, Romeo J, Marcos A. 3rd International Immunonutrition Workshop. Session 6: Role of physical activity on immune function. Physical activity, exercise, and low-grade systemic inflammation. Proceedings of the Nutr Soc 2010;69:400-6.
- 104. Blair SN, Cooper KH, Gibbons LW, Gettman LR, Lewis S, Goodyear N. Changes in coronary heart disease risk factors associated with increased treadmill time in 753 men. Am J Epidemiol 1983;118:352-9.
- 105. Helmrich SP, Ragland DR, Leung RW, Paffenbarger RS. Physical activity and reduced occurrence of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med 1991;325:147-52.
- 106. Kaczynski AT, Manske SR, Mannell RC, Grewal K. Smoking and physical activity: A systematic review. Am J Health Behav 2008;32:93-110.
- 107. Pitsavos C, Panagiotakos DB, Lentzas Y, Stefanadis C. Epidemiology of leisuretime physical activity in socio-economic, lifestyle and psychological characteristics of men and women in Greece: the ATTICA Study. BMC Public Health 2005;5:37.
- 108. Boutelle KN, Murray DM, Jeffery RW, Hennrikus DJ, Lando HA. Associations between exercise and health behaviors in a community sample of working adults. Prevent Med 2000;30:217-24.
- 109. Shiroma EJ, Lee I-M. Physical activity and cardiovascular health: Lessons learned from epidemiological studies across age, gender, and race/ethnicity. Circulation 2010;122:743-52.
- 110. Barengo NC, Hu G, Lakka TA, Pekkarinen H, Nissinen A, Tuomilehto J. Low physical activity as a predictor for total and cardiovascular disease mortality in middle-aged men and women in Finland. Eur Heart J 2004;25:2204-11.
- 111. Altieri A, Tavani A, Gallus S, La Vecchia. Occupational and leisure time physical activity and the risk of nonfatal acute myocardial infarction in Italy. Ann Epidemiol 2004;14:461-6.
- 112. Oliviera A, Barros H, Lopes C. Gender heterogeneity in the association between lifestyle and non-fatal acute myocardial infarction. Public Health Nutrition 2009;12:1799-806.
- 113. Salonen JT, Slater JS, Tuomilehto J, Rauramaa R. Leisure time and occupational physical activity: risk of death from ischemic heart disease. Am J Epidemiol 1988;127:87-94.
- 114. Berlin JA, Colditz GA. A meta-analysis of physical activity in the prevention of coronary heart disease. Am J Epidemiol 1990;132:612-28.
- 115. Rosengren A, Wilhelmsen L. Physical activity protects against coronary death and deaths from all causes in middle-aged men. Evidence from a 20-year followup of the Primary Prevention Study in Göteborg. Ann Epidemiol 1997;7:69-75.

- 116. Stender M, Hense H-W, Döring A, Keil U. Physical activity at work and cardiovascular disease risk: Results from the MONICA Augsburg Study. Intern J Epidemiol 1993;22:644-50.
- 117. Tuomi K. Characteristics of work and life predicting coronary heart disease. Finnish Research Project on Aging Workers. Soc Sci Med 1994;38:1509-19.
- 118. Kristal-Boneh E, Harari G, Melamed S, Froom P. Association of physical activity at work with mortality in Israeli industrial employees: The CORDIS Study. 2000;42:127-35.
- 119. Bak H, Petersen L, Sorensen TIA. Physical activity in relation to development and maintenance of obesity in men with and without juvenile onset obesity. Int J Obes 2004;28:99-104.
- 120. Hajian-Tilaki KO, Heidari B. Prevalence of obesity, central obesity and associated factors in urban population aged 20-70 years, in the north of Iran: a population-based study and regression approach. Obes Rev 2007;8:3-10.
- 121. King GA, Fitzhugh EC, Bassett Jr DR McLaughlin, Strath SJ, Swartz AM, et al. Relationship of leisure-time physical activity and occupational activity to the prevalence of obesity. Int J Obes 2001;25:606-12.
- 122. Pols M, Peeters PHM, Twisk JWR, Kemper HCG, Grobbee DE. Physical acticity and cardiovascular disease risk profile in women. Am J Epidemiol 1997;146:322-8.
- 123. Oppert J-M, Thomas F, Charles M-A, Benetos A, Basdevant A, Simon C. Leisure-time and occupational physical activity in relation to cardiovascular risk factors and eating habits in French adults. Public Health Nutr 2006;9:746-54.
- 124. Graff-Iversen S, Selmer R, Sørensen M, Skurtveit S. Occupational physical activity, overweight, and mortality: A follow-up study of 47,405 Norwegian women and men. Res Q Exerc Sport 2007;78:151-61.
- 125. Albus C. Psychological and social factors in coronary heart disease. Ann Med 2010;42:487-94.
- 126. Avendano M, Kunst AE, Huisman M, Lenthe FV, Bopp M, Regidor E. Socioeconomic status and ischaemic heart disease mortality in 10 western European populations during the 1990s. Heart 2006;92:461-7.
- 127. Clark AM, DesMeules M, Luo W, Duncan AS, Wielgosz. Socioeconomic status and cardiovascular disease: risk and implications for care. Nat Rev Cardiol 2009;6:712-22.
- Statistics Sweden. Befolkningens utbildning 2010. [Internet]. [Cited 2011 October 24] In Swedish Available from: http://www.scb.se/Pages/PublishingCalendarViewInfo____259923.aspx?PublObj Id=15074

- 129. DeSalvo KB, Bloser N, Reynolds K, He J, Muntner P. Mortality prediction with a single general self-rated health question. A meta-analysis. J Gen Intern Med 2005;20:267-75.
- 130. Dowd JB, Zajacova A. Does the predictive power of self-rated health for subsequent mortality risk vary by socioeconomic status in the US? Int J Epidemiol 2007;36:1214-21.
- 131. Huisman M, van Lenthe F, Mackenbach J. The predictive ability of self-assessed health for mortality in deifferent educational groups. Int J Epidemiol 2007;36:1207-13.
- 132. vanDoorslaer E, Gerdtham U-G. Does inequality in self-assessed health predict inequality in survival by income? Evidence from Swedish data. Soc Sci Med 2003;57:1621-9.
- 133. Idler EL, Russell LB, Davis D. Survival, functional limitations, and self-rated health in the NHANES I Epidemiologic Follow-up Study, 1992. Am J Epidemiol 2000;152:874-83.
- 134. Toivanen S. Exploring the interplay between work stress and socioeconomic position in relation to common health complaints: The role of interaction. Am J Ind Med 2011;54:780-90.
- 135. Khang Y-H, Kim HR. Self-rated health and mortality: gender- and age-specific contributions of explanatory factors in South Korea. Int J Public Health 2010;55:279-89.
- 136. Mackenbach JP, Simon JG, Looman CWN, Joung IMA. Self-assessed health and mortality: could psychosocial factors explain the association? Int J Epidemiol 2002;31:1162-8.
- 137. Sapolsky RM. Why zebras don't get ulcers: the aclaimed guide to stress, stressrelated diseases, and coping. Holt Paperbacks, New York, USA 2004.
- 138. Rosengren A, Hawken S, Ôunpuu S, Sliwa K, Zubaid M, Almahmeed WA, et al. Association of psychosocial risk factors with risk of acute myocardial infarction in 11 119 cases and 13 648 controls from 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. Lancet 2004;364:953-62.
- 139. Strike PC, Steptoe A. Psychosocial factors in the development of coronary heart disease. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2004;46:337-47.
- 140. Kyrou I, Chrousos GP, Tsigos C. Stress, visceral obesity, and metabolic complications. Ann NY Acad Sci 2006;1083:77-110.
- 141. Aguilera G, Rabadan-Diehl C. Psychoneuroimmunology: conditioning and stress. Ann Rev Psychol 1993;44:53-85.
- 142. Romero LM, Sapolsky RM. Patterns of ACTH secretagog secretion in response to psychological stimuli. J Neurendocrinol 1996;8:243-58.

- 143. Kyrou I, Tsigos C. Stress hormones: physiological stress and regulation of metabolism. Curr Opin Pharmacol 2009;9:787-93.
- 144. Gallagher TF, Yoshida K, Roffwarg HD, Fukushima DK, Wetzman ED, Hellman L. ACTH and cortisol secretory patterns in man. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1973, 36:1058-68.
- 145. Macfarlane DP, Forbes S, Walker BR. Glucocorticoids and fatty acid metabolism in humans: fuelling fat redistribution in the metabolic syndrome. J Endocrinol 2008;197:189-204.
- 146. Girod JP, Brotman DJ. Does altered glucocorticoid homeostasis increase cardiovascular risk? Cardiovasc Res 2004;64:217-226.
- 147. Tsigos C, Chrousos GP. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, neuroendocrine factors and stress. J Psychosom Res 2002;53:865-71.
- Vogelzangs N, Beekman TF, Milaneschi Y, Bandinelli S, Ferrucci L, Penninx BWJH. Urinary cortisol and six-year risk of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010;95:4959-64.
- 149. Kumari M, Shipley M, Stafford M, Kivimaki M. Association of diurnal patterns in salivary cortisol with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality: Findings from the Whitehall II Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011;96:1478-85.
- 150. Hamer M, O'Donnel K, Lahiri A, Steptoe A. Salivary cortisol responses to mental stress are associated with coronary artery calcification in healthy men and women. Eur Heart J 2010;31:424-9.
- 151. Seedat S, Scott KM, Angermeyer MC, Berglund P, Bromet EJ, Brugha TS. Cross-national associations between gender and mental disorders in the World Health Organization World Mental Helath Surveys. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2009;66:785-95.
- 152. Kajantie E, Phillips DIW. The effects of sex and hormonal status on the physiological response to acute psychosocial stress. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2006;31:151-78.
- 153. Kudielka BM, Hellhammer DH, Wüst S. Why do we respond so differently? Reviewing determinants of human salivary cortisol responses to challenge. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2009;32:2-18.
- 154. Gosse P. Left ventricular hypertrophy the problem and possible solutions. J Int Med Res 2005;33:3A-11A.
- 155. Massie BM. Myocardial hypertrophy and cardiac failure: a complex interrelationship. Am J Med 1983;75:67-74.
- 156. Diéz J, Querejeta R, López B, González A, Larman M, Martínez Ubago JL. Losartan-dependent regression of myocardial fibrosis is associated with reduction of left ventricular chamber stiffness in hypertensive patients. Circulation 2002;105:2512-7.

- 157. Ferrara AL, Vaccaro O, Cardoni O, Panarelli W, Laurenzi M, Zanchetti A. Is there a relationship between left ventricular mass and plasma glucose and lipids independent of body mass index? Results of the Gubbio Study. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2003;13:126-32.
- 158. Rodrigues SL, Ângelo LCS, Pereira AC, Krieger JE, Mill JG. Determinants of left ventricular mass and presence of metabolic risk factors in normotensive individuals. Int J Cardiol 2009;135:323-30.
- 159. Ebinc H, Ebinc FA, Özkurt ZN, Dogru T, Yilmaz M. Relationship of left ventricular mass to insulin sensitivity and body mass index in healthy individuals. Acta Cardiol 2006;61:398-405.
- 160. Rheeder P, Stolk RP, Mosterd A, Pols HAP, Hofman A, Grobbee DE. Insulin reistance syndrome and left ventricular mass in an elderly population (The Rotterdam Study). Am J Cardiol 1999;84:233-6.
- 161. Ferrara LA, Cardoni O, Mancini M, Zanchetti. Metabolic syndrome and left ventricular hypertrophy in a general population. Results from the Gubbio Study. J Hum Hypertens 2007;21:795-801.
- 162. Lieb W, Xanthakis V, Sullivan LM, Aragam J, Pencina MJ, Larson MG, et al. Longitudinal tracking of left ventricular mass over the adult life course: Clinical correlates of short- and long-term change in the Framingham Offspring Study. Circulation 2009;119:3085-92.
- 163. Yeboah J, Crouse JR, Bluemke DA, Lima JAC, Polak JF, Burke GL, et al. Endothelial dysfunction is associated with left ventricular mass (assessed using MRI) in an adult population (MESA). J Hum Hypertens 2011;25:25-31.
- 164. Heckbert SR, Post W, Pearson GDN, Arnett DK, Gomes AS, Jerosch-Herold M, et al. Traditional cardiovascular risk factors in relation to left ventricular mass, volume, and systolic function by cardiac magnetic resonance imaging: The multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006;48:2285-92.
- 165. Gardin JM, Arnold A, Gottdiener JS, Wong ND, Fried LP, Klopfenstein HS, et al. Left ventricular mass in the elderly. The Cardiovascular Health Study. Hypertension 1997;29:1095-103.
- 166. Gidding SS, Xie X, Liu K, Manolio T, Flack JM, Gardin JM. Cardiac function in smokers and nonsmokers. The CARDIA Study. JACC 1995;26:211-6.
- 167. Kupari M, Koskinen P, Suokas A. Left ventricular size, mass and function in relation to the duration and quantity of heavy drinking in alcoholics. Am J Cardiol 1991;67:274-9.
- 168. Marcus R, Krause L, Weder AB, Dominguez-Mejia, Schork NJ, Julius S. Sexspecific determinants of increased left ventricular mass in the Tecumseh Blood Pressure Study. Circulation 1994;90:928-36.

- 169. Gardin JM, Wagenknecht LE, Anton-Culver H, Flack J, Gidding S, Kurosaki T. Relationship of cardiovascular risk factors to echocardiographic left ventricular mass in healthy young black and white adult men and women. The CARDIA Study. Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults. Circulation 1995;92:380-7.
- 170. Manolio TA, Levy D, Garrison RJ, Castelli WP, Kannel WB. Relation of alcohol intale to left ventricular mass: The Framingham study. JACC 1991;17:717-21.
- 171. Maron BJ, Pellicia A. The heart of trained athletes: cardiac remodelling and the risk of sports, including sudden death. Circulation 2006;114:1633-44.
- 172. Spirito P, Pelliccia A, Proschan MA, Granata M, Spataro A, Bellone P. Morphology of the "athlete's heart" assessed by echocardiography in 947 elite athletes representing 27 sports. Am J Cardiol 1994;74:802-6.
- 173. Pluim BM, Zwinderman AH, van der Laarse A, van der Wall EE. The athlete's heart. A meta-analysis of cardiac structure and function. Circulation 2000;101:336-44.
- 174. Maron BJ, Pelliccia A, Spirito P. Cardiac disease in young trained athletes. Insights into methods for distinguishing athlete's heart from structural heart disease with particular emphasis on hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Circulation 1995;91:1596-601.
- 175. Pelliccia A, Maron BJ, Spataro A, Proschan MA, Spirito P. The upper limit of physiologic cardiac hypertrophy in highly trained elite athletes. N Engl J Med 1991;324:295-301.
- 176. Turkbey EB, Jorgensen NW, Johnson WC, Bertoni AG, Polak JF, Diez Roux AV, et al. Physical activity and physiological cardiac remodelling in a community setting: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). Heart 2010;96:42-8.
- 177. Pitsavos C, Chrysohoou C, Koutroumbi M, Aggeli C, Kourlaba G, Panagiotakos D, et al. The impact of moderate aerobic physical training on left ventricular mass, exercise capacity and blood pressure response during treadmill testing in borderline and mildly hypertensive males. Hellenic J Cardiol 2011;52:6-14.
- 178. Baglivo HP, Fabregues G, Burrieza H, Esper RC, Talarico M, Esper RJ. Effect of moderate physical training on left ventricular mass in mild hypertensive persons. Hypertension 1990;15:I153-6.
- 179. Kokkinos PF, Narayan P, Colleran JA, Pittaras A, Notargiacomo A, Reda D, et al. Effects of regular exercise on blood pressure and left ventricular hypertrophy in African-American men with severe hypertension. N Engl J Med 1995;333:1462-7.
- 180. Rogers MW, Probst MM, Gruber JJ, Berger R, Boone JB. Differential effects of exercise training intensity on blood pressure and cardiovascular responses to stress in borderline hypertensive humans. J Hypertens 1996;14:1369-75.

- Hagberg JM, Montain SJ, Martin WH 3rd, Ehsani AA. Effect of exercise training in 60- to 69-year-old persons with essential hypertension. Am J Cardiol 1989;64:348-53.
- 182. Pescatello LS, Fargo AE, Leach CN, Scherzer HH. Short-term effect of dynamic exercise on arterial blood pressure. Circulation 1991;83:1557-61.
- 183. Kannel WB, Gordon T, Offutt D. Left ventricular hypertrophy by electrocardiogram. Prevalence, incidence, and mortality in the Framingham study. Ann Intern Med 1969;71:89-105.
- 184. Levy D, Garrison RJ, Savage DD, Kannel WB, Castelli WP. Prognostic implications of echocardiographically determined left ventricular mass in the Framingham heart study. N Engl J Med 1990;322:1561-6.
- 185. Ingelsson E, Ridderstråle M, Söderström M, Rastam L, Lindblad U. The PGC1-α Gly482Ser polymorphism is associated with left ventricular diastolic dysfunction in men. BMC Cardiovascular Disord 2008;8:37.
- 186. Bøg-Hansen E, Lindblad U, Bengtsson K, Ranstam J, Melander A, Råstam Lennart. Risk factor clustering in patients with hypertension and non-insulindependent diabetes mellitus. The Skaraborg Hypertension Project. J Intern Med 1998;243:223-32.
- 187. Garde AH, Hansen AM. Long-term stability of salivary cortisol. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 2005,65:433-6.
- 188. Råstam L, Sjönell G. A new device for measuring blood pressure in adults. Letter, Lancet 1991;337:249-50.
- 189. Gottdiener JS, Bednarz J, Devereux R, Gardin J, Klein A, Manning WJ, et al. American Society of Echocardiography recommendations for use of echocardiography in clinical trials. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2004;17:1086-119.
- 190. Mogensen CE, Viberti GC, Peheim E, Kutter D, Hasslacher C, Hofman W, et al. Multicenter evaluation of the Micral-Test II test strip, an immunologic rapid test for the detection of microalbuminuria. Diabetes Care 1997;20:1642-6.
- 191. Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. Diabetologia 1985;28:412-9.
- 192. National Board of Health and Welfare, Drug Information Committee. Treatment of mild hypertension. Stockholm, Sweden 1987.
- 193. Guidelines Sub-Committee. 1989 Guidelines for the management of mild hypertension: memorandum from a World Health Organization/International Society of Hypertension meeting. J Hypertens 1989;7:689-93.
- 194. World Health Organization Expert Committee. Diabetes mellitus. Technical Report series no. 742, Geneva, Switzerland, 1985.

- 195. Lindblad U, Rastam L, Ranstam J, Peterson M. Validity of register data on acute myocardial infarction and acute stroke: The Skaraborg Hypertension Project. Scand J Soc Med 1993;1:3-9.
- 196. Merlo J, Lindblad U, Pessah-Rasmussen H, Hedblad B, Rastam J, Isacsson SO, et al. Comparison of different procedures to identify probable cases of myocardial infarction and stroke in two Swedish prospective cohort studies using local and national routine registers. Eur J Epidemiol 2000;16:235-43.
- 197. Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, Cushman WC, Green LA, Izzo JL et al. The seventh report of the joint national committee on prevention, detection, evaluation and treatment of high blood pressure. JAMA 2003;289:2560-72.
- 198. World Health Organization. Report of a WHO Consultation: Obesity: Preventing and Managing the Global Epidemic. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2000.
- 199. Haffner SM, Miettinen H, Stern MP. The homeostasis model in the San Antonio Heart Study. Diabetes Care 1997;20:1087-92.
- 200. de Simone G, Devereux RB, Maggioni AP, Gorini M, de Divitis O, Verdecchia P. Different normalizations for body size and population attributable risk of left ventricular hypertrophy: The MAVI Study. AJH 2005;18:1288-93.
- 201. de Simone G, Devereux RB, Chinali M, Roman MJ, Lee ET, Resnick HE, et al. Metabolic syndrome and left ventricular hypertrophy in the prediction of cardiovascular events: The Strong Heart Study. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2009;19:98-104.
- 202. Lee WL, Cheung AM, Cape D, Zinman B: Impact of diabetes on coronary artery disease in women and men: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. Diabetes Care 2000;23:962-8.
- 203. Juutilainen A, Kortelainen S, Lehto S, Rönnemaa T, Pyörälä K, Laakso M: Gender difference in the impact of type 2 diabetes on coronary heart disease risk. Diabetes Care 2004;27:2898-904.
- 204. Jonsson PM, Sterky G, Gafvels C, Ostman J. Gender equity in health care: the case of Swedish diabetes care (Review). Health Care Women Int 2000;21:413-31.
- 205. Nilsson PM, Theobald H, Journath G, Fritz T. Gender differences in risk factor control and treatment profile in diabetes: a study in 229 Swedish primary health care centres. Scand J Prim Health Care 2004;22:27-31.
- 206. Ferrara A, Williamson DF, Karter AJ, Thompson TJ, Kim X. Sex differences in quality of health care related to ischemic heart disease prevention in patients with diabetes. Diabetes Care 2004;27:2974-6.
- 207. Norhammar A, Stenestrand U, Lindbäck J, Wallentin L. Women younger than 65 years with diabetes mellitus are a high-risk group after myocardial infarction: a

report from the Swedish Register of Information and Knowledge about Swedish Heart Intensive Care Admission (RIK-HIA). Heart 2008;94:1565-70.

- 208. Plutzky J. Macrovascular effects and safety issues of therapies for type 2 diabetes. Am J Cardiol 2011;108:25B-32B.
- 209. Parati G, Bilo G, Ochoa JE. Benefits of tight blood pressure control in diabetic patients with hypertension. Diabetes Care 2011;34:S297-S303.
- Van Cauter E, Leproult R, Kupfer DJ. Effects of gender and age on the levels and circadian rhytmicity of plasma cortisol. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1996;81:2468-73.
- Seeman TE, Singer B, Wilkinson CW, McEwen B: Gender differences in agerelated changes in HPA axis reactivity. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2001;26:225-40.
- 212. Kudielka BM, Buske-Kirschbaum A, Hellhammer DH, Kirschbaum C: HPA axis responses to laboratory psychosocial stress in healthy elderly adults, younger adults, and children. impact of age and gender. Psychoneroendocrinology 2004;29:83-98.
- 213. Zhao Z-Y, Lu F-H, Xie Y, Fu Y-R, Bogdan A, Touitou Y: Cortisol secretion in the elderly. Influence of age, sex and cardiovascular disease in a Chinese population. Steroids 2003;68:551-5.
- 214. Giordano R, Bo M, Pellegrino M, Vezzari M, Baldi M, Picu A, et al. Hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal hyperactivity in human aging is partially refractory to stimulation by mineralocorticoid receptor blockade. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005;90:5656-62.
- 215. Ferrari E, Cravello L, Muzzoni B, Casarotti D, Paltro M, Solerte SB, et al. Agerelated changes of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenak axis: pathophysiological correlates. Eur J Endocrinol 2001;144:319-29.
- 216. Otte C, Yassouridis A, Jahn H, Maass P, Stober N, Wiedemann K, et al. Mineralocorticoid receptor-mediated inhibition of the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal axis in aged humans. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2003;58:B900-B905.
- 217. Wilkinson CW, Peskind ER, Raskind MA. Decreased hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal axis sensitivity to cortisol feedback inhibition in human aging. Neuroendocrinology 1997;65:79-90.
- 218. Laughlin GA & Barrett-Connor E. Sexual dimorphism in the influence of advanced aging on adrenal hormone levels: The Rancho Bernardo Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2000;85:3561-8.
- 219. Gusenoff JA, Harman M, Veldhuis JD, Jayme JJ, St Clair C, Münzer T, et al. Cortisol and GH secretory dynamics, and their interrelationships, in healthy aged women and men. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2001;280:E616-E625.

- 220. Sjögren E, Leanderson P, Kristenson M. Diurnal saliva cortisol levels and relations to psychosocial factors in a population sample of middle-aged Swedish men and women. Int J Behav Med 2006;13:193-200.
- 221. Mårin P, Darin N, Amemiya T, Andersson B, Jern S, Björntorp P. Cortisol secretion in relation to body fat distribution in obese premenopausal women. Metabolism 1992;41:882-6.
- 222. Duclos M, Pereira PM, Barat P, Gatta B, Roger P. Increased cortisol bioavailability, abdominal obesity, and the metabolic syndrome in obese women. Obes Res 2005;13:1157-66.
- 223. Duclos M, Cordcuff J-B, Etcheverry N, Rashedi M, Tabarin A, Roger P. Abdominal obesity increases overnight cortisol excretion. J Endocrinol Invest 1999;22:465-71.
- 224. Korbonits M, Trainer PJ, Nelson ML, Howse I, Kopelman PG, Besser GM, et al. Differential stimulation of cortisol and dehydroepiandrosterone levels by food in obese and normal subjects: relation to body fat distribution. Clin Endocrinol 1996;45:699-706.
- 225. Kumari M, Chandola T, Brunner E, Kivimaki M. A nonlinear relationship of generalized and central obesity with diurnal cortisol secretion in the Whitehall II Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010;95:4415-23.
- 226. Andrew R, Phillips DI, Walker BR: Obesity and gender influence cortisol secretion and metabolism in men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1998;83:1806-9.
- 227. Björntorp P: Visceral fat accumulation: the missing link between psychosocial factors and cardiovascular disease? J Intern Med 1991; 230:195-201.
- 228. Epel ES, McEwen B, Seeman T, Matthews K, Castellazzo G, Brownell KD, et al. Stress and body shape: stress-induced cortisol secretion is consistently greater among women with central fat. Psychosom Med 2000;62:623-32.
- 229. Björntorp P, Holm G, Rosmond R: Hypothalamic arousal, insulin resistance and Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabet Med 1999;16:373-83.
- 230. Heim C, Ehlert U, Hellhammer DH. The potential role of hypocortisolism in the pathophysiology of stress-related bodily disorders. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2000,25:1-35.
- 231. Gathercole LL, Stewart PM. Targeting the pre-receptor metabolism of cortisol as a novel therapy in obesity and diabetes. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2010;122:21-7.
- Morgan SA, Tomlinson JW. 11B-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 inhibitors for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 2010;19:1067-76.
- 233. Sandeep TC, Andrew R, Homer NZM, Andrews RC, Smith K, Walker BR. Increase in vivo regeneration of cortisol in adipose tissue in human obesity and

effects of the 11B-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 inhibitor Carbenoxolone. Diabetes 2005;54:872-9.

- 234. Rask E, Walker BR, Söderberg S, Livingstone DEW, Eliasson M, Johnson O. Tissue-specific changes in peripheral cortisol metabolism in obese women: Increased adipose 11B-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 activity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002;87:3330-6.
- 235. Strain GW, Zumoff B, Kream J, Strain JJ, Levin J, Fukushima D. Sex differences in the influence of obesity on the 24 hr mean plasma concentration of cortisol. Metabolism 1982;31:209-12.
- 236. Vierhapper H, Nowotny P, Waldhausl W. Production rates of cortisol in obesity. Obes Res 2004,12:1421-1425.
- 237. Stewart PM, Boulton A, Kumar S, Clark PM, Shackleton CH. Cortisol metabolism in human obesity: Impaired cortisone→cortisol conversion in subjects with central adiposity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1999;84:1022-7
- 238. Ljung T, Holm G, Friberg P, Andersson B, Bengtsson BA, Svensson J, et al. The activity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and the sympathetic nervous system in relation to waist/hip circumference ratio in men. Obes Res 2000;8:487-95.
- 239. Duclos M, Pereira PM, Barat P, Gatta B, Roger P. Increased cortisol bioavailability, abdominal obesity, and the metabolic syndrome in obese women. Obes Res 2005;13:1157-66.
- 240. Ljung T, Andersson B, Bengtsson BA, Björntorp P, Mårin P. Inhibition of cortisol secretion by dexamethasone in relation to body fat distribution: a dose-response study. Obes Res 1996;4:277-82.
- 241. Björntorp P, Rosmond R. Neuroendocrine abnormalities in visceral obesity. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2000;24:80-5.
- 242. Saris WH, Blair SN, van Baak MA, Eaton SB, Davies PS, Di Pietro L, et al. How much physical activity is enough to prevent unhealthy weight gain? Outcome of the IASO 1st Stock Conference and consensus statement. Obes Rev 2003;4:101-14.
- 243. Paeratakul S, Popkin BM, Keyou G, Adair LS, Stevens J. Changes in diet and physical activity affect the body mass index of Chinese adults. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 1998;22:424-31.
- 244. Ford ES, Li C, Zhao G, Pearson WS, Tsai J, Churilla JR. Sedentary behaviour, physical activity, and concentrations of insulin among US adults. Metabolism 2010;59:1268-75.
- 245. Kavouras SA, Panagiotakos DB, Pitsavos C, Chrysohoou C, Anastasiou CA, Lentzas Y, et al. Physical activity, obesity status, and glycemic control: The ATTICA study. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2007;39:606-11.

- 246. Kriska AM, Pereira MA, Hanson RL, de Courten MP, Zimmet PZ, Alberti KGMM, et al. Association of physical activity and serum insulin concentrations in two populations at high risk for type 2 diabetes but differing by BMI. Diabetes Care 2001;24:1175-80.
- 247. Assah FK, Brage S, Ekelund U, Wareham NJ. The association of intensity and overall level of physical activity energy expenditure with a marker of insulin resistance. Diabetologia 2008;51:1399-407.
- 248. Balkau B, Mhamdi L, Oppert J-M, Nolan J, Golay A, Porcellati F. Physical activity and insulin sensitivity. The RISC study. Diabetes 2008;57:2613-7.
- 249. Regensteiner JG, Mayer EJ, Shetterly SM, Eckel RH, Haskell WL, Marshall JA. Relationship between habitual physical activity and insulin levels among nondiabetic men and women. San Louise Valley Diabetes Study. Diabetes Care 1991;14:1066-74.
- 250. Nuutila P, Knuuti MJ, Mäki M, Laine H, Ruotsalainen U, Teräs M, et al. Gender and insulin sensitivity in the heart and skeletal muscles. Studies using positron emission tomography. Diabetes 1995;44:31-6.
- 251. Yki-Järvinen H. Sex and insulin sensitivity. Metabolism 1984;33:1011-5.
- 252. Ball K, Owen N, Salmon J, Bauman A, Gore CJ. Associations of physical activity with body weight and fat in men and women. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2001;25:914-9.
- 253. Kaleta D, Makowiec-Dabrowska T, Jegier A. Occupational and leisure-time energy expenditure and body mass index. Int J Occup Med Environ Health 2007;20:9-16.
- 254. Gutiérrez-Fisac JL, Guallar-Castillón P, Díez-Gañán L, López GE, Banegas Banegas JR, Rodrigues Artalejo F. Work-related physical activity is not associated with body max index and obesity. Obes Res 2002;10:270-6.
- 255. Kull M, Matsi J, Raudsepp L. Relationship between various physical activity domains and self-perceived health and obesity in women. Women Health 2010;50:639-51.
- 256. Larsson I, Lissner L, Näslund I, Lindroos AK. Leisure and occupational physical activity in relation to body mass index in men and women. Scand J Nutr 2004;48:165-72.
- 257. Fransson E, de Faire U, Ahlbom A, Reuterwall C, Hallqvist J, Alfredsson L. The risk of acute myocardial infarction: interactions of types of physical activity. Epidemiology 2004;15:573-82.
- 258. Reaven GM. Role of insulin resistance in human disease (syndrome X): an expanded definition. Annu Rev Med 1993;44:121-31.

- 259. Lakka H-M, Laaksonen DE, Lakka TA, Niskanen LK, Kumpusalo E, Tuomilehto J, Salonen JT. The metabolic syndrome and total and cardiovascular disease mortality in middle-aged men. JAMA 2002;288:2709-16.
- 260. Pyörälä M, Miettinen H, Halonen P, Laakso M, Pyörälä K. Insulin resistance syndrome predicts the risk of coronary heart disease and stroke in healthy middleaged men: The 22-year follow-up results of the Helsinki policemen study. Arteroscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000;20:538-44.
- 261. Godsland IF, Leyva F, Walton C, Worthington M, Stevenson JC. Associations of smoking, alcohol and physical activity with risk factors for coronary heart disease and diabetes in the first follow-up cohort of the Heart Disease and Diabetes Risk Indicator in a Screened Cohort study (HDDRISC-1). J Intern Med 1998;244:33-41.
- 262. Maple-Brown LJ, Cunningham J, Nandi N, Hodge A, O'Dea K. Fibrinogen and associated risk factors in a high-risk population: urban indigenous Australians, the DRUID Study. Cardiovasc Diabetol 2010;9:69.
- 263. Ekkekakis P, Petruzzello SJ. Acute aerobic exercise and affect: current status, problems and prospects regarding dose-response. Sports Med 1999;28:337-74.
- 264. Dergance JM, Mouton CP, Lichtenstein MJ, Hazuda HP. Potential mediators of ethnic differences in physical activity in older Mexican Americans and European Americans: results from the San Antonio Longitudinal Study of Aging. J Am Geriatr Soc 2005;53:1240-7.
- 265. Marusic A. Factor analysis of risk for coronary heart disease: an independent replication. Int J Cardiol 2000;75:233-8.
- 266. Godsland IF, Bruce R, Jeffs JAR, Leyva F, Walton C, Stevenson JC. Inflammation marker and erythrocyte sedimentation rate but not metabolic syndrome factor score predict coronary heart disease in high socioeconomic class males: the HDDRISC study. Int J Cardiol 2004;97:543-50.
- 267. Lin T-H, Chiu H-C, Su H-M, Voon W-C, Liu H-W, Lai W-T. Association between fasting plasma glucose and left ventricular mass and left ventricular hypertrophy over 4 years in a healthy population aged 60 and older. J Am Geriatr Soc 2007;55:717-24.
- 268. Sharp SD, Williams RR. Fasting insulin and left ventricular mass in hypertensives and normotensive controls. Cardiology 1992;81:207-12.
- 269. Kotsis V, Stabouli S, Toumanidis S, Tsivgoulis, Rizos Z, Trakateli C, et al. Obesity and daytime pulse pressure are predictors of left ventricular hypertrophy in true normotensives. J Hypertens 2010;28:1065-73.
- 270. Wu CF, Sudhakar M, Jaferi G, Ahmed SS, Regan TJ. Preclinical cardiomyopathy in chronic alcoholics: A sex difference. Am Heart J 1976;91:281-6.

- 271. Walsh CR, Larson MG, Evans JC, Djousse L, Ellison RC, Vasan RS, et al. Alcohol consumption and risk for congestive heart failure in the Framingham Heart Study. Ann Intern Med 2002;136:181-91.
- 272. Kivimäki M, Head J, Ferrie JE, Shipley MJ, Brunner E, Vahtera J, Marmot MG. Work stress, weight gain and weight loss: evidence for bidirectional effects of job strain on body mass index in the Whitehall II study. Int J Obes 2006;30:982-7.
- Jiamsripong P, Mookadam M, Alharthi MS, Khandheria BK, Mookadam F. The metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease: Part 2. Prev Cardiol 2008;11:223-9.
- 274. Chan P, Pan WH. Diabetes mellitus: The higher coronary risk of female diabetic patients. Diabet Med 1995;12:504-7.
- 275. Goldschmid MG, Barrett-Connor E, Edelstein SL, Wingard DL, Cohn BA, Herman WH. Dyslipidemia and ischemic heart disease mortality among men and women with diabetes. Circulation 1994;89:991-7.
- 276. Östgren C-J, Lindblad U, Melander A, Råstam L. Survival in patients with type 2 diabetes in a Swedish community: Skaraborg hypertension and diabetes project. Diabetes Care 2002;25:1297-302.
- 277. Legato MJ, Gelzer A, Goland R, Ebner SA, Rajan S, Villagra V, et al. Genderspecific care of the patient with diabetes: Review and recommendations. Gender Med 2006;3:131-58.
- 278. Odeberg J, Larsson CA, Rastam L, Lindblad U. The Asp298 allele of endothelial nitric oxide synthase is a risk factor for myocardial infarction among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. BMC Cardiovasc Dis 2008;8:36.
- 279. Grodstein F, Manson JAE, Colditz GA, Willett WC, Speizer FE. A prospective, observational study of postmenopausal hormone therapy and primary prevention of cardiovascular disease. Ann Intern Med 2000;133:933-41.
- 280. Netwon KM, LaCroix AZ, Heckbert SR, Abraham L, McCulloch D, Barlow W. Estrogen therapy and risk of cardiovascular events among women with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2003;26:2810-6.
- 281. Barrett-Connor E. Diabetes and heart disease. Diabetes Care 2003; 26:2947-8.
- 282. Groves RM. Nonresponse rates and nonresponse bias in household surveys. Public Opin Quart 2006;70:646-75.
- 283. Barchielli A, Balzi D. Nine-year follow-up of a survey on smoking habits in Florence (Italy): higher mortality among non-responders. Int J Epidemiol 2002;31:1038-42.
- 284. Løchen ML, Rasmussen K. The Tromsø study: physical fitness, self reported physical activity, and their relationship to other coronary risk factors. J Epidemiol Community Health 1992;46:103-7.

- 285. Wilhelmsen L, Tibblin G, Aurell M, Bjure J, Ekström-Jodal B, Grimby G. Physical activity, physical fitness and risk of myocardial infarction. Adv Cardiol 1976;18:217-30.
- 286. Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Ogden CL, Curtin LR. Prevalence and trends in obesity among US adults, 1999-2008. JAMA 2010;303:235-41.
- 287. Zaninott P, Head J, Stamatakis E, Wardle H, Mindell J. Trends in obesity among adults in England from 1993 to 2004 by age and social class and projection of prevalence to 2012. J Epidemiol Community Health 2009;63:140-6.

Appendix

Paper I
Paper II

BMC Endocrine Disorders

Research article

Open Access

BioMed Central

Salivary cortisol differs with age and sex and shows inverse associations with WHR in Swedish women: a cross-sectional study Charlotte A Larsson^{*1}, Bo Gullberg¹, Lennart Råstam¹ and Ulf Lindblad^{*2,3}

Address: ¹University of Lund, Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö, Community Medicine, Malmö, Sweden, ²Department of Public Health and Community Medicine/Primary Health Care, The Sahlgrenska Academy at Gothenburg University, Gothenburg, Sweden and ³Skaraborg Institute, Skövde, Sweden

Email: Charlotte A Larsson* - charlotte_a.larsson@med.lu.se; Bo Gullberg - bo.gullberg@med.lu.se; Lennart Råstam - lennart.rastam@med.lu.se; Ulf Lindblad* - ulf.lindblad@med.lu.se * Corresponding authors

Published: 21 June 2009

BMC Endocrine Disorders 2009, 9:16 doi:10.1186/1472-6823-9-16

This article is available from: http://www.biomedcentral.com/1472-6823/9/16

© 2009 Larsson et al; licensee BioMed Central Ltd.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Received: 23 January 2009 Accepted: 21 June 2009

Abstract

Background: Most studies on cortisol have focused on smaller, selected samples. We therefore aimed to sex-specifically study the diurnal cortisol pattern and explore its association with abdominal obesity in a large unselected population.

Methods: In 2001–2004, 1811 men and women (30–75 years) were randomly selected from the Vara population, south-western Sweden (81% participation rate). Of these, 1671 subjects with full information on basal morning and evening salivary cortisol and anthropometric measurements were included in this cross-sectional study. Differences between groups were examined by general linear model and by logistic and linear regression analyses.

Results: Morning and Δ -cortisol (morning – evening cortisol) were significantly higher in women than men. In both genders older age was significantly associated with higher levels of all cortisol measures, however, most consistently with evening cortisol. In women only, age-adjusted means of WHR were significantly lower in the highest compared to the lowest quartile of morning cortisol (p = 0.036) and Δ -cortisol (p < 0.001), respectively. Furthermore, when comparing WHR above and below the mean, the age-adjusted OR in women for the lowest quartile of cortisol compared to the highest was 1.5 (1.0–2.2, p = 0.058) for morning cortisol and 1.9 (1.3–2.8) for Δ -cortisol. All findings for Δ -cortisol remained after adjustments for multiple covariates and were also seen in a linear regression analysis (p = 0.003).

Conclusion: In summary, our findings of generally higher cortisol levels in women than men of all ages are novel and the stronger results seen for Δ -cortisol as opposed to morning cortisol in the association with WHR emphasise the need of studying cortisol variation intra-individually. To our knowledge, the associations in this study have never before been investigated in such a large population sample of both men and women. Our results therefore offer important knowledge on the descriptive characteristics of cortisol in relation to age and gender, and on the impact that associations previously seen between cortisol and abdominal obesity in smaller, selected samples have on a population level.

Background

Cortisol is a potent stress hormone and the secretion is regulated by the Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal-axis (HPA-axis). Cortisol is secreted in a specific diurnal pattern with a normal curve presenting a sharp peak in the early morning to then gradually decrease over the day and end up very low in the evening and at night. Except for the increased secretion in stressful situations, there are also smaller peaks during the day when the body is exposed to exercise, food, and tobacco [1]. Aging is hypothesised to alter the function of the HPA-axis in both men and women with increasing cortisol levels as a result, especially regarding nocturnal levels [2-7]. Previous studies have also indicated that cortisol levels differ between men and women [2-5,8,9]. However, while several of the studies have found men to have higher levels than women there are inconsistencies regarding in what age-groups these findings have been seen [2-5].

Patients with Cushing's syndrome are characterised by abdominal fat accumulation and decreased hip circumference, caused by their excess cortisol secretion. Consequently, numerous studies have investigated if increased cortisol levels are associated with abdominal obesity in otherwise healthy subjects too. While some studies have found total 24 h cortisol (urinary excretion or plasma/ serum) to be positively correlated to abdominal obesity in women [10,11], others have found the opposite in women [12] or no association at all in either men [12,13] or women [14]. Furthermore, even though there are null findings too [10,15-18], morning cortisol seems to be negatively associated with abdominal obesity in both men and women [11,13,14,19-23].

The vast majority of previous studies of cortisol have focused on smaller selected groups. While these studies offer important contributions for understanding the underlying mechanisms of cortisol metabolism and its association with e.g. abdominal obesity, larger studies are needed to add information on what impact associations on smaller selected samples have on a population level. The present study was therefore designed to sex-specifically look at the diurnal salivary cortisol pattern under basal conditions and to explore the relationship between cortisol and abdominal obesity, in a large, randomly selected population.

Methods

Subjects

Vara is a small rural municipality in South-western Sweden with around 16 000 inhabitants. The population of Vara is a homogeneous population that generally resembles that of the total Swedish population. However, the Vara population has a lower level of education [24] and a lower level of foreign-born individuals [25]. Furthermore, both men and women in Vara are more obese [26], and women are less often smokers than the general Swedish population [24]. Between 2002 and 2004 a random sample from the Vara population was surveyed as part of a new population study within the Skaraborg Project. Participants were randomly selected, stratified by sex and five-year age groups, from all individuals between 30 and 74 years with a three times over-sampling in the ages 30 to 50 years as compared to those over 50 years. There were 1811 subjects who fulfilled all requirements for participation in the survey including visiting the study nurse, completion of the questionnaires, and having venous blood samples drawn (81% participation rate). After excluding a total of 140 subjects because of pregnancies (n = 5), use of cortisone medication (n = 10), missing waist circumference measurements (n = 1), and missing morning and/or evening salivary cortisol measurements (n = 124), 1671 subjects remained for further analyses in the present study. Informed consent was collected from all participants and the ethics committee at the University of Gothenburg, Sweden, approved the protocol.

Procedures

Specially educated and trained nurses saw participants in the morning after an overnight fast (10 h). Participants signed an informed consent form and were then weighed on a calibrated scale and measured in light cloths and no shoes. They had their blood pressure taken twice in a supine position and had blood samples drawn. An oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) was performed with an intake of 75 g standard glucose load [27]. In the two hours wait for the final blood drawing participants filled in a questionnaire regarding civil- and socioeconomic status, including educational level. Participants were also provided with a Salivette sampling device (cotton) along with both verbal and written instructions for usage. The instructions stated that participants were to: Collect saliva themselves at 0800 h and 2200 h (with a maximum of 30 minutes time shift) on one normal weekday within two weeks from the first study visit; abstain from food, drinks, snuff, smoking, tooth brushing, and exertion in the hour before saliva collection; rinse their mouths with water 15 minutes before the sampling; and rest for at least 15 minutes before sampling. Levels of saliva cortisol were analysed using a radioimmunoassay from Orion Diagnostica (Spectria[™] Cortisol RIA) [28]. Approximately two weeks after the first visit the participants came for a second visit to the nurses to provide detailed information on medical history and ongoing medication, and to fill in a validated questionnaire regarding smoking habits, leisure time physical activity, and alcohol intake.

Measures

Waist circumference was measured between the lowest rib margin and iliac crest and hip circumference at the largest circumference between waist and thighs. Waist-hip ratio (WHR) was defined as the ratio of waist to hip circumference.

Diurnal cortisol level (Δ -cortisol) was measured as the difference between logarithmic morning and evening saliva cortisol, which corresponds to the difference in percent between morning and evening values.

Current smoking was defined as daily smoking (yes/no). Leisure time physical activity was characterized based on four answer alternatives to the question "How physically active are you during your leisure time?". Alcohol consumption was defined by questions on how many days over the last 30 days that the subjects had consumed beer, wine, and strong liquor, respectively. Each of these questions was followed by questions on how many tins, glasses, and/or bottles that were normally consumed on such days. The total gram of alcohol consumed per week was then calculated by multiplying the number of days of alcohol drinking with the gram of alcohol that the items of consumed alcoholic beverage contain.

Educational level was examined by a question with 10 alternatives reaching from primary school to PhD-exams.

Statistical analyses

SPSS Base System for Macintosh 11.0 was used for data analyses and all analyses were sex-specific. Baseline characteristics expressed as proportions were age-standardised in five-year intervals using the whole Vara population 30-75 years as standard. Differences between groups in continuous variables were examined by GLM (general linear model) and associations between continuous variables were analysed by linear regression. Associations between categorical variables were analysed by logistic regression and expressed as odds ratios (OR) with 95 per cent confidence intervals (CI). For the logistic regression analyses of the associations between WHR and morning cortisol/Δcortisol, WHR above and below the mean was used as dependent variable and quartiles of morning and Δ -cortisol, respectively, as independent variables. Pearson's correlation coefficient was used for testing the correlation between morning and evening cortisol. Confounding by differences in age, alcohol consumption, daily smoking (yes/no), leisure time physical activity, and use of oral contraceptives or estrogen replacements was controlled for in multivariate analyses and by stratification. Subjects treated with insulin were excluded from the analyses of 2 h blood glucose. Log transformation (10th logarithm) was used to induce normality in morning and evening cortisol. All tests were two-sided and statistical significance was assumed at p < 0.05.

Results

The mean age in both men and women was 48 years (Table 1). Fasting blood glucose and blood pressure were higher in men and they reported lower levels of leisure time physical activity. Women were more often smokers than men and had higher salivary cortisol and 2 h glucose in an OGTT (Table 1).

Basal salivary cortisol

Age-differences

In both men and women evening cortisol was significantly higher in older subjects compared to younger, while the same pattern for morning cortisol was seen in men only (Table 2). In women Δ -cortisol was significantly lower in older subjects than in younger (Table 2). Test for trends over increasing age-groups, revealed highly significant trends (p ≤ 0.001) in all cortisol variables but morning cortisol in women (p = 0.215) and Δ -cortisol in men (p = 0.088).

Sex-differences

Women in general were found to have significantly higher levels of morning cortisol than men, and women under <50 years were found to have higher levels of both morning and Δ -cortisol than corresponding men (Table 1). The correlation (r) between morning and evening cortisol values were 0.297 (p < 0.001) for women and 0.240 (p < 0.001) for men.

Associations between salivary cortisol and abdominal obesity

In women, the age-adjusted mean of WHR was significantly lower in the two highest quartiles of morning cortisol compared to the lowest quartile (Figure 1 and Table 3). This association remained when also adjusting for leisure time physical activity, smoking, education, alcohol consumption, oral contraceptives, and estrogen replacements (Table 3), and was also seen in both a linear (p = 0.006) and a logistic regression analysis (OR 1.5, 1.0-2.2, p = 0.058). Similarly, the mean of WHR in the lowest quartile of Δ -cortisol in women was significantly higher than in the other three quartiles in the age-adjusted model (Figure 2 and Table 4), however, in the multivariate model the increase was only statistically significant in comparison with the second and the forth quartile (Table 4). The association between Δ -cortisol and WHR was also seen in women both above and below 50 years of age (data not shown). Moreover, a significant association between Δ-cortisol and WHR was seen in a linear regression analysis (p = 0.003) and in a logistic regression analysis (OR 1.9, 1.3-2.8), which both remained statistically significant when adjusting for multiple variables (Table 4). BMI did not affect any of the results above (data not shown).

	Women			Men			
Characteristics	m.v.	m	sd	m.v.	m	sd	p-value
			(qI-q3)			(qI-q3)	
	n = 838			n = 833			
Age, years	0	48	12	0	48	12	0.875
Fasting p-glucose, mmol L-1	0	5.3	1.1	0	5.5	1.1	0.001
2 h p-glucose, mmol L-1	33	5.8	2.1	32	5.5	2.2	0.017
Systolic BP, mm Hg	0	121	14	0	125	14	<0.001
Diastolic BP, mm Hg	0	69	9	0	72	9	<0.001
Waist circumference, cm	0	85	12	0	95	12	<0.001
Hip circumference, cm	0	102	9	0	100	9	<0.001
WHR (waist-hip-ratio)	0	0.83	0.06	0	0.94	0.06	<0.001
BMI, kg m ⁻²	1	26.8	4.5	0	26.9	4.6	0.442
Morning cortsiol, mmol L ⁻¹ , all	0	12.5	(9.0-18.0)	0	11.1	(8.0-16.0)	<0.001
Morning cortsiol, <50 years	0	12.4	(9.0-18.0)	0	10.5	(7.0-15.0)	<0.001
Morning cortsiol, \geq 50 years	0	12.5	(9.0-18.0)	0	12.1	(8.0-18.0)	0.491
Evening cortsiol, mmol L-1, all	0	2.3	(2.0-3.0)	0	2.2	(2.0-3.0)	0.132
Evening cortsiol, <50 years	0	2.2	(2.0-3.0)	0	2.1	(1.0-3.0)	0.386
Evening cortsiol, \geq 50 years	0	2.7	(2.0-3.0)	0	2.5	(2.0-3.0)	0.183
Δ -cortisol, mmol L ⁻¹ , all	0	5.3	(3.5-9.0)	0	5.0	(3.3-8.0)	0.086
Δ -cortisol, <50 years	0	5.8	(3.7–9.5)	0	5.1	(3.3-8.5)	0.004
Δ -cortisol, \geq 50 years	0	4.6	(3.0-8.0)	0	4.8	(3.0-7.7)	0.469
Alcohol consumption, g/week ^a	6	22	(0-30)	2	61	(10–77)	<0.001 ^b
	m.v.	n	%	m.v.	n	%	p-value
Oral contraceptives	-	64	6	-	-	-	-
HRT	-	26	5	-	-	-	-
Low physical activity, yes/no	8	50	7	11	67	7	0.094
Daily smoking, yes/no	3	182	21	4	128	15	0.001
Primary school only, yes/no	16	221	37	17	292	44	<0.001

Table I: Characteristics in men and women

All means (m) are adjusted for differences in age and proportions are standardised for age using the Vara population as standard. M.v. = missing values, P-glucose = plasma glucose, Δ-cortisol = logarithmic morning salivary cortisol – logarithmic evening saliva cortisol, HRT = hormone replacement therapy. For all cortisol variables means and quartiles I-3 (q1-q3) are geometric (anti-log).

^a 10 g alcohol is equivalent to approximately 1 glass of wine or 1 small beer.

^b The p-value is accounted for the generally higher physiological acceptance for alcohol in men as compared to women.

When WHR was substituted by waist circumference in each of the analyses above, the patterns generally remained, however, with less degree of statistical significance (Table 3 and 4). In men, morning cortisol and Δ cortisol were not associated with either WHR or waist circumference (Figure 1 and 2, Table 3 and 4).

For evening cortisol there was no significant association with WHR (Figure 3 and Table 5) or waist circumference in either women or men (Table 5). However, in women both morning (p = 0.001) and evening values (p = 0.049) were significantly associated with WHR when simultaneously entered in an age-adjusted linear regression model. This association was not seen for waist circumference.

Discussion

In this cross-sectional study we found significant age- and sex-differences in diurnal cortisol levels. Levels were generally higher in women than men and in older subjects compared to younger. We also found abdominal obesity to be significantly associated with low morning cortisol and low diurnal variation of cortisol, but only in women. To our knowledge, these associations have never before been investigated in such a large population sample of both men and women.

Basal salivary cortisol

Age-differences

In the present study age was associated with higher morning cortisol in men and with higher evening cortisol in both men and women. Furthermore, age and Δ-cortisol were significantly inversely associated in women. This age-related increase in cortisol levels is supported by findings from several other studies, especially regarding nocturnal levels [2-7]. It has been concluded that while the basal secretion of cortisol remains fairly stable with age the negative feedback regulation of the HPA-axis seems to become impaired in older subjects [29,30]. This would

	Morning cortisol					Evening cortisol					∆-cortisol			
Age-group	n	m	q I—q3	Ρ	n	m	qI—q3	Ρ	n	m	qI—q3	Р		
Women														
30–39	242	12.4	9.0-17.0	ref.	242	1.7	1.0-3.0	ref.	242	5.8	3.7-10.0	ref.		
4049	291	12.4	8.0-19.0	0.892	291	2.2	2.0-3.0	0.834	291	5.7	3.7-9.0	0.768		
5059	146	11.6	8.7-15.2	0.260	146	2.5	2.0-3.0	0.030	146	4.7	3.0-8.0	0.005		
60–69	107	12.7	10.0-18	0.732	107	2.7	2.0-4.0	0.004	107	4.7	3.3-7.5	0.015		
≥ 70	52	15.1	9.2-19.8	0.029	52	3.6	2.0-6.0	<0.001	52	4.2	2.3-9.0	0.004		
<50	533	12.4	9.0-18.0	ref.	533	2.2	1.4-3.0	ref.	533	5.8	3.7-9.5	ref.		
≥ 50	305	12.5	9.0-18.0	0.773	305	2.7	2.0-3.0	<0.001	305	4.6	3.0-8.0	<0.001		
Men														
30–39	254	10.4	7.0-15.0	ref.	254	2.0	1.0-3.0	ref.	254	5.3	3.5-9.0	ref.		
4049	276	10.6	8.0-15.0	0.634	276	2.2	2.0-3.0	0.101	276	4.9	3.0-8.0	0.288		
5059	141	11.8	8.0-18.0	0.030	141	2.4	2.0-3.0	0.007	141	5.0	3.0-8.0	0.460		
60–69	106	12.5	8.0-17.3	0.006	106	2.5	2.0-3.0	0.001	106	4.9	3.3-7.6	0.459		
≥ 70	56	12.3	9.0-16.8	0.049	56	2.9	2.0-4.0	<0.001	56	4.2	3.0-6.5	0.040		
<50	530	10.5	7.0-15.0	ref.	530	2.1	1.0-3.0	ref.	530	5.1	3.3-8.5	ref.		
≥ 50	303	12.1	8.0-18.0	0.001	303	2.5	2.0–3.0	<0.001	303	4.8	3.0–7.7	0.305		

Table 2: Male and female salivary cortisol levels in different age-groups.

 Δ -cortisol=logarithmic morning salivary cortisol-logarithmic evening salivary cortisol Differences between age-groups were examined by GLM (general linear model), using group 30–39 and group <50, respectively, as reference. Means and quartiles I–3 (qI–q3) are geometric (anti-log).

Table 3: Comparisons of bod	ly composition between	quartiles of morning salivar	v cortisol in men and women
rable 5. Companisons of bou	ly composition between	quarties of morning sanvar	y concision in men and women.

	WHR	WHR				Waist circumference				
	n	m	sd	Ρ	n	m	sd	Р		
Women										
Adjusted for age										
qrtl I morning cortisol	188	0.843	0.069	ref.	188	86.63	13.52	ref.		
grtl 2 morning cortisol	230	0.838	0.076	0.492	230	85.90	13.53	0.585		
grtl 3 morning cortisol	203	0.826	0.071	0.025	203	83.99	13.52	0.055		
grtl 4 morning cortisol	217	0.827	0.074	0.036	217	84.74	13.54	0.163		
Test for linearity:										
between quartiles				0.013				0.079		
continuously				0.006				0.024		
Adjusted for model 2ª										
grtl I morning cortisol	176	0.842	0.080	ref.	188	86.11	13.82	ref.		
grtl 2 morning cortisol	224	0.836	0.075	0.379	230	85.66	13.53	0.740		
grtl 3 morning cortisol	198	0.826	0.070	0.038	203	84.04	13.55	0.137		
grtl 4 morning cortisol	210	0.827	0.072	0.038	217	84.49	13.60	0.237		
Test for linearity:										
between quartiles				0.019				0.135		
continuously				0.012				0.075		
Men										
Adjusted for age										
grtl I morning cortisol	193	0.945	0.056	ref.	193	94.61	10.03	ref.		
grtl 2 morning cortisol	240	0.939	0.062	0.275	240	93.96	9.99	0.498		
artl 3 morning cortisol	210	0.945	0.058	0.979	210	94.55	10.00	0.950		
grtl 4 morning cortisol	190	0.945	0.055	0.913	190	94.92	9.99	0.763		
Test for linearity:										
between quartiles				0.784				0.613		
continuously				0.980				0.556		

Differences between quartiles (qrtl) of morning cortisol were examined by GLM (general linear model), using quartile I as reference. aModel 2 = age, leisure time physical activity, smoking, education, alcohol consumption, oral contraceptives, and estrogen replacements.

	WHR				Waist circumference			
	n	m	sd	Ρ	n	m	sd	Р
Women								
Adjusted for age								
qrtl I Δ-cortisol	205	0.849	0.072	ref.	205	87.56	13.50	ref.
qrtl 2 Δ-cortisol	223	0.829	0.075	0.006	223	84.26	13.47	0.012
qrtl 3 Δ-cortisol	192	0.833	0.069	0.032	192	86.04	13.45	0.262
qrtl 4 Δ-cortisol	218	0.823	0.074	<0.001	218	83.59	13.47	0.003
Test for linearity:								
between quartiles				0.001				0.016
continuously				0.003				0.041
Adjusted for model 2ª								
qrtl I ∆-cortisol	194	0.846	0.070	ref.	194	86.70	13.34	ref.
qrtl 2 ∆-cortisol	217	0.829	0.074	0.018	217	84.19	13.29	0.056
qrtl 3 ∆-cortisol	181	0.833	0.081	0.104	181	86.13	13.33	0.680
qrtl 4 ∆-cortisol	216	0.824	0.073	0.003	216	83.56	13.30	0.018
Test for linearity:								
between quartiles				0.009				0.071
continuously				0.009				0.119
Men								
Adjusted for age								
qrtl I ∆-cortisol	206	0.942	0.057	ref.	206	94.11	9.99	ref.
qrtl 2 ∆-cortisol	212	0.942	0.058	0.963	212	94.22	9.99	0.912
qrtl 3 ∆-cortisol	216	0.946	0.059	0.512	216	94.50	9.98	0.684
qrtl 4 Δ-cortisol	199	0.942	0.056	0.947	199	95.12	10.02	0.307
Test for linearity:								
between quartiles				0.787				0.291
continuously				0.957				0.310

Table 4: Comparisons of body composition between quartiles of Δ -cortisol in men and women.

Differences between quartiles (qrtl) of Δ -cortisol (logarithmic morning salivary cortisol – logarithmic evening salivary cortisol) were examined by GLM (general linear model), using quartile 1 as reference.

a Model 2 = age, leisure time physical activity, smoking, education, alkohol consumption, oral contraceptives, and estrogen replacements.

lead to prolonged periods of increased cortisol secretion in response to for example stress and, thus, also increased general cortisol levels.

Sex-differences

We also found a consistent pattern of higher cortisol levels in women compared to men. While this have been seen in a couple of previous studies on older subjects [8,9], it is in contrast with others where men generally have been found to have higher cortisol levels [2,3,5]. However, in the latter studies there are some inconsistencies regarding in what age-groups the sex-differences have been seen. Different measurements of cortisol might be a plausible explanation for the incongruity between studies as some studies have measured the total cortisol levels in plasma or serum [2,5] while we and others [3] have measured the free cortisol levels found in saliva. This notion is supported by the findings of Kudelka et al [4] showing that while the total plasma cortisol seemed higher in older women than older men there was a significant reverse association regarding salivary cortisol. However, the analyses performed with saliva cortisol in previous studies [3,4] are still in contrast with our own results and the analyses with plasma cortisol [2,4,5] have not produced consistent results either, indicating other mechanisms behind the differing results. One might be that measurements of cortisol have been performed at different times of the day in different studies. Van Cauter et al [2] have found that the quiescent period tends to start earlier in women than in men. In two of the other previous studies [3,4] cortisol was in fact measured during the late afternoon when levels might have started sinking in women but not in men, thus, possibly explaining the higher levels found in men than women in these studies. Lastly, differences might partly be explained by most previous studies having used small, selected study groups, which make the results more unreliable and less representative of the general population.

Associations between salivary cortisol and abdominal obesity

Women

The significant inverse association seen in women between morning cortisol and WHR is in concordance with other studies [11,14,19,20], of which two have used salivary cortisol like us [14,19]. Thus, the fact that saliva cortisol, in contrast to plasma or serum cortisol, primarily reflects free and active cortisol does not seem to affect the

http://www.biomedcentral.com/1472-6823/9/16



Figure I Age-adjusted means of WHR (waist-hip ratio) by quartiles of morning cortisol.

association seen between abdominal obesity and cortisol. This inverse association may instead be explained by an enhanced local clearance rate of cortisol in visceral fat depots since this type of fat has been found to harbour more glucocorticoid receptors than the subcutaneous type [31]. Higher metabolic transition rate of cortisol to its inactive metabolites [32] and impaired regeneration of cortisol from cortisone [33,34], have also been found in obese women compared to lean women. The enhanced clearance rate of cortisol is hypothesized to impair the negative feedback control of the HPA-axis and lead to an increased cortisol secretion [32,35]. This theory is supported by findings of increased total 24 h urinary cortisol out-put concurrent with decreased morning serum cortisol levels in abdominal obese subjects [11], and would explain our findings of abdominal fat accumulation in spite of low morning levels. Furthermore, higher cortisol response to both physical and mental stress has been found in women with high WHR compared to those with normal WHR [11,36]. Taken together, the findings indicate an abnormal activation of the HPA-axis in abdominally obese women. However, since there are also contradicting findings, the need for further studies, especially larger prospective ones, is vital. An alternative hypothesis may be that some of our abdominally obese women with low morning cortisol have been exposed previously to excessive cortisol output in response to stress, which caused their increased WHR. If the stress they experienced became chronic it might eventually have lead to the low cortisol levels seen, since chronic stress have been found to lead to an abnormal habituation to stress and ultimately hypocortisolism through dysregulation on some level of the HPA-axis [37,38].

In contrast to the morning values there was no significant association between WHR and evening cortisol in women. This is, however, not surprising since there is a lower variability in the evening values than in the morning values. Consequently, the inverse association between WHR and Δ -cortisol found in women is mainly an effect of the morning values. However, as the combined regression analysis of morning and evening cortisol with WHR

http://www.biomedcentral.com/1472-6823/9/16



Figure 2 Age-adjusted means of WHR (waist-hip ratio) by quartiles of ∆-cortisol (logarithmic morning cortisol – logarithmic evening cortisol).

revealed, evening values are also of importance for the association with abdominal obesity in women. The stronger association found between WHR and Δ -cortisol also emphasizes that an intra-individual statistical analysis of cortisol levels for detecting associations with abdominal obesity is preferred to an inter-individual analysis where morning and/or evening cortisol values are used separately.

Similarly to the association between WHR and cortisol, a significant inverse association was seen between waist circumference and Δ -cortisol in women, as well as a consistent tendency of an association between waist circumference and morning cortisol. However, WHR was clearly a stronger variable than waist circumference in the association with cortisol. Interestingly, this is in agreement with the body constitution of patients with Cuching's syndrome, who not only accumulate fat around the stomach but often also have decreased hip circumference.

Men

The association between WHR and morning cortisol/Δcortisol found here in women was not duplicated in men and differences in the metabolism of cortisol could possibly hold some of the explanation. For example, while the metabolic clearance rate of cortisol has been found to be significantly higher in both obese men and women compared to lean subjects [29,33], some studies have only seen this in women [12,34]. Still, there are studies that also in men have found inverse associations between morning cortisol and WHR [13,14,21,22], as well as between morning cortisol and BMI [23]. Furthermore, while the reasons for the null-findings in men in previous studies are not known, it might be explained in the present study by our men's lower prevalence and variation of abdominal obesity compared to our women and consequently a decreased ability to identify an association with morning and Δ -cortisol.

	WHR				Waist ci	e		
	n	m	sd	Р	n	m	sd	Р
Women								
Adjusted for age								
qrtl I evening cortisol	182	0.830	0.081	ref.	182	85.03	13.60	ref.
qrtl 2 evening cortisol	332	0.830	0.073	0.992	332	84.80	13.54	0.851
qrtl 3 evening cortisol	169	0.839	0.078	0.252	169	86.13	13.56	0.451
qrtl 4 evening cortisol	155	0.837	0.075	0.392	155	85.78	13.61	0.617
Test for linearity:								
between quartiles				0.209				0.402
continuously				0.288				0.695
Men								
Adjusted for age								
qrtl I evening cortisol	206	0.944	0.057	ref.	206	95.43	10.08	ref.
qrtl 2 evening cortisol	320	0.943	0.054	0.874	320	94.19	9.96	0.167
qrtl 3 evening cortisol	154	0.942	0.062	0.838	154	93.63	10.00	0.095
qrtl 4 evening cortisol	153	0.944	0.062	0.990	153	94.66	10.03	0.478
Test for linearity:								
between quartiles				0.986				0.382
continuously				0.933				0.500

Table 5: Comparisons of body composition between quartiles of evening cortisol in men and women.

Differences between quartiles (qrtl) of evening cortisol were examined by GLM (general linear model), using quartile 1 as reference.

Methodological considerations

The main advantages of the present study are the large unselected study sample and the high participation rate (81%), which supports the representativeness of the study sample. There are nevertheless some potential limitations to the study: Firstly, the participants collected the saliva samples themselves and it is not unlikely that some participants have failed to fully comply with the instructions. Secondly, the morning cortisol values are based on a single measurement in our study. Since cortisol levels rise very sharply in the morning there is a risk of misclassification due to lack of adjustment for time of awakening and actual time of sampling. However, there is no reason to believe that these potential sources of misclassification would be systematic, and if anything it would only have weakened our findings. Thirdly, we don't know to what extent waist circumference and WHR depend on visceral fat tissue as opposed to the subcutaneous type. However, while waist circumference has mostly been found to be a better estimate of visceral obesity than WHR [39], the correlation between visceral obesity and WHR has still been good [40] and we therefore feel fairly confident that this is the case in our population too. Furthermore, we did look at cortisol levels in relation to both waist circumference and WHR in our study and WHR came out strongest. Fourthly, we were not able to control for menstrual cycle in women or reproductive hormones in general. Again, this limitation is more likely to have lead to type 2 errors than type 1 errors. In addition, our findings are supported by the presence of an association between WHR and Δ - cortisol in women over as well as under 50 years of age. The findings also remained in stratified analyses of estrogen consumption (data not shown). Lastly, the cross-sectional design makes it impossible to establish causality. In this case we cannot be sure whether decreased cortisol levels lead to abdominal fat accumulation or vice versa, which could have been decided on in a prospective study. Still, these results lay a solid foundation for hypotheses to be tested in future studies.

Conclusion

While our findings of an age-related increase in basal cortisol levels are in concordance with previous studies, the results of generally higher cortisol levels in women than men of all ages are novel. We also confirm earlier findings of an inverse association between morning cortisol and abdominal obesity, however, only in women. Future studies should focus on intra-individual analysis and probably also account for reproductive hormones and stress exposure, as well as 24-h urinary cortisol and metabolites. Moreover, the possible association between cortisol and hip circumference needs to be further explored. To our knowledge, the associations in this study have never before been investigated in such a large population sample of both men and women. Our results therefore offer important knowledge on the descriptive characteristics of cortisol in relation to age and gender, and on the impact that associations previously seen between cortisol and abdominal obesity in smaller, selected samples have on a population level.

http://www.biomedcentral.com/1472-6823/9/16





Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Authors' contributions

CAL prepared the data, performed the statistical analyses, drafted the manuscript, and took part in conceiving the study. BG offered statistical expertise and performed some of the statistical analyses. LR conceived the study and acquired the data. UL conceived and coordinated the study, and acquired the data. All authors took part in the design of the study, the interpretation of data, the revision of the manuscript, and read and approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgements

The National Research Foundation Council (VR), Sweden, The Skaraborg Institute in Skövde, Sweden, Skaraborg Primary Care, Sweden, The Health & Medical Care Committee of the Regional Executive Board of the Region Västra Götaland, Sweden, Malmö University Hospital, Sweden, Region Skåne, Sweden, Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden, and The Sahlgrenska Academy at Gothenburg University, Sweden. The authors would also like to thank the participants from Vara who made this study possible.

References

- Gallagher TF, Yoshida K, Roffwarg HD, Fukushima DK, Wetzman ED, Hellman L: ACTH and cortisol secretory patterns in man. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1973, 36:1058-1068.
- Van Cauter E, Leproult R, Kupfer DJ: Effects of gender and age on the levels and circadian rhytmicity of plasma cortisol. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1996, 81:2468-2473.
- Seeman TE, Singer B, Wilkinson CW, McEwen B: Gender differences in age-related changes in HPA axis reactivity. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2001, 26:225-240.
- Kudielka BM, Buske-Kirschbaum A, Hellhammer DH, Kirschbaum C: HPA axis responses to laboratory psychosocial stress in healthy elderly adults, younger adults, and children: impact of age and gender. Psychoneroendocrinology 2004, 29:83-98.
 Zhao Z-Y, Lu F-H, Xie Y, Fu Y-R, Bogdan A, Touitou Y: Cortisol
- Zhao Z-Y, Lu F-H, Xie Y, Fu Y-R, Bogdan A, Touitou Y: Cortisol secretion in the elderly. Influence of age, sex and cardiovascular disease in a Chinese population. Steroids 2003, 68:551-555.
- Giordano R, Bo M, Pellegrino M, Vezzari M, Baldi M, Picu A, Balbo M, Bonelli L, Migliaretti G, Ghigo E, Arvat E: Hypothalamus-pituitaryadrenal hyperactivity in human aging is partially refractory to stimulation by mineralocorticoid receptor blockade. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005, 90:5565-5622.
 Ferrari E, Cravello L, Muzzoni B, Casarotti D, Paltro M. Solerte SB.
- Ferrari E, Cravello L, Muzzoni B, Casarotti D, Paltro M, Solerte SB, Fioravanti M, Cuzzoni G, Pontiggia B, Magri F: Age-related changes of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenak axis: pathophysiological correlates. Eur J Endocrinol 2001, 144:319-329.
 Laughlin GA, Barrett-Connor : Sexual dimorphism in the influ-
- Laughlin GA, Barrett-Connor : Sexual dimorphism in the influence of advanced aging on adrenal hormone levels: The Rancho Bernardo Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2000, 85:3561-3568.

- Gusenoff JA, Harman M, Veldhuis JD, Jayme JJ, St Clair C, Münzer T, Christmas C, O'Connor KG, Stevens TE, Bellantoni MF, Pabst K, 9. Blackman MR: Cortisol and GH secretory dynamics, and their interrelationships, in healthy aged women and men. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2001, 280:E616-E625.
- Pasquali R, Cantobelli S, Casimirri F, Capelli M, Bortoluzzi L, Flamia R, 10. Labate AM, Barbara L: The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in obese women with different patterns of fat distribution. Clin Endocrinol Metab 1993, 77:341-346.
- Marin P, Darin N, Amemia T, Andersson B, Jern S, Björntorp P: Cor-tisol secretion in relation to body fat distribution in obese premenopausal women. *Metabolism* 1992, 41:882-886. Strain GW, Zumoff B, Kream J, Strain JJ, Levin J, Fukushima D: Sex п.
- 12. differences in the influence of obesity on the 24 hr mean plasma concentration of cortisol. Metabolism 1982, 31:209-212.
- Ljung T, Holm G, Friberg P, Andersson B, Bengtsson BA, Svensson J, 13. Dallman M, McEwen B, Björntorp P: The activity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and the sympathetic nervous system in relation to waist/hip circumference ratio in men. Obes Res 2000, 8:487-495.
- Duclos M, Pereira PM, Bart P, Gatta B, Roger P: Increased cortisol bioavailability, abdominal obesity, and the metabolic syn-drome in obese women. *Obes Res* 2005, 13:1157-1166. 14
- Pasquali R, Anconetani B, Chattat R, Biscotti M, Spinucci G, Casimirri F, Vicennati V, Carcello A, Labate AM: Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity and its relationship to the autonomic 15. nervous system in women with visceral and subcutaneous obesity: effects of the corticotropin-releasing factor/ arginine-vasopressin test and of stress. Metabolism 1996, 45:351-356
- Kajantie E, Eriksson J, Osmond C, Wood PJ, Forsén T, Barker DJ, Phil-lips DI: Size at birth, the metabolic syndrome and 24-h sali-vary cortisol profile. *Clin Endocrinol* 2004, 60:201-207. 16.
- 17. Duclos M, Gatta B, Corcuff J-B, Rashedi M, Pehourcq F, Roger P: Fat distribution in obese women is associated with subtle alterations of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity and sensitivity to glucocorticoids. *Clin Endocrinol* 2001, **55**:447-454. Kidambi S, Kotchen JM, Grim CE, Raff H, Mao J, Singh RJ, Kotchen TA:
- 18 Associations of adrenal steroids with hypertension and the metabolic syndrome in blacks. Hypertension 2007, **49**:704-711. Duclos M, Cordcuff J-B, Etcheverry N, Rashedi M, Tabarin A, Roger
- 19 P: Abdominal obesity increases overnight cortisol excretion. | Endocrinol Invest 1999, 22:465-471.
- Korbonits M, Trainer PJ, Nelson ML, Howse I, Kopelman PG, Besser 20. GM, Grossman AB, Svec F: Differential stimulation of cortisol and dehydroepiandrosterone levels by food in obese and normal subjects: relation to body fat distribution. Clin Endocrinol 1996, 45:699-706.
- Ljung T, Andersson B, Bengtsson BA, Björntorp P, Mårin P: Inhibi-tion of cortisol secretion by dexamethasone in relation to 21. body fat distribution: a dose-response study. Obes Res 1996, 4:277-282
- Björntorp P, Rosmond R: Neuroendocrine abnormalities in vis-22 ceral obesity. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2000, 24(Suppl 2):580-585
- Travison TG, O'Donnell AB, Araujo AB, Matsumoto AM, McKinlay JB: 23. Cortisol levels and measures of body composition in middle-aged and older men. *Clin Endocrinol* 2007, **67**:71-77. The National Board of Health and Welfare, Sweden. Statis-
- 24 tics on health, medical care utilisation, social conditions, and social service. How is Sweden doing? (in Swedish) [http:// 192.137.163.40/epcfs/index.asp?modul=hms]
- Statistics Sweden. The Swedish population, comparisons between counties. Population Statistics; 2008 (in Swedish) 25 [http://www.scb.se/Pages/ProductTables 25795.aspx]
- Nyholm M, Gullberg B, Haglund B, Råstam L, Lindblad U: Higher education and more physical activity limit the development of obesity in a Swedish rural population. The Skaraborg 26. Project. Int J Obes 2008, 32:533-540. WHO Study Group: Diabetes mellitus. Tech Rep Ser 727
- 27 1985:11-20.
- Garde AH, Hansen AM: Long-term stability of salivary cortisol. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 2005, 65:433-436. Otte C, Yassouridis A, Jahn H, Maass P, Stober N, Wiedemann K, Kel-28.
- 29. Iner M: Mineralocorticoid receptor-mediated inhibition of the

Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal axis in aged humans. J Ger-ontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2003, 58:B900-905.

- Wilkinson CW, Peskind ER, Raskind MA: Decreased hypotha-30 Initi-pituitary-adrenal axis sensitivity to cortisol feedback inhibition in human aging. Neuroendocrinology 1997, 65:79-90. Pedersen SB, Jonler M, Richelsen B: Characterization of regional
- and gender differences in glucocorticoid receptors and lipoprotein lipase activity in human adipose tissue. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1994, 78:1354-1359.
- Andrew R, Phillips DI, Walker BR: Obesity and gender influence 32. cortisol secretion and metabolism in men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1998, 83:1806-1809.
- Stewart PM, Boulton A, Kumar S, Clark PM, Shackleton CH: Cortisol 33. metabolism in human obesity: Impaired cortison cortisol conversion in subjects with central adiposity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1999, 84:1022-1027.
- Vierhapper H, Nowotny P, Waldhausl W: Production rates of cor-tisol in obesity. Obes Res 2004, 12:1421-1425. Björntorp P: Visceral fat accumulation: the missing link 34.
- 35. between psychosocial factors and cardiovascular disease? Intern Med 1991, 230:195-201.
- Epel ES. McEwen B. Seeman T. Matthews K. Castellazzo G. Brownell 36 KD, Bell J, Ickovics JR: Stress and body shape: stress-induced cortisol secretion is consistently greater among women with central fat. Psychosom Med 2000, 62:623-632.
- 37. Björntorp P, Holm G, Rosmond R: Hypothalamic arousal, insulin resistance and Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabet Med 1999, 16:373-383.
- Heim C, Ehlert U, Hellhammer DH: The potential role of 38 Heim C, Emert O, Heimannier DR: The potential role of hypocortisolism in the pathophysiology of stress-related bodily disorders. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 2000, 25:1-35. Clasey JL, Bouchard C, Teates CD, Riblett JE, Thorner MO, Hartman ML, Weltman A: The use of anthropometric and dual-energy
- 39 X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) measures to estimate total abdominal and abdominal visceral fat in men and women. Obes Res 1999, 7:256-264.
- Stanforth PR, Jackson AS, Green JS, Gagnon J, Rankinen T, Desprès JP, Bouchard C, Leon AS, Rao DC, Skinner JS, Wilmore JH: Gener-alized abdominal visceral fat prediction models for and white adults aged 17-65 y: the HERITAGE Family Study. Int J Obes 2004, 28:925-932.

Pre-publication history

The pre-publication history for this paper can be accessed here:

http://www.biomedcentral.com/1472-6823/9/16/prepub

